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Competitor brought antitrust action against manufac-
turer of transparent tape The United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, John
R, Padovg, I, 2000 W1, 280350, entered judgment in
favor of competitor on monopolization claim, and
manufacturer appealed. The Court of Appeals, 277
F.3d 363, reversed, and rehearing en banc was gran-
ted On rehearing, the Court of Appeals, Sloviter,
Circuit Judge, held that: (1} manufacturer's exclusion-
ary conduct couid violate Sherman Act's monopoliza-
tion provision, even if manufaciurer never priced its
fransparent tape below its cost; (2) manufacturer's
conduct had anticompetitive effect; (3) manufac-
turer's conduct did not have legitimate business justi-
fication; and (4) competitor's damages expert was not
required lo disagpregate damages caused by manu-
facturer's unlawful activity from those caused by its
lawful activity when estimating damages.

Affirmed.

Greenherg, Circuit Judge, filed dissenting opinion in
which Circuit Judges Scirica and Alito joined

West Headnotes

11] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €=>641

20Tk641 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 265%k12(1.3})
A monopolist willfully acquires or maintains mono-
poly power in violation of Sherman Act when i com-
petes on some basis other than the merits. Sherman

Act, § 2, as amended, 1S US.CA §2.

12] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €687
25Tk687 Most Cited Cases
{Formerly 265k17(1 &)}

[2] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €882
29Tk882 Most Cited Cases
{Formerly 265k17(1.12), 265k17(1.8))

Exclusionary conduct of manufacturer with mono-
poly power in transparent tape market, such as offer-
ing bundled rebates and entering into exclusive deal-
ing contracis, could violate Sherman Act's monopol-
ization provision, even if manufacturer never priced
its transparent tape below its cost. Sherman Act, § 2,

as amended, IS US.CA §32

13] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €656
29Tk656 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 265k12(1 3))
Monopolist will be found to violate Sherman Act's
monopolization provision if il engages in exclusion-
ary or predatory conduct without a valid business jus-
tification, Sherman Act, § 2, as amended, 15

[4] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €882
29Tk882 Most Cited Cages

(Formerly 265k17(1.12}))
Bundied rebates offered to retailers by manufacturer
with monopoly power in transpareni tape market was
exclusionary conduct under Sherman Act’'s monopol-
ization provision, even if manufacturer's prices re-
mained above its costs; rebates were offered to many
of compelitor's major customers and were condi-
tioned on purchases spanning six of manufacturer's
diverse product lines, and size of the rebates was
linked to number of product lines in which sales tar-
gets were met. Sherman Act, § 2, as amended, }3

USCA§2
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[5] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €59592
2971592 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 265k17(2 2))
Exclusive dealing contracis entered into with large
customers by manufacturer with monopoly power in
transparent tape market, and ils payments to other
large customers that were designed to achieve sole-
source supplier status was exclusionary conduact in vi-
olation of Sherman Act's monopolization provision
Sherman Acl, § 2, as amended, i3USCA. §2
1{6) Antitrust and Trade Regulation €~2659
29Tk659 Most Cited Cases

{(Formerly 265k17(2.3))
Exclusivity arrangements may be an element in a
menopolization claim. Sherman
Act, § 2, as amended, JSUSCA §2.

{7} Antitrast and Trade Regulation €687
297k637 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 265k17(2 3)}
Exclusionary conduct of manufacturer with mono-
poly power in {ransparent tape market, such as offer-
ing bundled rebates and entering into exclusive deal-
ing contracts, had anticempetitive effect, as required
to support monopolization claim under Sherman Act;
demand for competitor’s private-label tape decreased
significantiy foliowing the introduction of manufac-
turer's rebates, and significant eniry bartiers prevent
competitors from entering the tape market. Sherman

Act, § 2, as amended, 15 US.C A §2.

18] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €<°558
29Tk558 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 265k12(1 3))
Courts must look to the monopolist's conduct taken
as a whole rather than considering each aspect in isol-
ation in determining whether the conduct had an anti-
competitive effect. Sherman Act, § 2, as amended, 15

[9] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €687
29Tk687 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 265k17(2.3))
Exclusionary conduct of manufacturer with mono-
poly power in transparen! tape market, such as offer-
ing bundled rebates and entering into exclusive deal-
ing contracts, did not have legitimate business justi-
fication, as defense to monopolization claim; acting

to further manufacturer's economic interests was not
a valid business justification, and savings resulling
from having single shipments and invoices did not
approach millions of dollars manufacturer paid to its
customers in rebates. Sherman Act, § 2, as amended,

1I5U8CA 82

10} Antitrust and Trade Regulation €558
297k558 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 265k12(1 .3))
Defendant’s assertion that it acted in furtherance of its
economic interests does not constitute the type of
business justification that is an acceptable defense to
a2 monopolization claim. Sherman Act, § 2, as
amended, I3 USCA. 82

[11] Federal Courts €=2823

170Bk823 Most Cited Cases

Court of Appeals reviews district court’s decision to
admit or exclude expert testimony for abuse of dis-
cretion.

[12] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €983
29Tk983 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 265k28(9))
Damages expert in monopolization action may con~
struct a reasonable offense-free world as a yardstick
for measuring what, hypothetically, would have
happened “but for" the defendant's uniawful activit-
ies. Sherman Act, §.2, as amended, i5US.CA. §2.

[13] Antitrust and Trade Regulation £=2977(3)
29Tk977(3) Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 265k28(8))
Credibility of transparent tape manufacturer's and it
competitor's damages experis was for the jury lo de-
termine in compeltitor's monopolization aclicn against
manufacturer. Sherman Act, § 2, as amended, 15

USCA§2

[14] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €->985
29Tk9835 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 265k28(7.6))
Competitor's damages expert was not required to dis-
aggregate damages caused by transparent lape manu-
facturer's unlawful activity from those caused by
manufacturer's lawful activity when estimating dam-
ages in competitor's monopolization action; manufac-
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turer's actions, taken as a whole, were found to viol-
ate Sherman Act's monopolization provision, making
such disaggregation unnecessary, if not impossible.
Sherman Act, § 2, as amended, 15 US.CA. § 2

[15] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €981
29Tk981 Muost Cited Cases
(Formerly 265k28(8))

Jury instructions in competitor's monopolization ac-
tion against transparent tape manufacturer provided
jury with adequate guidance of how to distinguish
between unlawful predation and lawlul conduct; dis-
trict court told jury that to find for competitor, it had
{0 find by preponderance of the evidence that manu-
facturer willfully maintained its monopoly power
through exclusionary or predatory conduct, summar~
ized sctions that competitor contended were unlaw-

fully exclusionary or predatory, and provided list of

factors to determine whether manufacturer's conduct
was exclusionary or predatory. Sherman Act, § 2, a8
amended, I3 USCA.§2

{16] Federal Courts €822

1708B%822 Most Cited Cases

In the absence of a misstatement of law, jury instruc-
tions are reviewed for abuse of discretion.
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*144 OPINION OF THE COURT
SLOVITER, Circuit Judge.

SLOVITER, Circuit Judge, with whom Becker, Chief
Judge, Nygaard, McKee, Ambro, Fuentes, and Smith,
Circuit Judges, join:

Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing Company
("3M"™) appeals fom the District Court’s order
enfered March 14, 2000, declining to overturn the

jury's verdict for LePage's in its suit against 3M un-

der Section 2 of the Sherman Act ("§ 2"). 3M raises
various objections to the trial court's decision but es-
seatially its position is a legal one: it contends that a
plaintiff cannot succeed in a § 2 monopolization case
unless it shows that the conceded monopolist sold its
product below cost. Because we conclude that exclu-
sionary conduct, such as the exclusive dealing and
bundled rebates proven here, can sustain a verdict un-
der § 2 against a monopolist and because we find no
other reversible error, we will affirm.

I.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

3M, which manufactures Scolch tape for home and
office use, dominated the United Stales transparent
tape market with a market share above 90% until the
early 1990s It has conceded that it has a monopoly in
that market. LePage's, {EN1]1 founded in 1876, has
sold a variely of office products and, around 1980,
decided to sell "second brand" and private label trans-
parent lape, ie, tape sold under the retailer's name
rather than under the name of the manufacturer. By
1992, LePage's sold 88% of private label tape sales in
the Uniled States, which represented but a small por-
tion of the transpareni lape market Private label] tape
sold at a lower price to the retailer and the customer
than branded tape.

ENI. The plaintiffs in this action are
LePage's Incorporated and LePage's Man-
agement Company, L. L.C. Inasmuch as we
can discern no distinclion between their in-
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terests, we refer to them jointly as LePage's

Distribution patterns and consumer acceptance ac-
counted for a shift of some lape sales from branded
{ape to private label tape. With the rapid growth of
office superstores, such as Staples and Office Depot,
and mass merchandisers, such as Wal-Mart and
Kmart, distribution patterns for second brand and
private label tape changed as many of the large retail-
ers wanted to use their "brand names” to sell station-
ery products, including transparent tape. 3M also
enlered the private label business during the early
16905 and sold its own second brand under the name
"Highland.”

LePage's claims that, in response to the growth of this
competitive market, 3M engaged in a series of re-
lated, anticompetitive acls aimed al restricting the
availability of lower-priced lransparent tape to con-
sumers. [ also claims that 3M devised programs that
prevented LePage's and the other domestic company
in the business, Tesa Tuck, Inc., from gaining or
maintaining large volume sales and that 3M main-
tained its monopoly by stifling growth of private la-
bel tape and by coordinating efforts aimed at large
distributors to keep retail prices for Scoich tape high
[EN2} LePage's claims that it barely was surviving at
the time of trial and that it *145 suffered large operat-
ing losses from 1996 through 1999,

EN2. It appears that at least at the times ma-
terial to this action, there were no other do-
mestic manufacturers of transparent tape.
There were, however, foreign manu{acturers
but they did not play a signilicant role in the
domestic market and 3M does not contend
otherwise

{ePage's brought this antitrust action asserting that
3M used its monopoly over its Scotch tape brand to
gain a competitive advantage in the private label tape
portion of the transparent tape market in the United
States through the use of 3M's rulti-liered "bundled
rebate” structure, which offered higher rebates when
cusiomers purchased preducts in a number of 3M's
different product lines. LePage's also alleges that 3M
offered to some of LePage's customers large lump-
sum cash payments, promotional allowances and oth-

er cash incentives to encourage them to enter into ex-
clusive dealing arrangements with 3M.

LePape's asserted claims for unlawful agreements in
restraint of trade under § 1 of the Sherman Act,
monopolization and attempled monopolization under
§ 2 of the Sherman Act, and exclusive dealing under
§ 3 of the Clayton Act. After a nine week trial, the
jury returned its verdict for LePage's on both its
monopolization and attempted monopolization claims
under § 2 of the Sherman Act, and assessed damages
of $22,828,899 on each. I found in 3M's favor on
LePage's claims under § 1 of the Sherman Act and §
3 of the Clayton Act. 3M filed its motions for judg-
ment a5 a matter of faw and for a new tral, arguing
that its rebale and discount programs and the other
conduct of which LePage's complained did not con-
stitute the basis for a valid antitrust claim as a matler
of law and that, in any gvent, the courl's charge to the
jury was insaificiently specific and LePage's dam-
ages proof was speculative. [FN31 The District Court
granted 3IM's motion for judgment as a matler of law
on LePage's “"atlempled maintenance of monopoly
power" claim but denied 3M’s motion for judgment
as a matter of law in all other respects and denied its
motion for new trial. Le Pege's Inc. v, 3M No. CIV,
A.97-3983. 2000 WL 280350 (E.D.Pa_ Mar.14
20001, The Court subsequently entered a judpment
for trebled damages of $68,486,697 to which interest
was {0 be added. LePage's filed a cross appeal on the
District Court's judgment dismissing its aliempied
maintenance of monopoly power claim.

FN3, 3M unsuccessfully had moved for a
judpgment as a matter of law at the close of
LePage's case and after the close of the en-
tire case.

On appeal, the panel of this court before which this
case was originally argued reversed the District
Court's judpgment on LePage's § 2 claim by 2 divided
vote. LePgge’s Inc. v. 3M, WNos. 00-1368 and
00-1473, 2002 WI, 46961 (3d Cir. Jan. 14, 2002)
This court pranted LePage's motion for rehearing en
banc and, pursuant to its practice, vacated the panel
opinion. LePage's Ine v 3M, Nos. 00-1368 and
00-1473 (3d Cir. Feb 25, 2002) (order vacating panel
opinion). The appeal was then orally argued before
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the court en banc

1L
JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW
The District Court had jurisdiction over this case pur-
suant to 28 U.S.C. §8 1331 and 1337(a) because
LePage's brought these claims under the Sherman and
Clayton Acts. We have jurisdiction over this appeal
pursuant to 28 11.5.C. § 1291

We exercise plenary review over an order granting or
denying a motion for judgment as a mailer of law.
Shade v, Great Lakes Dredee & Dock Co.. 154 F.3d
143, 149 (3d Cir. 1998 When, as here, a defendant
makes such a motion, a court should grant it "only il
viewing the evidence in the light most faverable to
the nonmovant *146 and giving it the advantage of
every fair and ressonable inference, there is insuffi-
cient evidence from which a jury reasonably could
find liability.* Lightning Lube inc v. Witco Corp., 4
E.3d 1153, 1166 (3d Cir.1993). Thus, we review the
evidence on the appeal in the light most favorable to
LePage's. As the historical facts are nol in sharp dis-
pule, and our opinion turns largely on legal determin-
ations, we review questions of law underlying the
fury verdict on a plenary basis. Bloom, v, Conselid-
ated Rail Corp., 41 F.3d 911, 913 (3d Cir {994},

Our review of a jury's verdict is limited to determin-
ing whether some evidence in the record supporis the
jury's verdict. See Swineford v Snvder County, 13
F.3d 1258, 1265 (3d Cir. 1994} ("A jury verdict will
not be overturned unless the record is criticatly defi-
cient of that quantum of evidence from which a jury
could have rationatly reached its verdict.").

i1l
MONQPOLIZATION -~ APPLICABLE LEGAL
PRINCIPLES

Section 2 of the Sherman Act provides:
Every person whe shall monopolize, or attempt to
monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other
person or persons, o monopolize any part of the
trade or commerce among the several States, of
with foreign nations, shail be deemed guilty of a
felony, and, on conviction thereof, shall be pun-
ished by fine not exceeding $10,000,000 if a cor-
poration, or, if any other person, $350,000, or by

imprisonment not exceeding three years, or by both
said punishments, in the discretion of the court
15 U8.C. § 2 {2002). A private party may sue for
damages for violation of this provision and recover
threefold the damages and counsel fees. fd § 15,

Because this section is in sweeping language, sup-
gesting the breadth of its coverage, we look to the Su-
preme Court decisions for elucidation of the standard
to be used in cases alleging monopolization. Elucida-
tion came in United States v, Grinnell Corp, 384
U.S. 563, 86 8.Ct 1698 16 1.Ed2d 778 {1966),
where the Court declared that a defendant company
which possesses monopoly power in the relevant
market will be found in violation of § 2 of the Sher-
man Act if the defendant willfully acquired or main-
tained that power. Id at 570-71, 86.5.Ct, 1698

In this case, the parties agreed that the relevant
product market is transparent tape and the relevant
peographic market is the Uniled States. [ENd
Moreover, as to the issue of monopely power, as we
noted above, 3M concedes il possesses monopoly
power in the United States transparent tape market,
with a 90% market share. In fact, the evidence
showed that the household penetration of 3M's
Scotch-brand tape is virtually 100%. Therefore we
need not dwell on the oft-contested issue of market
power. See Robert Pitofsky, New Definitions of Rel-
evant Market and the Assault on Antitrust, 90 Colum.
L.Rev. 1805 1807 (1990) ("In monopoly enforce-
ment under section 2 of the Sherman Acl, the pivotal
inquiry is almost always whether the challenged party
has substantial marke! power in its relevant market "),

FN4. Although 3M originally challenged
LePage's selection of the United States as
the relevant geographic market, the District
Court held that LePage's had introduced suf-
ficient evidence from which the jury could
properly find that the relevant geographic
market is the United States and 3M does not
challenge that market definition on appeal.

{1] The sole remaining issue and our focus on this ap-
peal is whether 3M took steps lo mainlain that power
in a manner *147 that violated § 2 of the Sherman
Act. A monopolist willfully acquires or maintains
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monopoly power when it competes on some basis
other than the merits. See dspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen
Higllands Skifne Corp., 472 1.8, 585, 6050, 32, 105
8.C1. 2847 86 L. Ed.2d 467 (1983).

[2] LePage's argues that 3M wilifully maintained its
monopoly in the transparent tape market through ex-
clusionary conduct, primarily by bundling its rebates
and entering into contracts that expressly or effect-
ively required dealing virtually exclusively with 3M,
which LePage's characlerizes as de facto exclusive.
3M does not argue that it did not engage in this con-
duct. It agrees that it offered bundled rebates and
entered into some exclusive dealing contracts, al-
though it arpues that only the few contracts that are
expressly exclusive may be constdered as such. In-
stead, IM argues that its conduct was legal as a mat-
ter of law because it never priced its transparent tape
below its cost. [FNS]

ENS. 3M stales that its pricing was above its
costs however costs are calculaled, and
LePapge's has not contested 3M's assertion

This is the most significant legal issue in this case be-
cause it underlies 3M's argument. In its brief, 3IM
states "[a]bove~cost pricing cannot give rise lo an an-
titrust offense as a matler of law, since it is the very
conduct that the antitrust laws wish to promote in the
interest of making consumers better off " Appeilant's
Br at 30. For this proposition it relies on the Su-
preme Court's decision in Brooke Group Lid., v
Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209,
222 113 8.Ct. 2578, 125 L.Ed.2d 168 (1993) Itis an
argument 3M repeated frequently during its oral ar-
gument before the en banc court. Counsel stated, "if
the big guy is selling above cost, i has done nothing
which offends the Sherman Act. " Tr. of Oral Argu-
ment, Oct 30, 2002, at 11 This was the theory upon
which 3M's counsel responded to all the questions
from the court. When asked whether its theory is that
because no one contended that 3M sold below its
cost, that is "the end of the story,” its counsel respon-
ded, "[w]ith the exception of the inconsequential ex-
press contract, absolutely " /d

It is therefore necessary for us, at the outset, to exam-
ine whether we must accept 3M's legal theory that

after Brooke Group. no conduct by a monopolist who
sells its product above cost -- no matter how exclu-
sionary the conduct -~ can constitule monopolization
in violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act. The history of
the interpretation of § 2 of the Sherman Act demon-
strates the lack of {oundation for 3M's premise.

Although § 2 of the Sherman Act may have received
tess judicial and scholarly atiention than several of
the other more [requently invoked antitrust provi-
sions, the Supreme Court, in a series of decisions, has
made clear the type of conduct that will be held to
constitute monopolization in vielation of §.2

The modern era begins with the decision by Judge
Leamed Hand in United Stares v. Aluminum Co. of
America, 148 ¥.2d 416 (2d Cir, 1945} ("dlcoa” ). Be-
cause four members of the Supreme Court were dis-
qualified, the Supreme Court was required to apply
the provision of the Expediting Act, Section 29 of
Title 15, 1).S.C.. 1940 ed, currently 28 U.S.C. §
2109, to certify the case to the three most senior
judges of the relevant circuit. [ENG] Under the stat-
ute, *148 the decision of that court was "final and
conclusive,” thus equating it to a decision of the Su-
preme Court.

ENG. The three most senior judges of the
circuit were, fortuitously, the legendary pan-
el of Judges Learned Hand, Thomas Swan,
and Augustus Hand.

Al the time in question, Alcoa was the sole domestic
producer of aluminum and thus had a monopoly that
the Government sought to disband. In the opinion on
liability, the cour! enuncialed cerlain principles that
remain [ully applicabie today. One such principle is
that it does not follow that a company that has a
monopoly has "monopolized” the market because "it
may not have achieved monopoly; monopoly may
have been thrust upon it." Id. at 429. As the court ex-
piained, "persons may unwitlingly find themselves in
possession of a monopoly, automatically so 1o say:
that is, without having intended either to put an end
to existing competition, or to prevent competition
from arising when none had existed; they may be-
come monopolists by force of accident Id at
429-30. On the other hand, the court then gquoted
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Justice Cardozo's statement in United States v, Swiff
& Co. 286118, 106. 116, 52 S.CL 460, 76 1..Ed. 999
£1932), that "size carries with it an opportunity for
abuse that is not to be ignored when the opportunity
is proved to have been utilized in the past" Alcog,
148 F.2d at 430

The court determined that Alcoa, which controlled
over 90% of the aluminum market, had utilized its
size for abuse The court, noting that there had been
at jeast "one or two abortive atlemplts" by others to
enter the industry, concluded that Alcoa “effectively
anticipated and forestalled all competition, and suc-
ceeded in holding the field alone.™ [d, gt 436. Finding
Alcoa in viclation of § 2, the court continued:
Nothing compelled it to keep doubling and redoub-
ling its capacity before others entered the fleld It
insists that it never excluded competitors; but we
can think of no more effective exclusion than pro-
gressively {o embrace each new opportunity as it
opened, and to face every newcomer with new ca-
pacity already geared inlo a great organization,
having the advantage of experience, trade connec-
tions and the elite of personnel
Id at431.

One year later, in dmerican Tobaceo Co. v, United
States, 328 U.§. 781, 66 S.C1. 1125, 90 L.Ed. 1575
{1948), the Supreme Court endorsed the Alcoa de-
cision when upholding a jury verdict finding a § 2 vi-
olation. The government brought a criminal action
against various tobacco companies that between 1931
and 1939 accounted at all times for more than 68%,
and usually for more than 75%, of the nation's do-
mestic cigarette production Defendants were con-
victed and {ined afier the jury found they had violated
§9 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act by conspiring to con-
trol the price of leaf tobacco, to acquire less expens-
ive supplies of tobacco they did not need in order to
deprive rival manufacturers of cheaper brands, lo
control cigarette prices, and to force cigarette distrib-
utors 1o treat rival brands less favorably

The court of appeals affirmed, {inding the verdicts to
be supported by sufficient evidence. The Supreme
Court granted the tobacco companies' petitions for
cerliorari only as to their § 2 claims, seeking lo an-
swer the specific question "whether actual exclusion

of competitors is necessary to the crime of monopol-
ization under 5 2 of the Sherman Act" Id at 784, 66
S.CL 1125 Answering that question in the negalive,
the Court stated that "[n]either proof of exertion of
the power Lo exclude nor prool of actual exclusion of
existing or polential competitors is essential lo sus-
tain a charge of monopolization under the Sherman
Act" Id at 8310, 66 S.Ci. 1125 Furthermore, and im-
portantly, the Court explicitly "welcomeld] this op-
portunity to endorse" certzin passages from Judge
Hand's opinion. [, 3L 813,66 5.Ct. 1125,

*149 Of particular relevance, the American Tobacco
Court endorsed Judge Hand's understanding of the
Sherman Act, namely thal the Act contemplated the
notion that " "unchallenged economic power deadens
initiative’ " and " 'that immunity from cempetition is
a narcotic, and rivairy is a stimulani, to industrial pro-
press’ " Jd (quoting Jfgog, 148 F.2d a1 427). It fur-
ther quoted Alcoo for the previously mentioned pro-
positions that monopolies can be "thrust" upon entit-
ies rather than achieved and that specific intent under
§ 2 was not required " 'for no monopolist monopol-
izes unconscious of what he is doing.' " Jd at 813-14,
66 S.CL 1125 (quoting dAlcoa, 148 F.2d at 432).

Section 2 of the Sherman Act was next considered by
the Supreme Court in Lorain Jowrnal Cp, v. United
States. 342 U.S, 143, 72 S.Ct. 181, 96 L.Ed. 162
{1951} The United States had brought a civil suit
against the publisher of the Lorain Joumal, the only
business disseminating news and advertising in the
town of Lorain, Ohio, alleging that it attempted to
monopolize in violation of §.2 of the Sherman Act
because it refused to sell adverlising to persons that
patronized the smali radio station that was established
i a nearby community. The Supreme Court held that
although & trader has discretion as to the parties with
whom he will deal "[i]n the absence of any purpose
lo create or maintain a monopoly," id at 155, 72
S.Ct. 181 (guoting United States v, Colgate & Co.
250 11,8, 300, 367, 39 S.Ct 465 63 L.Ed. 992
(1919)), the action of the Joumal constituted a pur-
poseful means of regaining its previous monopoly
over the mass dissemination of news and adverlising
Id Because this was an attempt 10 monopolize in vi-
olation of § 2, the Court approved the entry of an in-
junction ordering the Journal to print the advertise-
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menis of the customers of the radio station

Thereafier, in United Stares v. Grinnell Corp., 384
U.S. 563, 86 S.Ct. 1698, 16 1.BEd.2d 778 (1966), the
Supreme Court reiterated that monopoly power alone
is not necessarily unlawful. The Courl summarized
its prior cases, stating that § 2 of the Sherman Act re-
quired two elements: "(1) the possession of mono-
poly power in the relevant market and (2) the willful
acquisition or maintenance of that power as distin-
guished from growth or development as a con-
sequence of a superior product, business acumen, or
historic accident * 384 UL.S. at 57(-71. 86 5.Ct. 1698

In Grinnell. the United States {iled a civil suit against
several companies that offered central station protect-
ive services, such as fire and burglary protective
devices, alleging violations of §§ | and 2 of the Sher-
man Acl. Referring to the two-pronged test under § 2,
the Court found that both prongs had been satisfied.
Not only did the companies have monopoly power
(87% of the accredited central station service busi-
ness), but also they largely achieved this power

through the aid of pricing practices, acquisitions of

competitors, and noncompetition covenants, all of
which were deemed to be "unlawful and exclusionary
practices." Jd at 576, 86 S.Ct. 1698

The Court's later decision in dgpen Skiing Co. v As-
pen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 1.8, 585. 105 S.CL
2847, 86 L.Ed.2d 467 (1985}, is even more pertinent
1o the case before us In Aspen Skiing, a case that also
reached the Couri only on the § 2 violation, Ski Co,
the owner of three of the {our major downhili skiing
facilities in Aspen, Colorado, discontinued its prior
practice of cooperating with the owner of the fourth
facility by issuing an interchangeable 6-day pass that
could be used on any of the four facilities, It replaced
that pass with a 3-ares, 6-day tickel featuring only its
mountains It offered the *150 plaintiff, Highlands,
owner of the fourth {acility, reinstatement of the
4-area ticket only if Highlands would accept a fixed
percentage of the revenue that was considerably be-
low Highlands' historical average based on usage Ski
Co. took additional actions that made it extremely
difficult for Highlands to market its own multiarea
package to replace the joint offering, and Highlands'
share of the markel declined along with its revenues

from associated skiing services. The jury found that
Ski Co. possessed monopoly power and awarded
Highlands a subsiantial money judgment as treble
damages. The court of appeals affimmed, holding
there was sufficient basis in Ski Co's actions to
demonstrale an abuse of its monopely power.

In the Supreme Court, Ski Co. argued "that even a
firm with monopoly power hag no duty (o engage in

joint marketing with a competitor, that a violation of

§_2 cannot be established without evidence of sub-
stantial exclusionary conduct, and that none of its
activities can be characterized as exclusionary.” As-
pen Skifng, 472 1S at 600, 105 S.Ct. 2847 The Su-
preme Court agreed with the legal proposition, bul re-
ferred to its eariier opinion in Lorain Jowurnal where it
held that & monopolist's right to refuse to deal was
not unqualified [d._al 600-0%, 105 5.Ct, 2847 Afler
reviewing all the circumstances, it affirmed the judg-
ment for Highlands in a upanimous opinion It held
that the jury had ample basis to reject Ski Co's busi-
ness justification defense and noted that Ski Co
failed to offer any efficiency justification whatever
for its pattern of conduct. Jd_at 608, 105 5.Ct 2847,
The Court stated, "[a]lthough Ski Co's pattern of
conduct may not have been as 'bold, relentless, and
predatory' as the publisher's actions in Lorain Journ-
al, the record in this case comforiably supports an in-
ference that the monopolist made a deliberate effort
to discourage its customers from doing business with
its smaller rival” [d_at 610. 105 S.Ct. 2847 (quoling
Lorain Jouwrnal, 342 1S, ot 149 72 SCt 18}
(citation omitted)).

In & significant passage about the conduct that consti-
tutes monopolization in violation of § 2, the Couni
stated that when the issue is monopolization rather
than an alttempt Lo monopolize, "evidence of intent is
merely relevant to the question whether the chal-
lenged conduct is fairly characterized as 'exclusion-
ary' or 'anticompetitive' -- {0 use the words in the trial
courl's instructions -- or 'predatory,’ {o use a word that
scholars seem to favor" Jd at 602, 105 S.C1 2847,
The Court continued, "[w]hichever label is used,
there is agreement on the proposition that 'no mono-
polist monopolizes unconscious of what he is doing.'
* I (guoting Alcoa, 148 F.2d at 432).
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In Eastman Kodak Co. v. Imagge Technical Servs.,
fne., 504 (1.8, 451, 1312 S.Ct 2072, 119 L.Ed.2d
265{1992), 18 independent service organizations
("1SO's") that serviced Kodak copying and micro-
graphic equipment brought an antitrust action against
Kodak for its policies that sought to limil the availab-
ility of Kodak parts to ISO's. They alleged Kodak's
policies were untawful under both §§ 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Act. The Supreme Court considered the is-
sues under the two provisions separately. In its ana-
lysis under § 2, the Court first held that Kodak's con-
trol of nearly 100% of the parts market and 80% to
95% of the service market was sufficient to support a
claim of monopoly power {(an issue that is conceded
here). As to the issue whether Kodak adopted its
parts and service policies as part of a scheme of will-
ful acquisition or maintenance of monopoly power,
the Court stated that there was evidence that Kodak
"toolk exclusionary action to maintain its parls mono-
poly and used its control over parls to strengthen
*151 its monopoly share of the Kodak service mar-
ket Id at 483, 112 S§.C1. 2072 Thus, Kodak could
escape liability under § 2 only if it could explain its
actions on the basis of valid business reasons, an is-
sue as o which there were factual questions which
made the district court's grant of summary judgment
for Kodak inappropriate. ff

This exlensive review of the Supreme Court's § 2 de-
cisions is set forth to provide the background under
which we must evaluate 3M's contention that it was

entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the basis of

the decision in Brooke Group Lid, v, Brown & Willi-
amson Tobacea Corp.. 509 U8 200, 113 S.CL, 2578,
125 1.Ed.2d 168 {1993}, a decision that was primar-
ily concerned with the Robinson-Patman Act, not § 2
of the Sherman Act In Brooke Group, Liggett, a ci-
garette manufacturer responsible for the "innovative
development” of generic cigareties, claimed that
Brown & Williamson, which introduced its own line

of generic cigarettes, "cut prices on generic cigarelies
below cost and offered discriminatory volume rebates
10 wholesalers to force Liggetl to raise its own gener-
ic ¢igarette prices and intreduce oligopoly pricing in
the economy segment [of the national cigaretle mar-
ket]" Brooke Group, 509 115 at 212 113 S.Ct
2578 It filed a Robinson-Patman action on the basis

of these allegations. Brown & Williamson's deep
price discounts or rebates were concededly discrimin-
atory, not cost justified, and resulted in substantial
loss to it. The Supreme Court majority held that the
defendant was entitled to judgment as a matter of law
because there was no evidence of injury to competi-
tion. Jd. at 243, 113 S.Ct. 2578 The Court also held
that the evidence did not show that Brown & Willi-
arnson's alleged scheme “was likely to result in oligo-
polistic price coordination and sustained supracom-
petitive pricing in the generic segment of the national
cigaretie market, Without this, Brown & Williamson
had no reasonable prospect of recouping its predatory
losses and could not inflict the injury lo competition
the antitrust laws prohibit " Id [FNT7]

FN7. In contrast, the District Court here
noted that 3IM had conceded that it ¥ 'could
later recoup the profits it has forsaken on
Scotch tape and private label tape by selling
more higher priced Scotch tape .. if there
would be no competition by others in the
private label tape segment when 3M aban-
doned that part of the markel to sell only
higher-priced Scotch tape' " Le Pagels
2000 WE 280350, al *7 (guoting Defend-
ant's Mem. at 30}.

Unlike 3M, Brown & Williamson was part of an ali-
gopoly, six manufacturers whose prices for ciparetles
"increased in lockstep” and who "reaped the benefits
of prices above a competitive level " [d at 213, 1123
S.Ct. 2578 Brown & Williamson had 12% of the ofi-
gopolisiic market. Its conduct and pricing were al ali
times necessarily constrained by the presence of com-
petitors who could, and did, react to its conduct by
undertaking similar price culs or pricing behavior
[ENR

EN8. The Brooke Group opinions, both for
the majority and the dissent, discuss the re-
sponses by members of the oligopoly to the
introduction of discounted cigarettes. [d. at
239.40 113 SCt, 2578; id. at 247-48, 113
8.Ct 2578 (Stevens, 1., dissenting)

Assuming arguendo that Brooke Group should be
read for the proposition that a comipany's pricing ac-
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tion is legal if its prices are not below its costs, noth-
ing in the decision suggests that its discussion of the
issue is applicable to a monopolist with ils uncon-
strained market power Moreover, LePage's, unlike
the phaintiff in Brooke Group, does not make a pred-
atory pricing claim. 3M is a monopolist; a monopolist
is not {Tee (o take certain actions that a company in a
competitive (or even *152 oligopolistic} market may
take, because there is no markel constraint on a
monopolist's bebavior. See, e g, Aspen. Skiing, 472
U.S. at 601-04, 105 §.C1. 2847

[3] Nothing in any of the Supreme Court's opinions in
the decade since the Brooke Group decision sugges-
ted that the opinion overturned decades of Supreme
Court precedent that evaluated a monopolist's Liabil-
ity under §_2 by examining its exclusionary, ie,
predatory, conduct. Brooke Group has been cited
only four imes by the Supreme Court, three times in
cases that were nol even antitrust cases for proposi-
tions patently inapplicable here. {EN9] In the only an-
titrust case of the four, NINEX Corp. v. Discan, Inc.,
525 1).8. 128, 137, 119 S.Ct, 493, 142 L. Ed.2d 310
(1998), the Court considered whether the per se rule
applicable to group boycotts under § 1 of the Sher-
man Act should be applied "where a single buyer fa-
vors one selier over another, albeit for an improper
reason” Jd at 133, 119 S.Ct, 493 Holding that the
rule of teason applies, the Court quoted Brooke
Group for the proposition that "[e]ven an act of pure
malice by one business competitor against another
does not, without more, state a claim under the feder-
al anti-trust laws.™ [l ot 137, 119 §.C1. 493 (quoting
Brooke Growp, 509 U.S, a1 225, 113 §.C1. 2578). The
opinion does not discuss, much less adopt, the pro-
position that a monopolist does not violate §,2 unless
it sells below cost. Thus, nothing that the Supreme
Court has writien since Brooke Group dilutes the
Courl's consistent holdings that a monopolist wili be
found to violate § 2 of the Sherman Act if it engages
in exclusionary or predatory conduct without a valid
business justification.

FN9. Brooke Group is cited in Gustafson. v,
Allovd Co., 313 U.S. 361, 570, 113 S.Ct
1061, 131 L.Ed.2d | (1995), for the stat-
utory construction rule that identical words
used in different parts of the same act are in-

tended to have the same meaning; i Strick-
ler v. Greene, 527 US. 263, 300 n. 3. 119
S.Ct 1936, 144 1.Ed 2d 286 (1999), a feder-
at habeas case, by Justice Souter in his par-
tial concurrence/partial dissent, in discussing
the term "reasonable probahility;" and in
Weisgram v, Marley Co., 528 1.S_ 440, 454,
120 S.CL 101E. 145 £ Fd.2d 958 (2000), in
comnection with discussing the weight to be
given an expert opinion.

Iv.
MONOPOLIZATION -~ EXCLUSIONARY
CONDUCT
A.
Hiustrative Cases
Before tuming to consider LePage's allegation that
3M engaged in exclusionary or anticompetitive con-
duct and the evidence it produced, we consider the
type of conduct § 2 encompasses.

As one cour! of appeals has stated: " *Anticompetitive
conduct' can come in loo many different forms, and is
oo dependent upon context, for any courl or com-
menlator ever 1o have enumerated all the varieties "
Curibbean Broad, Svs. Lid v, Cable & Wireless
PLC 148 F.3d 1080, 1087 (D.C.Cir. 1998) (reversing
in part the district court's dismissal of complaint and
holding that radio station's claim that defendants
made misrepresentations to advertisers and the gov-
ernment in order to protect its monopoly stated § 2
Sherman Act claim).

Numerous cases hold that the enforcement of the leg-
al monopoly provided by a patent procured through
fraud may violate § 2. Walker Process Equip,. Ing..v.
Food Mach. & Chem, Corp., 382 U8, 172, 174, 86
SCt, 347, 15 L.Ed.2d 247 (1963} see also
*153Medtonie Ave, Inc. v, Boston Scientific Corp,
No. CIV, A, 98-478-SL.R. 2001 WL 632016 (D.De,
Mar.30. 20013 (patentee could have violated § 2 by
bringing infringement action on patenl procured by
fraud). Predatory pricing by # monopolist can provide
a basis for § 2 liability. See LLS. Philips Corp. v.
Windmere Corp.,. 861 F.2d 695 (Fed. Cir.1988)
(reversing district court's directed verdict and order-
ing new trial on § 2 claims due to evidence that com-
pany had 90% of rotary electric shaver market, exist-
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ence of substantial entry barriers, and company had
drastically reduced prices to eliminate potential com-
petitors). A monopolist's denial to competitors of ac-
cess 1o its “essential" goods, services or resources has
been held to violate § 2. See Otter Tail Power Co. v,
United States, 410 U.S. 366, 93 S.Cr. 1022, 35
L.Ed.2d 359 (1973) (finding § 2 violation where
monopolist utility company refused to sell wholesale
to municipalities and refused to transfer competitors'
power over its lines); see also Fishman v. Estate of
Wirrz, 807 F.24 320 (7ih Cir, 1986} (finding corpora-
tion liable under § 2 for refusing to lease Chicago
Stadium lo plaintiff, a potential buyer of the Chicago
Bulls basketball leam, afler determining Stadium 1o
be essential to professional basketball in Chicago
area). An arbitrary refusal to deal by a monopuolist
may constifute a § 2 violation. See Byars v, Blufl Citv
News Co., Ine., 609 F.2d 843 (6th Cir.1979)
(remanding case to district court for fact-finding to
determine whether defendant possessed monopoly
power and unlawfully refused to deal in violation of §
2). Even unfair tortious conduct unrelated to a mono-
polist’s pricing policies has been held to violate § 2
See Int!l Travel Arrangers, Inc. v. Western Airlines,
e, 623 F.2d 1255 (8ih Cir. 1980} (upholding treble
damages antitrust award against airline with mono-
poly power after {inding sufficient evidence that air-
line placed false, deceptive, and misleading advert~
isements discouraging public patronage of travel
group chariers)

A recent decision of the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Sixth Circuit, Comwood Co., LP. v, US
Tohaceo Co., 290 F.3d 768 (6th Cir.2002), cerr
denied, 537 1.5, 1148 123 §.Ct. 876, 154 1 Ed.2d
830 (2003}, presents a good illustration of the type of
exclusionary conduct that will support 2 § 2 violation,
That court upheld the jury's award to plaintilf Con-
wood of $350 million, which trebled was $1.05 bil-
lion, against United States Tobacco Company
{("USTC™) because of USTC's meonopolization USTC
was the sole manufacturer of moist smdl until the
1870's when Cenwood, Swisher, and Swedish Match,
other moist snufl manufacturers, entered the moist
snuff market. Not unexpectediy, USTC's 100% mar-
ket share declined and it took the action that formed
the basis of Conweod's complaint against USTC al-

leging, inter alia, uniawful monopolization in viela-
tion of § 2 of the Sherman Act.

The evidence that the district court and the court of
appeals held proved that USTC systematically tried
to exclude competition from the moist snuff market
included the following: USTC (1) removed and des-
troyed or discarded racks that displayed moist snuff
products in the stores while placing Conwood
products in USTC racks in an attempt to bury Con-
wood's products; (2) trained its "operatives to take
advanlage of inattentive store clerks with various
‘ruses' such as obtaining nominal permission to reor-
ganize or neaten the moist snuff section” in an effort
to destroy Conwood racks; (3) misused its position as
calegory manager (manages product groups and busi-
ness units and customizes them on a store by store
basis) by providing misleading information to retail-
ers in an effort to dupe them into carrying USTC
products and to discontinue carrying Conwood *154
products; and {4) entered into exclusive agreements
with retailers in an effort to exclude rivals’ products.
Id at 783

On appeal, USTC -~ like 3M -- did not challenge that
it had monopoly power and agreed that the relevant
product was tmoist snuff and the geographic market
was nationwide. 7d at 782-83. Instead, USTC conien-
ded that Conwood had failed to establish that USTC's
power was acquired or maintained by exclusionary
practices rather than by its legitimate business prac-
tices and superior product. /d at 783, Both the dis-
friet court and the court of appeals rejected USTC's
argument, finding that there was sufficient evidence
for a jury to find wiilful maintenance by USTC of
monopoly power by engaging in exclusionary prac-
tices in violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act [d at
788.

Similarly, 3M sought to meet the competition that
LePage's threatened by exclusionary conduct that
consisted of rebate programs and exclusive dealing
arrangements designed to drive LePage's and any oth-
er viabie competitor from the transparent tape mar-
ket.

B.
Bundled Rebates
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{4} In considering LePage's conduct that led lo the
jury's ultimate verdict, we note that the jury had be-
fore it evidence of the full panoply of 3M's exclusion-
ary conduct, including both the exclusive dealing ar-
rangements and the bundled rebates which could
reasonably have been viewed as effectuating exclus-
ive dealing arrangements because of the way in
which they were structured

Through a program denominated Executive Growth
Fund ("EGF") and thereafler Partnership Growth
Fund ("PGF"), 3IM offered many of LePage's major
customers substantiai rebates {o induce them to elim-
inate or reduce their purchases of tape from LePage's.
Rather than competing by offering volume discounts
which are concededly legal and ofien reflect cost sav-
ings, 3M's rebate programs offered discounts to cer-
tain customers conditioned on purchases spanning six
of 3M's diverse product lines. The product lines
covered by the rebate program were: Health Care
Products, Ilome Care Products, Home Improvement
Products, Stationery Products (including transparent
tape), Retail Auto Products, and Leisure Time.
Sealed App. at 2979 In additien to bundling the re-
bales, both of 3M's rebate programs set customer-spe-
cific target growth rates in each product line. The size
of the rebate was linked to the number of product

lines in which targets were met, and the number of

targets met by the buyer determined the rebate it
would receive on all of ils purchases If a customer
failed to meet the targe! for any one product, its fail-
ure would cause it o lose the rebate across the line.
This created a substantial incentive for each customer
to meet the targets across all product lines to maxim-
ize its rebates.

The rebates were considerable, not "modest” as IM
states. Appellant’s Br. at 15, For example, Kmart,
which had constituted 10% of LePage's business, re-
ceived $926,287 in 1997, Sealed App. at 2980, and in
1996 Wal-Mart received more than $1.5 million,
Sam's Club received 3$666,620, and Target received
$482,001 Sealed App. at 2773, Just as significant as
the amounts received is the powerlul incentive they
provided to customers to purchase IM tape rather
than LePage's in order not Lo forego the maximum re-
bate 3M offered. The penalty would have been
264,000 for Sam's Club, $450,000 for Kmart, and

$200,000 to $310,000 for American Stores.

*155 3M does not deny that it offered these programs
although it gives different reasons for the discounts to
each customer. Inslead it argues that they were no
more exclusive than procompetitive lawful discount
programs. And, as it responds to each ol LePage's al-
legations, it returns to its central premise "that it is
not unlawful to lower one's prices so long as they re-
main above cost” Appellant's Br. at 36 {citing
Brogke Group, 509 1.8 at 222 113 §.Ct. 2578},

However, one of the leading treatises discussing the
inheren{ anticompetitive effect of bundled rebates,
even if they are priced above cost, notes that "the
great majority of bundled rebate programs yield ag-
pregale prices above cost Rather than analogizing
them to predatory pricing, they are best compared
with tying, whose foreclosure effects are similar. In-
deed, the 'package discount’ is ofien a close analogy.”
Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Antitrust
Law § 794, at 83 {Supp.2002).

The treatise then discusses the anticompetitive effect

as follows:
The anticompetitive feature of package discounting
is the strong incentive it gives buyers to take in-
ereasing amounis or even zll of a product in erder
to take advantape of a discount apgregated across
multiple products. In the anticompetitive case,
which we presume is in the minority, the defendant
rewards the customer for buying iis preduct B
rather than the plaintiff's B, not because defendant’s
B is betler or even cheaper Rather, the customer
buys the defendant’s B in order lo receive a greater
discount on A, which the plaintiff does not pro-
duce. In that case the rival can compete in B only
by giving the customer a price that compensates it
for the foregone A discount,

1d

The authors then conclude:
Depending on the number of products that are ap-
gregaled and the customer's relative purchases of
each, even an equally efficient rival may find it im-
possible to compensate for lost discounts on
products that it does not produce.

Id at 83-84.
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The principal anticompetitive effect of bundled re-
bates as offered by 3M is thal when offered by a
monopolist they may foreclose portions of the market
io a potential competitor who does not manufacture
an equally diverse group of products and wheo there-
fore cannot make a comparable offer. We recognized
this in our decision in SmithKiine Corp. v. Eli Lilly &
Co.. 575 F.2d 1056 (3d Cir. 1978), where we beid that
conduct substantially identical to 3M's was anticom-
petitive and sustained the finding of a violation of §
2. SmithKiine is of interest not because the pane] de-
cision is binding on the en banc court but because the
reasoning regarding the practice of bundied rebates is
equally applicable here. The defendant in SmithKline.
Eli Lilly & Company, the pharmaceutical manulac-
{urer, sold three ol its cephalosporins to hospitals un-
der the trade names Kefzol, Kellin and Keflex. Ceph-
alosporins are broad spectrum antibiotics that were at
that time indispensable to hospital pharmacies Lilly
had a menopoly on both Keflin and Keflex because
of its patents. However, those drugs faced competi-
tion from the generic drug cefazolin which Lilly soid
under the trade name Kefzol and which plaintiff
SmithKline sold under the trade name Ancef.

Lilly's profits on the patented Keflin were far higher
than those it received from its sales of Kelzol where
its pricing was constrained by the existence of
SmithKline To preserve its market position in Keflin
and discourage sales of Ancef and *156 even of iis
own Kefzol, id at 1061, Lilly instituted a rebate pro-
gram that provided a 3% bonus rebate for hespitals
that purchased specified quantities of any three of
Lilly's five cephalosporins. SmithKline brought a § 2
monopolization claim, alleging that Lilly used these
multi-line volume rebates {o maintain ils monopoly
over the hospital market for cephalosporins

The district court (Judge A Leon Higginbotham,
tater a member of this court) found that Lilly's pricing
policy violated § 2 SmithKling Corp. v. Efi Lillv &
Co., 427 FSupp. 1089 (E.D.Pa,1976) We affirmed
by a unanimous decision. Although customers were
not forced to select which cephalosporins they pur-
chased from Lilly, we recognized that the effect of
the rebate program was to induce hospitals to conjoin
their purchases of Kefzol with Keflin and Keflex,
Lilly's “leading sellers." SmithKline, 575 F.2d ai

. As we stated, "[allthough eligibility for the 3% bo-
nus rebate was based on the purchase of specified
quantities of any three of Lilly's cephalosporins, in
reality it meant the combined purchases of Kefzol
and the leading seilers, Keflin and Keflex " Id The
gravamen of Lilly's § 2 violation was that Lilly linked
a product on which it faced competition with
products on which it faced no competition Jd at
1065,

The effect of the 3% bundled rebate was magnified
by the volume of Lilly products sold, so that "in order
to offer a rebate of the same net doliar amount as
Lilly's, SmithKline had to offer purchasers of Ancel
rebates of some 16% 1o hospitals of average size, and
35% to larger volume hospitals.”" Id. at 1062. Lilly's
rebate structure combining Kefzol with Keflin and
Keflex "insulat[ed] Kefzol from (rue price competi-
tion with [its competitor] Ancef" Id at 1065

LePage's private-label and second-tier tapes are, as
Kefzol and Ancef were in relation to Keflin, less ex~
pensive but otherwise of similar guality to Scotch-
brand tape. Indeed, before 3M instituted its rebate
program, LePage's had begun to enjoy a small but
rapidly expanding toehold in the transparent tape
market. 3M's incentive was thus the same as Lilly's in
SmithKline: 1o preserve the market position of
Scotch-brand tape by discouraging widespread ac-
ceplance of the cheaper, but substantially similar,
tape produced by LePage's.

3M bundled its rebates for Scotch-brand tape with
other products it sold in much the same way that
Liliy bundled its rebates for Kefzol with Keflin and
Keflex. In both cases, the bundied rebates reflected
an exploitation of the seller's monopoly power Just
as "[cephalosporing] [werel carried in . virtually
every general hospital in the country," SmithKling
575 F.2d at 1062. the evidence in this case shows that
Scotch-brand tape is indispensable to any retailer in
the transparent {ape market

Qur analysis of § 2 of the Sherman Act in SmithKline
is instructive here where the facis are comparable.
Speaking through Judge Aldisert, we said:
With Lilly's cephalosporins subject 1o no serious
price competition from other sellers, with the barri-
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ers to entering the market substantial, and with the
prospects of new competition extremely uncertain,
we are confronted with a factual complex in which
Liliy has the awesome power of a monopolist. Al-
though it enjoyed the status of a legal monopolist
when it was engaged in the manufacture and sale of
its original patented products, that slatus changed
when it instituted its [bundled rebate program}. The
goal of that plan was to associate Lilly's legal
monopolistic practices with an illegal activity that
directly affecied the price, supply, and demand of
Kefzol *157 and Auncel Were it not for the
fbundled rebate program], the price, supply, and
demand of Kefzol and Ancef would have been de-
termined by the economic laws of a competitive
market. [Lilly's bundled rebate program] blatantly
revised those economic laws and made Lilly a
transgressor under § 2 of the Sherman Act.
Id at 1065

The effect of 3IM's rebates were even more power-
fully magnified than these in SmithKline because
3M's rebates required purchases bridging 3M's ex-
tensive product lines. In some cases, these magnified
rebates to a particular customer were as much as half
of LePage's entire prior tape sales to that customer.
For example, LePage's sales to Sam's Club in 1993
totaled $1,078,484, while 3M's 1996 rebate to Sam's
Club was $666,620. Similarly, LePage's 1992 sules to
Kmarl were $2,482,756; 3M's 1997 rebate to Kmart
was $926,287. The jury could reasonably find that
3M used its monopoly in transparent tape, backed by
its considerable catalog of products, to squeeze out
LePage's. 3M's conduct was at jeast as anticompetit-
jve as the conduct which this court held violated § 2
in SmithKline

C.
Exclusive Dealing
[3] The second prong of LePage's claim of exclusion-
ary cenduct by 3M was its actions in entering into ex-
clusive dealing contracts with large customers. 3M
acknowledges only the expressly exclusive dealing
contracts with Venture and Pamida which condi-
tioned discounts on exclusivity. It minimizes these
because they represent only a small portion of the
market. However, LePage's claims that 3M made
payments to many of the larger customers that were

designed to achieve sole-source supplier status

[6] 3M argues that because the jury found for it on
LePage's claims under § | of the Sherman Act and §
3 of the Clayton Act, these payments should not be
relevant to the § 2 analysis. The law is to the con-
trary. [FN10] Even though exclusivity arrangements
are often analyzed under § 1, such exclusionary con-
duct may also be an element in a § 2 claim. [L§.
Healtheare, Inc. v, Healthsource, Inc., 986 F.2d 589,
393 {18t Cir.1993) (observing that exclusivity may
also "play a role .. as an element in attempted or ac-
tual monepolization™).

FN10. The jury's finding against LePage's
on its exclusive dealing claim under § 1 of
the Sherman Act and § 3 of the Clayton Act
does not preclude the application of evid-
ence of 3M's exclusive dealing lo support
LePage's § 2 claim. See, e g, Barr Labs.,
Inc, v, Abbott Lahs. 978 F.2d 98, 110-12
(3d Cir.1992) (considering § 2 of the Sher-
man Act claims afier rejecting claims based
on the same evidence under § ] of the Sher-
man Act and § 3 of the Clayton Act);
SmithKline, 427 F.Supp. at 1092, aff'd, 575
F.2d 1056 (imposing § 2 Sherman Act liabil-
ity for exclusionary conduct, after rejecting
an exclusive dealing claim under § 3 of the
Clayton Act).

3M also disclaims as exclusive dealing any arrange-
ment thal contained no express exclusivity require-
ment. Once again the law is Lo the contrary. No less
an authority than the United States Supreme Court
has so stated In Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal
Cp.,. 365 U.S. 320, 327 81 S.Ct, 623. 5 L.EEd.2d 580
{1961), a case that dealt with § 3 of the Clayton Act
rather than & 2 of the Sherman Act, the Court took
cognizance of arrangements which, albeit not ex-
pressly exclusive, effectively foreclosed the business
of competitors, [FNI11]

ENL1. If the dissent's citation to ETC v. Mo-
tion Picture Adveriising Sery, Co., 344 U.5,
392,73 8.6t 361, 97 L .Ed. 426 (1953}, sug-
gests that a one year exclusive dealing con-
tract should be considered as per se legal un-
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der § 2, that is not supported by a reading of
the decision In that case, the FTC had ap-
pealed from a decision of the Fifth Circuit
holding that exclusive contracls are not un-
fair methods of competition. The Supreme
Court reversed, supporting the FTC's de-
cision that the exclusive contracts of the re-
spondent (a producer and distributer of ad-
vertising motion pictures), unreasonably re-
strain competition and tend te monopoly. It
was the respondent who argued that exclus-
ive contracts of a duration in excess of a
year are necessary for the conduct of the
business of the distributors. This argument
was rejected by the Supreme Court. The Su-
preme Court's decision did not suggest that
exciusive dealing arrangements enfered into
by a monopolist {which the respondent in
that case was not), logether with other exclu-
sionary action, did not violate § 2 of the
Sherman Act.

#1588 LePage's introduced powerful evidence that
could have led the jury to believe that rebates and
discounts to Kmart, Staples, Sam's Club, National
Office Buyers and "UDI" were designed to induce
them to award business to 3M to the exclusion of
LePage's. Many of LePage's former customers re-
fused even to meet with LePage's sales representat-
ives. A buyer for Kmart, LePage's largest customer
which accounted for 10% of its business, told
1ePage's: "T cant falk to you about tape products for
the next three years” and "don't bring me anything
IM makes" App. at 302-03, 964 Kmart switched to
IM following 3M's offer of a $1 million "growth" re-
ward which the jury could have understood to require
that 3M be its sole supplier. Similarly, Staples was
offered an extra 1% bonus rebate if it gave LePage's
business to 3M. 3M argues that LePage's did not try
hard enough to retain Kmart, its customer for 20
years, but there was evidence to the contrary [EN]2
In any eveni, the purpose and effect of 3IM's pay-
ments to the retailers were issues for the jury which,
by its verdict, rejected 3M's arguments.

ENI12. At trial, LePage's presented the testi-
meny of James Kowieski, its former senior
vice president of sales, who described

LePage's efforts following Kmart's rejection
of its bid. LePage's made a desperate second
sales presentation attended by its president,
App. at 957 ("1 felt it was very critical {0 our
company's success or failure, so 1 insured
that Mr. Les Baggelt, our president, attended
the meeting with me"), where LePage's
vainly offered additional price concessions,
App. at 959 ("We wen! through the cost sav-
ings, the benefits, and we came up with
some, again, price concessions, and some
programs of a special buy once a year, be-
cause, I mean, as far as we were concerned,
we were on our Jast leg "),

The loreciosure of markets through exciusive dealing
contracls is of concern under the antitrust laws As
one of the jeading treatises states:
unilaterally imposed quantity discounts can fore-
close the opportunities of rivals when a dealer can
obtain its best discount only by dealing exclusively
with the dominant {irm. For example, discounts
might be cumulated over lengthy periods of time,
such a3 a calendar year, when no obvious econom-
ies result.
3A Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, Anii-
trust Law ¥ 768b2, at 148 (2d Ed 2002); see also 11
Herbert Movenkamp, Antirust Law 9 1807a, at
115-16 (1998) (quantity discounts may foreclose a
substantial poriion of the market). Discounts condi-
tioned on exclusivity are "problematic” "when the de-
fendant is a dominant firm in a position to force man-
ufacturers to make an all-or-nothing choice” 1d at
117 n. 7 {citing LePugels,. . .1997 WI._ 734005
(E.D.Pa.1997)).

The Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia re-
lied on the evidence of foreclosure of markels in
reaching its decision on lability in United States v,
Microsaft Corp. 253 F.3d 34, 69 {D.C.Cir.2001) In
that case, the court of appeals conciuded that Mi-
crosofl, a monopolist in the operating system market,
foreclosed rivals in the *159 browser market from a
"substantial percentage of the available opportunities
for browser distribution" through the use of exclusive
contracls with key distributors. Jd_at 70-71 Mi-
crosoft kept usage of its competitor's browser below
"the critical level necessary for [its rival] to pose a
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real threat to Microsofl's monopoly.” Id._at 71. The
Microsoft opinion does not specify what percentage
of the browser market Microsoft locked up -~ merely
that, in one of the two primary distribution channels
for browsers, Microsoft had exclusive arrangements
with most of the top distributors. /4. at 70-71. Signi-
ficantly, the Microsofi court observed that Microsoft's
exclusionary conduct violated § 2 "even though the
conlracts foreclose less than the roughly 40% or 50%
share usually required in order o establish a § | viol-
ation ™ fd at 70.

One noted antitrust scholar has writlen:
We might thus interpret the Microsoft holding as
follows: Conduct that intentionally, significantly,
and without business justification exciudes a poten-
tial competitor from outlets (even though not in the
relevant market), where access to those outlets is a
necessary though not sufficient condition to wa-
ging a challenge to a monopolist and fear of the
challenge prompts the conduct, is "anticompetit-
ive "

Eleanor M. Fox, Hhar Is Harm 1o Competition? £x-

clusionary Practices and Anticomperitive Effect, 70

Antitrust L.J, 371, 390 (3002).

LePage's produced evidence that the [oreclosure
caused by exclusive dealing practices was magnified
by 3M's discount practices, as some of 3M's rebales
were "all-or-nothing" discounts, leading customers to
maximize their discounts by dealing exclusively with
the dominant market player, 3M, to avoid being
severely penalized financially for failing to meet their
queta in a single product line. Only by dealing ex-
clusively with 3M in as many product lines as pos-
sible could customers enjoy the substantial discounts.
Accordingly, the jury could reasonably find that 3M's
exclusionary conduct violated § 2.

V.
ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECT
[71 K has been LePape's position in pursuing its § 2
claim that 3M's exclusionary "tactics foreciosed the
competitive process by preventing rivals from com-
peting to gain (or maintain) a presence in the mar-
ket Appellee's Br at 43-46. When a monopolist's
actions are designed lo prevent one or more new or
potential competitors from gaining a foothold in the

market by exclusionary, ie predatory, conduc, its
success in that goal is not only injurious to the poten-
tial competitor but alse lo competition in general It
has been recognized, albeit in a somewhat different
context, that even the foreclosure of "one significant
competitor" from the market may lead to higher
prices and reduced oulput. Relgnd Mach. Co. v,
Dresser _Indus.. Ine., 749 F.2d 380, 394 (7th
Cir1984)

The Microsoft courl treated exclusionary conduct by
a monopolist as more likely lo be aalicompetitive
than ordinary § 1 exclusionary conduct. The inquiry
in Microsgft was whether the monopolist's conduct
excluded a competitor (Netscape) from the essential
facilities that would permit it {o achieve the efficien-
cies of scale necessary to threaten the monopoly. 233
F.3d a1 70-7¢. [FN13] In Microsofi, the court of *160
appeals determined that Microsofi had foreclosed
enough distribution Hnks to undermine the survival of
Netscape as a viable competitor. /d at 71.

FNI13. In one of the two distribution chan-
nels available for browsers, Microsoft had
locked up almost all the high volume distrib-
wtors. Micinsoft, 253 F.3¢ at 70-71. In the
seminal Terminal Railroad case, an associ-
ation of raflroad operators locked up the
cheapest route across the Mississippi river,
the sole railroad bridge crossing at St Louis
Unjted Statex v, Terminal R.R. Ass'n, 224
11.5. 383,32 8.CL. 507, 56 L.Ed. 810 (1912},
The Supreme Court determined that the de-
fendant's agreement to provide access 1o the
bridge to other railroads on discriminatory
terms violated § ] of the Sherman Act.

Similarly, in this case, the jury could have reasonably
found that 3M's exclusionary conduct cut LePage's
off from key retail pipelines necessary to permit il to
compete profitably. [ENI4] It was only afler
LePage's entry into the market that 3M introduced the
bundled rebates programs. If 3M were successful in
¢liminating competition from LePage's second-tier or
private-label tape, 3M could exercise its monopoly
power unchallenged, as Tesa Tuck was no longer in
the market.
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ENI4. In the transparent tape markel, super-
stores like Kmart and Wal-Mart provide a
crucial facility to any manufacturer-they
supply high volume sales with the cencomit-
an! substantially reduced distribution costs.
By wielding its monopoly power in transpar-
ent tape and its vast amray of product lines,
IM foreclosed LePage's [rom that critical
bridge to consumers that superstores
provide, namely, cheap, high volume supply
lines,

The District Court, recognizing that "this case
presents & unique bundled rebate program that the
jury found had an anti-competitive effec,” Le Page's,
2000 WL 280350, at *5. denied 3M's motion for
judgment as 2 matter of law ("JMOL"), stating:
Plaintiff introduced evidence that Scolch is a
monopoly product, and that 3M's bundled rebate
programs caused distributors to displace Le Page's
entirely, or in some cases, drastically reduce pur-
chases from Le Page's. Tr. Vol. 30 at 105-106; Vol.
27 at 30 Under 3M's rebate programs, 3M set
overall growth targets for unrelated product lines.
In the distributors’ view, 3M set these targets in a
manner which forced the distributor to either drop
any non-Scotch products, or lose the maximum re-
bate PX 24 at 3M 48136, Thus, in order to qualify
for the maximum rebate under the EGF/PGF pro~
grams, the record shows that most customers diver-
ted private label business to 3M at 3M's sugges-
tion. Tr. Vol 28 at 74-75; PX23, 28, 32, 34, 715
Similarly, under the newer Brand Mix rebate pro-
gram, 3M set higher rebates for tape sales which
produced a shift from private label tape to branded
tape. Tr. Vol. 31 at 79. PX 393 at 534506
Furthermore, Plaintiff introduced evidence of cus-
tomized rebate programs that similarly cavsed dis-
ributors to forego purchasing from Le Page's if
they wished to obtain rebates on 3M's products
Specifically, the trial record establishes that 3M
offered ¥mart a customized growth rebate and
Market Development Funds payment. in order to
reach the $15 miilion sales target and qualify for
the $1 million rebate, however, Kmart had to in-
crease its consumer stationary purchases by $535
million. Kmart substantiaily achieved this "growth”

by dropping Le Page's and another private label
manufacturer, Tesa. PX 51 at 3M 102175, PX 121
at 136838 Likewise, 3M customized a program
with Staples that provided for an extra i% bonus
rebate on Scotch tape sales "if Le Page's business is
given to IM." PX 98 at 3M 149794 Finally, 3M
provided a similar discount on Scotch tape to Ven-
ture Stores "based on the contingency of Venture
dropping private label” PX 712 at 3M 450738
Thus, *161 the jury could have reasonably con-
cluded that 3M's customers were forced to forego
purchasing Le Page's private label tape in order to
obtain the rebates on Scotch tape
Id (emphasis added).

In the same opinion, the District Court found that
“[LePage's] introduced substantial evidence that the
anticompetitive effects of 3M's rebate programs
caused Le Page's losses." Id at *7 The jury was cap-
able of calculating from the evidence the amount of
rebate a customer of 3M would lese if it failed to
meel 3M's quota of sales in even one of the bundled
products. The discount that LePape's would have had
to provide to match the discounts offered by 3M
through its bundled rebates can be measured by the
discounts 3M gave or offered. For example, LePage’s
points out that in 1993 Sam's Club would have stood
to lose $264,900, Sealed App at 1166, and Kmart
$450,000 for failure to meet one of 3M's growth tar-
gets in a single product line. Sealed App. at 1110
Moreover, the effect of 3IM's rebates on LePape's
earnings, if LePage's had attempted to maich 3M's
discounts, can be calculated by comparing the dis-
count lhat LePage's would have been required to
provide. That amount would represent the impact of
IM's bundled rebates on LePage's ability to compete,
and that is what is relevant under § 2 of the Sherman
Act.

The impact of 3M's discounts was apparent from the
chart introduced by LePage's showing that LePage's
earnings as a percentage of sales plummeted Lo below
zero-1o negative 10%-during 3M's rebate program.
App. at 7037; see also App. at 7044 (documenting
LePage's healthy operating income from 1990 1o
1993, rapidly declining operating income from 1993
to 1995, and large operating losses suffered from
1996 through 1999). Demand for LePage's tape, espe-
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cially its private-label tape, decreased significantly
following the introduction of 3M's rebates. Although
3M claims that customers parlicipating in its rebate
programs continued to purchase tape from LePage's,
the evidence does not support this contention. Many
distributors dropped LePage's entirely,

Prior to the introduction of 3M's rebate program,
LePage's sales had been skyrocketing. Its sales to
Staples increased by 440% from 1990 to 1993, Fol-
lowing the introduction of 3M's rebale program
which bundled its private-label tape with ils other
products, 3M's private-label tape sazles Increased
478% from 1992 to 1997. [ENIS] LePage's in lurn
lost a proportional amount of sales. It lost key large
volume custemers, such as Kmart, Staples, American
Prugstores, Office Max, and Sam's Club. Other large
customers, like Wal-Mart, drastically cut back their
purchases

ENI15, In 1992, 3M's private-label tape sales
were §$1,142,000 By 1997, its private-label
tape sales had increased to $5,464,222
Sealed App. at 489,

As a result, LePage's manufacturing process became
less efficient and its profit margins declined. In trans-
parent tape manufacturing, large volume customers
are essential to achieving efficiencies of scale. As 3M
concedes, " large customers were extremely import-
ant o [LePage's], to everyone! .. Large volumes ..
permitied long runs,' making the manufacturing pro-
cess more economical and predictable.” Appellant Br.
al 10 {(quoting trial testimony of Les Baggett,
LePape's former president and CEQ) (citation omit-
ted).

There was a comparable effect on LePage's share of

the fransparent tape market. In the agreed upon relev-
ant market for transparent tape in the United States,
LePage's market share dropped 35% from 1992 to
1997. In 1992, LePage's nel sales constituled 14.44%
of the total transparent *162 tape market By 1997,
LePape's sales had fallen to 935%. Sealed App. at
489. Finally, in March of 1997, LePage's was forced
to close one of its two plants. That same year, the
only other domestic transparent tape manufacturer,
Tesa Tuck, Inc, bowed oul of the transparent tape

business entirely in the United States. Had 3M con-
tinued with its program it could have eventually
forced LePage's out of the market.

{8] The relevant inquiry is the anticompetitive effect
of 3M's exclusionary practices considered together.
As the Supreme Court recognized in Contl Ore Co.
v, Union Carbide & Carhon_ Corp., 370 U.S. 690,
699, 82 S.Ct 1404, 8 T Ed.2d 777 (1962}, the couris
must look to the monopolist's conduct taken as a
whole rather than considering each aspect in isola-
tion The Court stated, " 'in a case like the one before
us [aileging § 1 and § 2 violations], the duty of the
jury was to look at the whole picture and not merely
al the individual figures in it.' " 4 (citation omitted)
See also City of Analieim v. §._Cal. Edison Co., 935
F2d 1373, 1376 (9th Cir. 19923 (*[1]t would not be
proper 1o focus on specific individual acts of an ac-
cused monopolist while refusing to consider their
overall combined effect . We are dealing with what
has been called the 'synergistic effect’ of the mixture
of the elements.”) (emphasis added). This court,
when considering the anticompetitive effect of a de-
fendant's conduct under the Sherman Act, has looked
to the increase in the defendant's market share, the ef-
fecls of foreclosure on the market, benefits to cus-
tomers and the defendant, and the extent to which
customers {elt they were precluded from dealing with
other manufacturers. Barr, 978 F.2d ot 110-11

The effect of 3M's conduct in strengthening its mono-
poly position by destroying competition by LePage's
in second-tier tape is most apparent when 3M's vari-
ous activities are considered as a whole. The anti-
competitive effect of 3M's exclusive dealing arrange-
ments, whether explicit or inferred, cannot be separ-
ated from the effect of its bundled rebates. 3M's
bundling of its products via its rebate programs rein-
forced the exclusionary effect of those programs

3M's exclusionary conduct not only impeded
LePage's ability to compete, but alse it harmed com-
petition itsell, a sine qua ron for a §_2 violation
LePage's presented powerful evidence thal competi-
tion itself was harmed by 3M's actions. The District
Court recognized this in its opinion, when it said:

The jury could reasonably infer that 3M's planned

elimination of the lower priced private label tape,
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as well as the lower priced Highland brand, would
channel consumer selection to the higher priced
Scotch brand and lead to higher profits for 3M. In-
deed, Defendant concedes that "3M could later re-
coup the profits it has forsaken on Scotch tape and
privale label tape by selling more higher priced
Scotch tape ... if there would be no competition by
others in the private label tape segment when 3M
abandoned that part of the market 10 sell only high-
er-priced Scotch tape "
Le Pgge's, 2000 WL 280350, at *7.

IM could effectuate such a plan because there was no
ease of eatry, See ddve, Inc. v. Phila. Newspapers,
Inc.. 51 F.3d 1191, 1200 (3d Cir.1993) (commenting
that ease of entry would prevent monopolist's predat-
ory pricing scheme from succeeding); see also Ed-
ward A. Snyder & Thomas E. Kauper, Misuses of the
Antitrust Laws, The Competitor Plaintiff, 90 Mich,
L.Rev. 351, 564 (1991} (finding "barriers to enlry” lo
be one of two necessary conditions for exclusionary
conduct, the other being "market power™)

*163 The District Court found that there was "substan-
tinl evidence at trial that significant entry barriers
prevent competitors from entering the .. tape market
in the United States Thus, this case presents a situ-
ation in which a monopolist remains unchecked in
the market" Le Page's, 2000 WL 280350, at *7 In
the time period at issue here, there has never been a
competitor that has genuinely challenged 3M's mono-
poly and it never fost a significanl transparent lape
account to a foreign competitor

There was evidence from which the jury could have
determined that 3M intended to force LePage's from
the market, and then cease or severely curtail its own
private-label and second-lier tape lines. For example,
by 1996, 3M had begun to offer incentives lo some
customers to increase purchases of its higher priced
Scotch-brand tapes over its own second-tier brand.
The Supreme Courl has made clear that intent is rel-
evant to proving menopolization, Jspen Skiing, 472
.S, at 602, 103 5.Ct, 2847, and atiempt 10 monopol-
ize, Lorain Journal 342 U8 at 154-55, 72 §.Ct, 18]

3IM's interest in raising prices is well-documented in
the record. In internal memoranda introduced into

evidence by LePage's, 3M executives boasted that the
large retailers like Office Max and Staples had no
choice but to adhere to 3M's demands. See Sealed
App. al 2585 ("Either they take the {price] increase ..
or we hold orders .."}; see alse Sealed App at 2571
{3M's directive when Staples objected to price in-
crease was "orders will be held if pricing is not up lo
date on 1/1/98"). LePage's expert testified that the
price of Scolch-brand tape increased since 1994, afler
IM instituted its rebate program App. al 3246-47 In
its opinion, the District Courl ciled the deposition
testimony of a 3M employee acknowledging that the
payment of the rebates after the end of the year dis-
couraged passing the rebate on {o the ultimate cus-
tomers. App at 2092. The District Court thus ob-
served, "the record amply rellects that 3M's rebate
programs did not benefit the ultimate consumer.” Le
Page's. 2000 WL, 280330, at *7.

As the foregoing review of the evidence makes clear,
there was sufficient evidence for the jury lo conclude
the long-term effects of IM's conduct were anticom-
petitive. We must therefore uphold its verdict on liab-
jlity unless 3M has shown adequate business justific-
ation for its practices

VI
BUSINESS REASONS JUSTIFICATION

[9][10] It remains to consider whether defendanl's ac-
tions were carried out for "valid business reasons,”
the only tecognized justification for monopolizing
See, e g, Eaximan Kodek, 504 1.8, at 483. 112 S.CL
2072 However, a defendant's assertion that it acled
in furtherance of its economic interests does ot con-
stitute the type of business juslification that is an ac-
ceplable defense to § 2 monopolization. Paraphrasing
one corporzte executive's well publicized statement,
whatever is good for 3M is not necessarily permiss-
ible under § 2 of the Sherman Act As one court of
appeals has explained:

In peneral, a business justification is valid il it

relates directly or indirectly to the enhancement of

consumer weifare. Thus, pursuit of efficiency and

quality conirol might be legitimate competitive

reasons . ., while the desire to maintain a monopoly

market share or thwart the entry of competilors

would not
Data Gen. Corp. v, Grimman Svs. Support Corn.. 36
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F.3d 1147 1183 (ist Cir.1994) {citing *164Lastman
Kodak, 504 1.8, at 483, 112 S.C1. 2072; Aspen Ski-
ing, 472 1.8, at 608-11, 105 8.Ct. 2847).

It can be assumed that a monopolist seeks to further
its economic interests and does so when it engages in
exclusionary conduct. Thus, for example, exclusion-
ary practice has been defined as "a method by which
a firm . trades a par! of its monopoly profits, al least
temporarily, for a larger market share, by making it
anprofitable for other sellers to compete with it"
Richard A Posner, Autitrust Law - An Economic Per-
spective 28 {1976). Once a monopolist achieves its
goal by excluding potential competitors, it can then
increase the price of its product to the point at which
it will maximize i#ts profit. This price is invariably
higher than the price determined in a competitive
market. That is one of the principal reasons why
menopolization violates the antitrust laws. The fact
that 3M acted to benefit its own economic interests is
hardly a reason to overturn the jury's {inding that it
violated & 2 of the Sherman Act

The defendan! bears the burden of "persuadfing] the
jury that its conduct was justified by any normal busi-
ness purpose.” dspen Skiipg, 472 118, al 608, 105
5.C1, 2847 Although 3M alludes Lo its customers' de-
sire to have single invoices and single shipments in
defense of its bundled rebates, 3M cites to no testi-
mony or evidence in the 55 volume appendix that
would support any actuai economic efficiencies in
having single inveices and/or single shipments. It is
highly unlikely that 3M shipped transparent tape
along with retail auto products or home improvement
producis to customers such as Staples or that, if it
did, the savings stemming from the joint shipment
approaches the milliens of dollars 3M returned to
customers in bundied rebales

There is considerable evidence in the record that 3IM
entered the private-label market only lo "kill it." See.
eg, Sealed App. at B09 (statement by 3M executive
in internal memorandum that "I don’t want private la-
bel IM products to be successful in the office supply
business, its distribution or our consumers/end
users™) That is precisely what § 2 of the Sherman
Act prohibits by covering conduct that maintains a

monopoly Maintaining a monopoly is not the type of

valid business reason thal will excuse exclusionary
conduct. 3M's business justification defense was
presented 1o the jury, and it rejected the claim. The
Jury's verdict reflects its view that 3M's exclusionary
conduct, which made it difficalt for LePage's to com-
pete on the merits, had ne legitimate business justific-
ation

VIIL.
DAMAGES

As an alternative to its argument that it is entitled lo
TMOL. on liability, 3M claims that it is entitled to a
new trial due to the District Court's error in sustaining
LePage's damages award. It gives two reasons. First,
it contends that the damage theory proffered by Terry
Musika, [ ePage's damages expert, was based on im-
proper assumptions and should have been excluded.
[FN16] Second, 3M argues that Musika's theory
failed 1o disaggregate the damages *165 based on
lawful versus uniawful conduct by 3M

ENI16. 3M does nol challenge Musika's ex-
pert qualifications. Nonetheless, we note
that he holds a master's degree in public fin-
ance, is a former partner at a major account-
ing firm, and at the time of trial was Presid-
ent and CEO of a business consulting firm.
Furthermore, Musika {requently has served
as a court-appoinied bankrupicy trustee, as
an expert for various governmen! agencies,
including the Department of Justice and Se-
curities and Exchange Commission, and as
an expert witness in complex cases, inciud-
ing five antitrust cases.

[11] We review the District Court's decision to admit
or exclude experi testimony for abuse of discretion.
Kumho Tire Co. v, Carmichael, 526 1).8. 137, 152,
119 S.Cr, 1167, 143 L. Ed.2d 238 (1999) Further-
more, we review de novo LePage's damages evidence
to determine whether as a matter of law it can support
the jury's verdict Stelwagon Mfe. Co. v, JTarmac
Roofine Svs., Inc, 63 F.3d 1267, 1271 {3d Cir. 1893)

To determine the amount of profits LePage's lost
between 1993 and 2000 due to 3M's antifrust viola-
tions, Musika constructed 2 "lost market share" mod-
el. Appeilant's Br at 72 Musika first caleulated the
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total Uniled States transparent lape sales during the
damages period, using actual financial data from
1992 to 1997 and projecting total sales from 1998 1o
2000 Next, he determined how those sales would be
divided between branded and private-label parts of
the market, projecting a 1% shifti each year from
branded 1o private-label tape sales. In arriving at 1%,
Musika considered the actual growth in private-label
tape sales, the actual growth rate of all private-label
products (i.e not just tape), the growth rate of large
customers, and 3M's internal projections,

Afier determining the size of both segments of the
markel, Musiia estimated LePage's share of the mar-
ket, predicting that LePage's would have retained its
13.5% share of the branded-label segment and its 88%
share of the private-label segment. He opined that
LePage's share of the overall markel for transparent
tape would have increased from 14 44% in 1992 (0
212% in 2000 but for 3M's unlawful conduct. Fi-
nally, Musika subtracted LePage's actual sales from
his projected sales to determine LePage's lost sales
due to 3M's unlawful conduct He calculated
LePage's projected prefit margin by looking at
1.ePage's actual profit margin for each year and ad-
justing it to show declining prices and LePage's con-
sequential decreasing elficiency due to decreasing
sales. Based on those adjustments, LePage's profit
margin decreased every year during the damapes
period. Musika concluded that but for 3M's unlawful
conduct, LePage's would have earned an extra $36
mitlion dolars.

112] Importantly, 3M does not challenge Musika's ba-
sic approach to calculating damages, conceding that
Yan expert may construct a reasonable offense-free
world as a yardstick for measuring what, hypothetic-
ally, would have happened but for' the defendant's
unlawful activities” Appeilant's Reply Br. at
37citing Callahan v. AEV., Inc. 182 FE3d 237
254-58 (34 Cir.1999Y; Rassi v, Standard Roofing,
Ing. 156 F3d 452 484-87 {3d Cir. 1998)).

Instead, 3M's motion for judgment as a matter of law
attacked Musika's underlying assumptions, the
primary assumption being that 3M did not want to
succeed in the private-label segment as it did not
want {0 harm its high-margin sales of Scoich brand.

The District Court rejected 3M's objections to
LePage's damages claims, stating that "the record .
demonstrates that Mr. Musika's assumptions were
grounded in the past performances of Scotch, High-
land and Le Page's tapes, as weli as 3M's own intern-
al projections for future growth" Le Pages, 2000
WL 280350, at *§

{13] The credibility of LePage's and 3M's experts was
for the jury to determine. Jnfer Med, Supplies, Lid, v,
EBI Med. Sys., Inc., 181 F.3d 446. 462-63 (3d
Cir.1999). Musika was extensively cross-examined
and 3M presented testimony from s own damages
expert whe predicled more conservative losses to
LePage's. In the end, the jury found Musika to be
*166 credible. 3M's disappoiniment as to the jury's
finding of credibility does not constitute an abuse of
discretion by the District Court in allowing Musika's
testimony

[14] 3M next argues that Musika improperly failed to
disaggregate damages, thereby previding the jury
with no mechanism {o discern damages arising from
IM's lawful conduct or other facts from damages
arising from 3M's unlawful conduct. According to
M, this resuited in impermissible guesswork and
speculation on the part of the jury.

In Bowjorno v, Aaiser Alimimam & Chem, Corp., 752
F.2d 802, 812 (3d Cir.1984), this court stated that
"[i]n constructing a hypothetical world free of the de-
fendants' exclusionary activities, the plainliffs are
given some latitude in calculating damages, so long
as their theory is nol wholly speculative.” Jd Once a
jury has found that the unlawful activity caused the
antifrust injury, the damages may be delermined
without strict proof of what act caused the injury, as
long as the damages are not based on speculation or
guesswork . Id. at 813, The Bonjorno court noted that
it would be extremely difficult, if not imipossibie, to
segregate and attribute a fixed amount of damages to
any one act s the theory was not that any one act in
itself was unlawful, but that all the acts taken togeth-
er showed a § 2 violation Jd

Similarly, 3M's actions, taken as a whole, were found
to violate § 2, thus making the disaggregation that
M speaks of lo be unnecessary, if not impossible. In
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any even!, we fail to see how the jury engaged in
speculation or guesswork. The District Court clearly
charged the jury to disregard losses not caused by
IM: "You may not calculate damages based only on
speculation or guessing.. . You may not award dam-
ages for injuries or Josses caused by other factors.”
App. at 5689 We find no evidence that the jury
failed reasonably to follow these instructions.

For the foregoing reasons, we wili not disturb the
jury's damages award to LePage's.

VL
JURY INSTRUCTIONS

[15][16] 3M also argues that it should be awarded a
new {rial because of allegedly improper jury instruc-
tions. In the absence of a misslatement of law, jury
instructions are reviewed for abuse of discretion
Bhava v, Westinghouse Electric Corp., 922 F 2d 184
197 {3d Cir.1990) Because the District Court
provided the jury with meliculous instructions, meth-
odically explaining this area of the law in a manner
understandable to lay persons, we conclude that it did
not abuse its discretion.

The District Court, in instructing the jury on Count {,
which encompassed LePage's claim of unlawiul
maintenance of monopoly power under § 2, ex-
piained:

Count | in this case is unlawful maintenance of

monopoly power.
LePage's alleges that it was injured by 3M’s unlaw-
ful monopolization in the United States markel for
invisible and transparent tape for home and office
use.
To win on their claim of monopolization, 1 ePage's
must prove each of the following elements by a
preponderance of the evidence.
First, that 3M had monopoly power in the relevant
market.
Secondly, that 3M willfuily maintained that power
through predatory or exclusionary conduct...
And thirdly, that LePage's was injured in its busi-
ness or property because *167 of 3M's restrictive
or exclusionary conduct.

App. at 5663-64.

3M complains that the District Court fziled to

provide guidance that would instruct the jury how to
distinguish between unlawful predation and lawful
conduct. However, in explaining LePage's mainten-
ance of monopoly claim, the District Courd told the

jury that in order to find for LePage's, it would have

to find by a preponderance of the evidence that 3M
willfully maintained its monopoly power through ex-
clusionary or predatory conduct. App at 5663 It then
summarized those of 3M's actions that LePage's con-
tended were unlawfully exclusionary or predatory, in-
ciuding 3M's rebate program, market development
fund, its efforts to control, reduce or eliminale
private-label tape, and its efforis to raise the price
consumers pay for Scotch tape. Thereafter, the judge
provided the jury with the following factors to de-
termine whether 3M's conduct was either exclusion-
ary or predatory: "its effect on its competitors, such
as LePage's, its impact on consumers, and whether it
has impaired competition, in an unnecessarily re-
strictive way." App. at 5670

Relevant portions of the charge were as follows:
The law directs itsel{ not against conduct which is
competitive, even severely so, bul rather against
conduct which tends 1o destroy competition itseif.

App. at 5655.
ILePage's must prove that 3M willfully maintained
monopoly power by predatory or exclusicnary con-
duet, rather than by supplying better products or
services, or by exercising superior business judg-
ment, or just by chance, So willful maintenance of
monopoly power, that's an element LePage's has to
prove

App. at 5668,
To prove that 3M acted willfully, LePage's must
prove either that 3M engaged in predatory or ex-
clusionary acts or practices, with the conscious ob-
jective of furthering the dominance of 3M in the
relevant market, or that this was the necessary dir-
ecl consequence of 3M's conduct or business ar-
rangement

App. al 5668
I'm now giving you what LePage's contenlions are
as to what 3M did or did not do, that constituted
predatory or exclusionary conduct. Number one,
3M's rebate program, such as the EGF, executive
growth fund, or the PGF, the parinership growth
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fund, and the brand mix program Number {wo,
3M's market development fund called the MDS in
some of the testimony, and other payments to cus-
tomers conditioned on customers achieving certain
sales goals or growth targets. Third, 3M's elforts to
control, or reduce, or eliminate private label tape
Four, 3M's efforts tlo switch customers to IM's
more expensive branded tape, and Five, 3M's ef-
forts 1o raise the price consumers pay for Scotch
tape. LePage's claims that all of these things that
I've just gone through was predatory or exclusion-
ary conduct. Now, 3M denies in every respect that
these actions were predatory or exclusionary. 3M
contends that these actions were, in fact, pro-
compelitive,

App. at 5668-69.
Exclusionary conduct and predatory conduct com-
prehends, at the most, behavior that not only, one,
tends to impair the opportunities of its rivals, but
also, number {wo, either does not further competi-
tion on the merits, or does so in an unnecessarily
restrictive way If 3M has been attempting to ex-
clude rivals on *168 some basis other than effi-
ciency, you may characterize the behavior as pred-
atory.

App. at 5670,
However, you may not {ind that a competent, wili-
fully maintained monopoly power, il that company
has maintained that power, solely through the exer-
cise of superior foresight or skill in industry, or be-
cause of economic or technological efficiencies, or
because of size, or because of changes in customer
and consumer preferences, or simply because the
market is so limited that it is impossible to effi-
ciently produce the product, except by a plan large
enough to supply the whole demand.

App. at 5670-71.
Now with respect to Count 1, unlawfully maintain-
ing monopoly power, mere possession of mono-
poly power, if lawfully acquired, does not violate
the antitrust laws.

App. a1 5671.
In determining whether there has been an unlawful
exercise of monopoly power, you must bear in
mind that a company has not acted unlawfully
simply because it has engaged in ordinary compet-
itive behavior that would have been an effective

means of competition if it were engaged in by a
firm without monopoly power, or simply because it
is a large company and a very efficient one.

App at 5672

The trial court further noted that if the jury found the
evidence to be insufficient to prove any of the ele-
ments, it had to find for 3M and against LePage's. It
was careful to note that intense business competition
was notl considered predatory or exclusionary, ex-
plaining:
The acts or practices that result in the maintenance
of monopoly power mus! represent something oth-
er than the conduct of business that is part of the
normal competitive process or even extraordinary
commercial success [3M] must represent conduct
that has made it very difficult or impassible for
competilors lo engage in fair competition,
App. at 5671.

The District Court closely followed the ABA sample
instructions when instructing the jury as to predatory
and exclusionary conduct, including its instructions
distinguishing between procompetitive and anticom-
petitive conduct. See ABA, Sample Jury Instructions
in Civil Antitrust Cases C-20 to C-21 (1999 Ed.).
Furthermore, the jury instructions were a modified
version of those given in Aspen Skiing, which the Su-
preme Court did not find objectionable 472 U.8. at
596-97. 105 S.Ct. 2847,

3M coniends that the District Court was obligated to
take into account the decision in Brooke Group when
crafting its jury instructions. As we have explained,
Brooke Group involved claims of predatory pricing, a
claim LePage's never alleged against 3M. It follows
that the District Court need not have, indeed should
not have, instructed the jury as to claims not at issue
in the case.

The jury was given the following questions on Count
I:
(1) Do you find that LePage'’s has proven, by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence, that the relevant mar-
ket is invisible and transparent tape for home and
office use in the United States?
(2) Do you find that LePage’s has proven, by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence, that 3IM unifawiully
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maintained monopoly power as defined under the
instructions for Count 17; [and]
(2.1) Do you find that LePage's has proven, as a
matier of fact and with a fair degree of cenrtainty,
that 3M's uniawful maintenance of monopoly
power *169 injured LePage's business or properly
as defined in these instructions?
App. at 6523 The jury answered "yes” 1o each of the
three questions. It awarded LePage's more than §22
miilion before trebling.

The District Court gave the jury a thorough, clear
charge as 1o the § 2 claim. Based on its sound instruc-
tions, the jury decided that LePage's had met ifs evid-
entiary burden as 1o its § 2 claim. Nothing in the jury
charge constitutes reversibie error.

IX.
CROSS APPEAL
ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION
L.ePage's cross appeals from the District Court's order
granting judgment as a matter of law to 3IM on
LePage's claim that 3M illegaily attempted to main-
tain its monopoly . In overturning the jury's verdict for
LePage's on this claim, the District Court stated that "
'an atiempted maintenance of monopoly power " is

“inherently illogical ' Le Page's, 2000 WL, 280350, at
*3

LePage's argues that the courts and commentators
have repeatedly found that defendants can be guilty
of both menopelization and attempted monopoliza-
tion claims arising out of the same conduct. See, e g,
Am. Tobacep (o, 328 11.S. at 783 66 S.Cy 1125
(affirming judgment that defendants were guilty of
monopolization and attempted monopolization); Earl
Kintner, 2 Federal Antitrust Law § 13.1 0.5 (1980). It
emphasizes that in Lorain Journal, the Supreme
Court upheld a § 2 attempted monopolization judg-
ment against the defendant newspaper, holding that
"a single newspaper, already enjoying a substantial
monopoly in its area, violates the ‘altempt to mono-
polize' clause of § 2 when it uses its monopoly to des-
troy threatened competition™ 342 U.S at 134 72
S.CL 181,

We need not consider the correctness of the District
Court's ruling on the attempted monopolization claim

because we uphold its decision on the monopoliza-
tion ciaim. The jury returned the same amoun! of
damages on both claims and LePage's concedes that
under those circumstances discussion of the attemp-
ted monopolization is unnecessary.

X.
CONCILUSION

Section 2, the provision of the antitrust laws designed
1o curb the excesses of monopolists and near-
monopolists, is the equivalent in our economic sphere
of the guaranlees of free and unhampered elections in
the political sphere. Just as democracy can thrive
only in a free political system unhindered by outside
forces, so also can market capitalism survive only if
those with market power are kept in check That is
the goal of the antitrust laws.

The jury heard the evidence and the contentions of
the parties, accepting some and rejecling others.
There was ample evidence that 3M used ifs market
power over transparent tape, backed by its consider-
able catalog of products, {o entrench its monopoly to
the detriment of LePage's, ils only serious competitor,
in violation of § 2 of the Sherman Acl. We {ind no re-
versible error. Accordingly, we will affirm the judg-
ment of the District Court,

GREENBERG, Circuit Judge, dissenting.

1 respectfully dissent as [ would reverse the district
court's order denying the motion for judgment as a
matier of law on the monopolization claim but affirm
on LePage's's cross-appeal from the motion *170
granting 3M a judgment as a matter of Jaw on the at-
templed maintenance of monopoly claim. While I re-
cognize thal the majority opinion describes the [actu-
al background of this case, I nevertheless also will set
forth its background as I believe that a more specific
exposition of the facts leads to a conclusion that
LePage's's case should not have survived 3M's mo-
tion for a judgment as a matier of law.

As the majority indicates, 3IM dominated the United
Stales transparent tape market with a market share
above 90% until the early 1990s. LePage's around
1980 decided to sell "second brand" and private label
tape, i ¢ , tape sold under the retailer’s, rather than the
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manufaclurer's name, an endeavor successful to the
extent that LePage's captured 88% of private label
tape sales in the United States by 1992 Moreover,
growth of "second brand” and private label tape ac-
coumted for a shifl of some tape sales from branded
tape to private iabel tape so the size of the private la-
bel tape business expanded In the circumstances, not
surprisingly, during the early 1990s, 3M alsc entered
the private label tape business.

As the majority notes, LePage's claims that, in re-
sponse to the growth of this competitive market, 3M
engaged in a series of related, anticompetitive acts
aimed ot restricting the availability of lower-priced
transparent lape to consumers. In particular, it asserts
that 3M devised programs that prevented LePage's
and the other domestic company in the business, Tesa
Tuck, Ine, from gaining or maintaining large volume
sales and that 3M maintained its monopoly by stifling
growth of private label tape and by coordinating ef-
forts aimed at large distributors to keep retail prices
for Scotch tape high LePage's barely was surviving
al the time of trial and suffered large operating losses
from 1996 through 1999,

This case centers on 3M's rebate programs that, be-
ginning in 1993, involved offers by 3IM of "package"”
or "bundled" discounts for various items ranging
from home care and leisure products to audio/visual
and stationery products. Customers ceould eam re-
bates by purchasing, in addition lo transparent tape, 2
variety of products sold by 3M's stationery division,
such as Post-It Notes and packaging products. There
is no doubt but that these programs created incentives
for retailers to purchase more 3IM products and en-
abled them to have single invoices, single shipments
and uniform pricing programs for various 3M
products. 3M linked the size of the rebates to the
number of product lines in which the customers met
the targets, an aggregate number that determined the
rebate percentage the customer would receive on all
of its 3M purchases across all product lines. There-
fore, if customers [ailed to meel growth targets in
multiple categories, they did nol receive any rebate,
and if they failed to meet the target in one product
ling, 3M reduced their rebates substantially. These re-
quirements are at the crux of the controversy here, as
LePage's claims thal customers could not meet these

growth targets without eliminating it as a supplier of
transparent tape.

In practice, as 3M's rebate program evolved, it
offered three different types of rebates: Executive
Growth Fund, Partnership Growth Fund and Brand
Mix Rebates. 3M developed a "test program" called
Executive Growth Fund ("EGF") for a small number
of retailers, 11 in 1993 and 15 in 1994, Under EGF,
3M negotiated volume and growth targets for each
customer's purchases from the six 3M consumer
product divisions involved in the EGF program. A
customer meeting the target in three or more divi-
sions earned & volume rebate of between 0.2- 1.25%
of total sales.

*171 Beginning in 1995, 3M undertook 1o end the
EGF 1test program and institute a rebale program
called Parinership Growth Fund ("PGF") for the same
six 3M consumer products divisions. Under this pro-
gram, IM established uniform growth targels applic-
able to all participants. Customers who increased
their purchases from al least two divisions by $1.00
and increased their total purchases by at least 12%
over the previous year qualified for the rebate, which
ranged from 0.5% to 2%, depending on the number
of divisions (between two to five divisions) in which
the customer increased Hs purchases and the total
volume of purchases.

In 1996 and 1997, 3M offered price incentives called
Brand Mix Rebates to two tape customers, Office De-
pot and Staples, io increase purchases of Scotch
brand tapes. 3M imposed a minimum purchase level
for tape set at the level of Office Depot's and
Staples's purchases the previous year with "growth"
factored in. To oblain a higher rebate, these two cus-
tomers could increase their percentage of Scotch pur-
chases refative o cerlain lower-priced orders,

The evidence at trial focused on the parties' dealings
with a limited number of customers and demonstrated
that LePage's problems were attributed to a number
of factors, not merely 3M's rebate programs. Thus, |
describe this evidence at length

Wal-Mart
Before 1992, Wal-Mart bought private label tape
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only from LePage's but, in August 1992, decided to
buy private label tape from 3M as well In response,
l.ePage's lowered its prices and increased its sales lo
Wal-Mart. In 1997, Wal-Mart stopped buying private
label tape but offered LePage's's branded tape as its
“second tier" offering In 1998, however, Wal-Mart
told LePage's that it was going o switch fo a tape
program from 3M. LePage's's president then visited
Wal-Mart following which it changed its plans and
retained LePage's as a supplier. Afterwards, Wal-
Mart designed a test comparing LePage's’s brand
against a 3M Scotch utility lape to determine who
would win Wal-Mart's "second tier" tape business.
LePage's added more inches (approximately 20%
more) to its rolls of tape and won the test. 3M contin-
ued, however, 1o sell Scotch brand tapes to Wal-Mart,
and LePage's saw ils sales 1o Wal-Mart decline to ap-
proximately $2,000,000 annually by the time of trial
LePage's claims that Wal-Mant cut back on ils tape

purchases to qualify for 3M's bundled rebate of

$1,468,835 in 1995

Kmart

Kmart accounted for 10% of LePage's's annual {ape
sales when LePage's lost its business 1o 3M in 1993,
Kmart asked its suppliers, including 3M, to provide a
single bid on its entire private label tape business for
the following year. LePage's's president believed,
however, that Kmarl was "loo lazy to make a
change,"” and that it would "never put their eggs in
one basket"” by giving all its business to 3M LePage's
offered the same price #t had offered the previous
year bul also offered a volume rebate. 3M offered a
lower price and won the bid Kmart asked for rebates
and “market development" funds as part of the
private label tape bid process 3M offered $200,000
for promotional activities and a $300,000 volume re-
bate if Kmart purchased $10,000,000 of 3M's Stalion-
ery Division products.

LePage's claims that 3M offered Kmart $1,000,000 to
eliminate LePage's and Tesa as suppliers and to make
3M its sole tape supplier LePage's points 0 a 3M
document outiining 3M's goal for Kmarl to *172 ex-
ceed 515,000,000 in 3M purchases with the reward
being that Kmart would receive $75,000 in each of
the first two quarters and $100,000 in the last two
quariers for promotional activities and would receive

$650,000 as a volume rebate if the sales exceeded
$15,000,000 If the sales were less, 3IM would de-
crease the rebate accordingly, e g, a $400,000 rebate
for $13,000,000 of sales LePage's claims that, as a
practical matter, Kmart had to eliminate LePage's and
Tesa to reach the growth 3M required in order to
qualify for the rebate LePage's asseris that, despile
its efforls lo regain the private label business from
Kmart, one Kmart buyer told it that he could not talk
1o LePage's about tape products for the next three
years.

Staples

Staples had been a LePage's customer for several
years. From 1990 to 1993, LePage's increased its
saies to Staples by 440%, growing from $357,000 to
$1,954,000 In 1994, Staples considered rteducing
suppiiers and asked LePage's and 3M for their best
offers in 1994, LePape's assumed that i 3M did make
a good offer, LePape's would have a chance to make
a betler proposal. LePage's did not make s lowest
offer, and 3M won the account. When LePage's went
back to Staples with a new price, it was told that the
decision had been made. LePage's claims that 3M
offered an extra 1% bonus rebate on Scotch products
if Staples eliminated LePage's as a supplier (a
“growth" rebate that only could be met by converling
all of Staple's private label business to 3M). 3M paid
Staples an advertising allowance in four payments
totalling $1,000,000 in 1995 and gave it $500,000 in
free merchandise delivered during Staples's fiscai
year 1994 3M refers to a "$1.5 million settlement”
with Staples and refers to multiple payments for dift
ferent purposes. LePape's, however, implies that
these payments bore some connection to Staples's
award of its second-tier tape business to 3M

Office Max
In 1998, after a dispute between Office Max and
LePage's, Office Max accepted IM's offer that
matched but did not beat LePage's's price. LePage's
objected to 3M's matching whatever price LePage's
offered, and also objected to 3M's "clout” payment.
Office Max required its suppliers to make payments
1o help advertise the Office Max name, and LePage's
had paid this "elout" payment in the years previous lo
1998 when it refused to pay it because of its dispute
with Office Max. Nevertheless, the buyer for Office
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Max testified that its decision to give its business lo
IM was not related to its pricing and rebate program
but rather 10 the consistency of ils service,

Walgreens
Walgreens had purchased private label tape [rom
LePage’s from 1992 until 1998, when it decided to
import tape from Taiwan. LePage's's chief executive
officer acknowledged thal LePage's did not lose the
account due to IM's activities.

American Stores

Until 1995, LePage's's sales of private label tape to
American Stores exceeded $1,000,000 annually. Ac-
cording to LePage’s, a month afier American Stores
decided that it would try to maximize 3M's PGF re-
bate, it shifted #s lape business to 3M. In 1995,
American Stores decided to stop buying LePage's
tape, principally because of guality concerns. In a let-
ter to James Kowieski, Senior Vice President of Sales
at LePape's, Kevin Winsauer, the manager of the
private label depariment at American, wrote: "After
much deliberation comparing the pros and cons of
LePage's *173 program and 3M's program, I have de-
cided to award the business to 3M. 3M's proposal
was very competitive and [ am sure LePage's would
meet their costs to retain the business. However, the
decision to move to 3M is primarily based on Qual-
ity " SJA 2050-51 (emphasis in original). When
American Stores decided 10 purchase from 3M, it was
not participating in any rebate programs, and Win-
sauer testified that he was not aware thal there were
rebate programs. He also testified that even without
the volume incenlive programs, 3M's price was still
slightly lower than LePage's's

Dollar General, CVS, and Sam's Club
LePage's lost Dollar General's private labei business
to a foreign supplier but later won the business back
According 1o LePage's’s president, Dollar General
used the bid for imporied tape to leverage a price re-
duction from LePage’s. 3IM bid on the CVS aceount,
but LePage's retained CVS as a customer by lowering
its prices and increasing its rebate. At Sam's Club,
LePage's tape had been selling well when its buyers
were directed by senior management to "maximize"
alt purchases from 3M to maximize the EGF/PGF re-
bate. Subsequently, Sam's Club stopped purchasing

from LePage's.

Other distributors and buying groups
LePage's claimed that 3M's pricing practices preven-
ted or hindered it from selling private label tape to
certain companies: (1) Costeo. Costeo, however, nev-
er has sold private label tape. (2) Office Depot. Of-
fice Depot also never has sold private label {ape.
LePage's tried lo convince Office Depot to buy
private label tape in 1991 or 1992 (before 3M imple-
mented the rebate programs), bul Office Depot de-
cided 1o continue purchasing 3M brand tape (3)
Pamida and Venture Stores. LePage’s claimed that
3M offered these slores discounts conditioned on ex-
clusivity, thereby preventing LePage’s from selling
private label tape to them LePage's lost Venture
Stores' business in 1989, five years before IM
provided the discount at issue. (4) Office Buying
Groups 3M offered an optional 0.3% price discount
to certain buying groups if they exclusively promoted
certain 3M products in their catalogs If the buying
group carried a lower value brand alternative to 3M's
main brand (its second line), then the group would re-
ceive a lower annual volume rebate. LePage's viewed
these kind of contract provisions as a "penalty” that
coerced buying group members to purchase tape only
from 3M. For example, if & buying group promoted
the products of a competitor, it lost rebates lor pur-
chases in three categories of products. 3M argues that
LePage's could have offered ils own discount or re-
bate but instead refused in one instance to pay the
standard promotional fee charged suppliers for inclu-
sion in a catalog.

Notwithstanding the evidence which demonstrates
that LePage’s lost business for reasons that could not
possibly be attributable to any unlawful conduct by
3M, it argues that 3M willfully maintained its mono-
noly through a "monopoly broth” of anticompetitive
and predatory conduct. 1 would reject LePage's's ar-
gument as [ agree with 3M that LePage's simply did
not establish that 3M’s conduct was illegal, as
LePage's did not demonstrate that 3M's pricing was
below cost (a point that is not in dispule) and, in the
absence of such proof, the record does not supply any
other basis on which we can uphold the judgment

There are two elements of a monopolization claim
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under section 2 of the Shenman Act: "(1) the posses-
sion of monopely power in the relevant market and
(2) the *174 willful acquisition or maintenance of
that power as distinguished from growth or develop-
ment as a consequence of a superior product, busi-
ness acumen, or historic accident." United States v.
Grinnell Corp.. 384 11.8. 563, 570-71, 86 S.Ct. 1698
1704, 16 1.Ed.2d 778 (1966) Willful maintenance
involves using anticompetitive conduct to "“foreclose
competition, lo gain a competitive advantage, or to
destroy a competitor.” Eastman Kadak Co. v. Image
Technical Servs, 504 1.5 451, 482-83 112 S.Ct
2072, 2090, 119 L.Ed.2d 2635 (1992} (intemal guola-
tion marks omitted). LePage's contends that 3M's
bundled rebates were anticompelitive and predatory
It also argues that 3M's other practices, such as exclu-
sionary contracts and the {iming of its rebates, were
also anticompetitive and predatory. 1 discuss these
claims in the order I have stated them,

LePage’s primarily complains of 3M's use of bundled
rebates. While, as the majority recognizes, we have
held that rebates on volume purchases are lawful, see
Advo, Ing. v. Philadelnhia Newsnapers, Ine., 531 F.3d
1191. 1203 (3d Cir.1995), LePage’s seeks to avoid
that principle by pointing out that 3M offered higher
rebates if customers met their target growth rate in
different product categories, in effect linking the sale
of private label tape with the sale of other products,
such as Scotch tape, which customers had to buy
from 3M. Thus, LePage's explains:
3M understood that, as a practical matter, every re-
tailer in the country had to carry Scotch-brand
tape .. It therefore decided to structure its rebates
into bundles that linked that product with the
product segment in which it did face competition
from LePage's (second-line tape). .. To increase the
leverage on the targeted segment, 3M further
linked rebates on transparent tape with those for
many other products. .. The rival would have to
‘compensate’ the customer for the amount of rebate
# would lose not only on the large volume of
Scotch-brand tape it had o buy, but also for rebates
on many other preducts purchased from 3M.
Br. of Appellee at 40.

In making its argument Le¢Page's relies in parl on
SniithKline Corp. v. Eli Lilly & Co., 573 F.2d 1036

(3d Cir, 1978), which, as the majority notes, does not
bind this en banc court but nevertheless can have pre-
cedential value In SmithKline. Eli Lilly & Co. had
two products, Keflin and Keflex, on which it faced no
competition, and one product, Kefzol, on which it
faced competition from SmithKline's product, Ancef
See id al 1061, Lilly offered a higher rebate of 3% to
companies that purchased specified guantities of any
three {which, practically speaking, meant combined
purchases of Kefzol, Keflin and Keflex) of Lilly's
cephalosporin products. See id. "Although hospitals
were free to purchase SmithKliine's Ancef with their
Keflin and Keflex orders with Lilly, thus aveiding the
penalties of a tie-in safe, [FN1] the practical effect of
that decision would be to deny the Ancefl purchaser
the 3% bonus rebate on all its cephalosporin
products." Id at 1061-62 (internal footnote added).
Because of Lilly's volume advantage, to offer a rebate
of the same net dollar amount as Liily's, SmithKline
wouid have had to offer *175 companies rebales ran-
ging from 16% for average size hospitals to 35% for
larger volume hospitals for their purchase of Ancef.
See id at 1062,

EN1. 3M also avoids the penalties of a tie-in
sale, because its customers were free to pur-
chase its Scotch tape by itself. To prove an
iliegal tie-in, a plaintiff must establish that
the agreement 1o sell one product was condi-
tioned on the purchase of a different or tied
product; the seller "hag sufficient economic
power with respect to the tying preduct to
appreciably restrain {ree competition in the
market for the tied produet and a "not insub-
stantial' amount of inlerstate commerce is
affected " Nopthern Pac. Ry, Co. v, United
States, 356 U8, 1. 6, 78 S.Ct. 514, 318, 2
L.Ed.2d 345 (1958}

We concluded that Lilly willfully acquired and main-
1ained monopoly power by linking products op which
it faced no competition (Keflin and Keflex) with a
competitive product, resulting in the sale of all three
products on a non-competitive basis in what other-
wise would have been a competitive market between
Arncel and Kefzol See id at 1065 Moreover, this ar-
rangement would force SmithKline to pay rebates on
one product equal to rebates paid by Lilly based on
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sales volume of three products. See id Expert testi-
mony and the evidence on pricing showed that in the
circumstances SmithKline's prospects for continuing
in the Ancef market were poor.

l.ePage's argues that it does not have to show that
3M's package discounts could prevent an equally effi-
cient firm from matching or besting 3M's package
discounts. In its brief, LePage's contends that its ex-
pert economist explained that 3M's programs and
cash paymenis have the same anticompelitive impact
regardiess of the cost structure of the rival suppliers

or their efficiency relative to that of 3M. See Br. of

Appellee at 43. LePage's alleges that the relative effi-
ciency or cost structure of the competitor simply af-
fects how long it would take 3M to foreclose the rival
from obtaining the volume of business necessary to
survive See id "Competition is harmed just the same
by the loss of the only existing competilive con-
straints on 3M in a market with high entry barriers."
Id The district court stated that LePage's introduced
substantial evidence that the anticompetitive effects
of IM's rebate program caused its losses. See
LePage's Inc. v 3M, No. Civ. A 97-3983, 2000 WL,
2R0350, at *7-*8 (E.D Pa. Mar.14, 20003 The major-
ity finds that "3M's conduct was at least as anticom-
petitive as the conduct which [we] held violated § 2
in SmithKline." Maj. Op. at 157.

I disagree with the majority's use of SmithKline
SmithKline showed that it could not compete by ex-
plaining how much it would have had to lower prices
for both small and big customers to do so. SmithK-
line ascertained the rebates that Lilly was giving to
customers on ali three products and calculated how
much it would have had to lower the price of its
product if the rebates were all attributed to the one
competilive product. In contrast, LePage's did not
even attempt to show that it could net compete by
caleulaling the discount that it would have had to
provide in order to match the discounts offered by
3M through its bundled rebates, and thus its brief
does noi point to evidence along such lines

While I recognize that it is obvious from the size of
IM's rebates as compared to LePage's's sales that
LePage's wouid have had to make substantial reduc-
tions in prices to match the rebates 3M paid to partic-

ular customers, LePage's did not show the amount by
which it lowered its prices in actual monelary figures
or by percentage to compete with 3M and how its
profitability thus was decreased Rather, LePage's
merely maintains, through the use of an expert, that it
would have had to cut its prices drastically lo com-
pete and thus would have gone out of business. Fur-
thermore, it is critically mportant o recognize that
LePage's had 67% of the private label business at the
time of the trial. Thus, notwithstanding 3M's rebates,
LePage's was able 1o retain most of the private label
business, In the circumslances, it 15 ironical that
LePage's complains of 3M's use of monopoly power
as the undisputed fact is that LePage's, not 3M, was
the dominant suppiier of private label tape both be-
fore and afler 3M initiated *176 its rebale programs.
Indeed, the record suggests that inasmuch as
LePage's could not make a profit with a 67% share of
the private label sales, it must have needed to be es-
sentiaily the exclusive supplier of such tape for its
business to be profitable as it in fact was when it had
an 88% share of the private label tape sales business

Although T am not evaluating the expert's method of
calculating damages as I would not reach the dam-
ages issue, | emphasize that simply pointing to an ex-
pert io supporl the contention that the company
would have pone out of business, without providing
even the most basic pricing information, is insuffi-
cient. "Expert testimony is useful as a guide lo inter-
preting marke!l facts, but it is not a substitie for
them.” Brooke Group Lid. v, Brown & Williamson
Tobacoo Corp, SO0 118 209 242 113 S.CGt 2578,

2598, 125 L.Ed.2d 168 (1993); see also Muatsushita
Elec. Indus, Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 4753 1.8, 574,
594 n. 19, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 1360 n, 19. 89 { Ed.2d
538 (1986 Adve, 51 FE.3d at L1198-99; Firmin Af-
lantic _Airwavs Lid, v, British Airways PLC, 69
F.Supp.2d 571. 579 (S.D.N.Y.1999} ("[Aln experls
opinion is not a substitute for a plaintiff's obligation
to provide evidence of facts that support the applicab-
ility of the expert's opinion to the case."}), aff’'d, 251
E.ad.236.02d Cir 2001). Without such pricing inform-
ation, it is difficult even to begin to estimate how
much of the market share LePage's lost was due to
3M's bundled rebates. In fact, the evidence that I de-
scribed above conclusively demonstrates that
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LePage's lost private sale tape business for reasons
not related to 3IM's rebates. Furthermore, some ex-
perts have questioned the validity of atiributing all
the rebates 1o the one competitive product in situ-
ations such as these [FN2] 1 do not need, however, to
decide the validity of that method of calculation, as
LePage's does notl even attempt {o meet that less strict
lest by calculating how much it would have had to
lower is prices to match the rebates, even if they all
were aggregated and atiributed to private label tape
EN3

FN2. One court has mentioned a hypothetic-
al situation where a low-cost shampoo
maker could not match a competitor's pack-
age discount for shampoo and conditioner
even though both products were priced
above their respective costs. See Ortho Dia-
gnastic Sys., Inc. v, Abboit Lahs,, Inc., 920
E.Supp. 455, 467 (SD.N.Y.1996). In that
case, the courl suggesied that the bundled
price could be unlawful under section 2 even
though neither item in the package was
priced below cost. H the enlire package dis-
count were aitribuled o the one product
where the two parlies compele, the low-cost
shampoo maker could not lower its prices on
the product enough to match the total dis-
count without selling below its cost. See id
al 467-69 Commentators, however, sug-
gests that this analysis is incomrect. See 11
PHILLIP E. AREEDA & HERBERT HOV-
ENKAMP, ANTITRUST LAW: AN ANA-
LYSIS OF ANTITRUST PRINCIPLES
AND THEIR APPLICATION ¥4 749, at 467
n.6 {rev ed 1996).

One aspect of this method of calculation
worth noting is that the volume of the
products ordered has a drastic effect on how
much the competitor would have to lower its
prices to compete. For example, suppose in
a similar rebate program, a company was the
oniy producer of products A and B but faced
competition in C If a customer orders 100
units each of A, B, and C at a price o $1.00
each, a 3% rebate wouid be $9.60 (3% of the
total of $300.00). I the rebate on all three

products were atiributed to product C, then
the competitor would have to lower its price
10 $0.91 in order to compete with it. The res-
uits would be starkly different, however, if a
customer orders 100 units of A and B but
only needs 10 units of C. Then the 3% re-
bate on the total purchase amount of
521000 would be 36 .30 If the rebate was
attributed solely to product C, then a com-
petitor would have to lower its price 1o $ 37
on product C in order to match the com-
pany's price.

EN3. The closest LePage's comes to supply-
ing such information in its brief is its state-
ment that "LePage's made repeated efforts to
save its lape business with Staples, reducing
its prices 10 1990 levels, and then reducing
them again, to keep its plant open and
people working " Br. of Appellee at 11, This
is not close enough. Of course, Lepage's's
prices overall were low enough for it to have
67% of the private label business.

*177 LePage's also has not satisfied the stricter tests
devised by other couris considering bundled rebates
in situations such as that here. In a case brought by a
manufacturer of products used in screening blood
supply for viruses, Ortho Diagnostic Svstems, lne. v,
dbhort  Laborarories,. Inc.. 920 F.Supp.. 453
(S.D.N.Y.1996), the district courl held, inrer alia,
that the defendant's discount pricing of products in
packages did not violate the Sherman Act The de-
fendant, Abbo#t Laboratories, manufactured all five
of the commeonly used tests to screen the blood sup-
ply for viruses. Ortho claimed that Abbolt violated
sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act by contracting
with the Council of Community Blood Centers lo
give those members advantageous pricing if they pur-
chased a package of Jour or five lesis [rom Abbott,
thereby using its monepoly position in some of the
tests to foreclose or impair competition by Orthe in
the sale of those tests available from both companies,
See id. al 458, The district court stated that to prevail
on a moanopolization claim in "a case in which a
monopolist (1} faces competition on only part of a
complementary group of products, (2) offers the
products both as a package and individually, and (3)
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effectively forces ils competilors to absorb the differ-
ential between the bundled and unbundled prices of
the product in which the monopolist has market
power," the plaintiffl must allege and prove “either
that (a) the monopolist has priced below its average
variable cost or (b) the plaintiff is at least as efficient
a preducer of the competitive product as the defend-
ant, bui thal the defendant's pricing makes it unprofit-
able for the plaintiff to continue to produce" /d at
469.

Holding that the discount package pricing did not vi-
olate the Sherman Act, the Ortho court explained that
any other rule would involve too substantial a risk
that the anlitrust laws would be used to protect an in-
efficient competitor against price competition that
would benefit consumers. See id at 469-70 (*The an-
titrust laws were nol intended, and may not be used,
{o require businesses to price their products at unreas-
onably high prices (which penalize the consumer) so
that less efficient competitors can stay in business ™)
(internal quotation marks omitted)

In this case, as the majority acknowledges, LePage's
now does not contend that 3M priced its products be-

low average variable cost, an allegation which, if

made, in any event would be difficult to prove. See
Adve 51 F.3d at 1198- 99 Morcover, LePage's's eco-
nomist conceded that LePage's is not as efficient a

tape preducer as 3M. Thus, in this case section 2 of

the Sherman Act is being used 1o protect an ineffi-
cient producer from a competitor not using predatory
pricing but rather seiling above cost. While the ma-
jority contends thal Brooke Group, a case on which
3M heavily relies, is distinguishable as none of the
defendants there had a monopoly in the market, the
fact remains that the Court in describing section 2 of
the Sherman Act said flat out in Brooke Group that "a
plaintiff seeking to establish competitive injury from
a rival's low prices must prove that the prices com-
plained of are below an appropriate measure of is
rival's costs." Brooke Group, 509 US. at 222, 113
0.6L.at 2387, LePage's simply did not do this.

I realize that the majority indicates that "LePage's un-
kike the plaintiff in Brooke Group. does not make a
predatory pricing *178 claim " Maj. Op at 151, But
that circumstance weakens rather than strengthens

LePage's's position as it merely confirms the lawful-
ness of 3M's conduct Furthermeore, the circumstiance
that 3M is not dealing in an oligopolistic market
should not matter as the harm that LePage's claims 1o
have suffered from the bundled rebates would be no
less if inflicted by multiple competitors. Moreover,
monepolist or not, 3M, even in the absence of
LePage’s and Tesa from the privale label business,
would not be the only supplier of private label tape
for there are foreign suppliers as is demonstrated
plainly by the evidence that botih Walgreens and Dol-
lar General dealt with such suppliers

Contrary to the majority’s view, this is not a situation
in which there is no business justification for 3M's
actions. This point is important inasmuch as it is dif
ficult 1o distinguish legitimate competition from ex-
clusionary conduct that harms competition, see
United Statey v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 38
(D.C.Cir), cert denied, 334115, 952, 122 S.Ci. 350
151 L.Ed.2d 264 (2601), and some cases suggest that
when a company acts against it econoimic interests
and there is no valid business justification for its ac-
tions, then it is a good sign that its acts were intended
to eliminale competition,

For example, Aspen Skitng Co. v. Aspen Highlands
Skitng Corp., 472 13,5, 585, 608. 105 S.Ct. 3847,
2860, 86 L .Ed.2d 467 {1983), discussed by the ma-
jority, sets forth the lack of a valid business reason as
a basis for finding liability In that case, the Court af-
firmed a jury verdict for the plainti{f under section 2
of the Sherman Act where the defendant monopolist
had stopped cooperating with the plaintiff to offer a
multi-venue skiing package for Aspen skiers. The
Cour! held that because the defendant had acled con-
trary to its economic interests, by losing business and
customers, there was no other rationale for its con-
duct except that it wished to eliminate the plaintiff as
a competitor. See id at 608, 105 5,.CL_al 2860 see
alvo Lastman Kodak, 504 11,8, 81 483, 112 S.Ct. a1
2091 (exclusionary conduct properly is condemned if
valid business reasons do not justify conduct that
tends to impair the opportunities of a monopolist's
rivals or if a valid asserted purpose would be served
fully by less restrictive means).

On the other hand, in Concord Boat Corp. v. Brun-
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owick Corp, 207 F.3d 1039, 1043, 1063 (8th Cir.),
cert denied, 5331 _1).8. 979. 121 S5.Ct. 428, 148
L.Ed.2d 436 (2000}, where boat builders brought an
antitrust action against a stern drive engine manufac-
turer, the eourt held, inter alia, that the evidence was
insufficient to find that the engine manufacturer's dis-
count programs restrained trade and monopolized the
market. Brunswick offered a higher percentage dis-
count when boat builders bought a higher percentage
of their engines from it, but there was no allegation
that its pricing was below cost See jd_at 1044, 1062,
In Concord Boat the district court cited the district
court opinion in this case when 3M filed its motion lo
dismiss. See LePage’s fng. v, 3M, No. Civ, A,
97-3983, 1997 WL 734005 (E.D}Pa. Nov 14, 1997)
The Concord Beat district court agreed with the
plaintiff that it was not the price (above cost or not)
that was relevanl but the "strings" attached to the
price and that the district courl here was comrect 1o
distinguish Brooke Group since there were mo
“strings" attached (bundled rebates) in Brooke Group.
In Concord Boat, the "strings" attached were the ex-
clusivity provisions. See Concord Boat Corp. v,
Brupowick . Corp, 21 FSupp2d 923 930
(E.D.Ark.1998)

The Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit,
however, disagreed with the district *179 court in
Concord Boat The court of appeals opinion reflected
an apphcation of Brooke Group's strong stance favor-
ing vigorous price competition and expressing skepti-
cism of the ability of a court to separate anticompetit-
ive from procompetitive actions when il comes (o
above-cost strategic pricing See Concord Boat, 207
E.3d at 1061, More importantly, the court perceived
that Brooke Group should be considered even with
claims based on pricing with strings. See id. "If a firm
has discounted prices 1o a leve} that remains above
the firm's average variable cost, the plaintiff must
overcome a strong presumption of legality by show-
ing other factors indicating that the price charged is
amticompetitive " Jd (citing Moigan v. Ponder, 892
F.2d 1335, 1360 (8th Cir. 1989)) (internal quotation
marks omitted}. The court stated that a gection 2 de-
fendant's proffered business justification is the most
important factor in determining whether its chal-
lenged conduct is not competition on the merits. See

id at 1062, The court distinpuished cases such as
SmithKline and Ortho where products were bundied
since they involved two markets. Sez id Of course,
here we are dealing with a single market.

Uniike the situation of the defendant in Aspen, 3M's
pricing structure and bundled rebates were not con-
trary to ils economic interests, as they likely in-
creased s sales. In fact, that is exactly what LePage's
is complaining abeut. Furthermore, other than the ob-
vious reasons such as increasing bulk sales, market
share and customer loyally, there are several other
potential "procompetitive” or valid business reasons
for 3M's pricing structure and bundied rebates: effi-
ciency in having single invoices, single shipments
and uniform pricing programs for various products.
Moreover, the record demonstrates that, with the
biggest customers, 3M'’s rebates were not eliminating
the competitive process, as LePage's still was able to
retain some customers through negotiation, and even
though it lost other customers, the losses were atirib-
utable to their switching to foreign suppliers or chan-
ging suppliers because of quality or service without
regard to the rebates. Furthermore, overali LePage's
was quite successful in holding its share of the
private label sales as it had 67% of the business ot the
time of the trial.

In sum, I conclude that as a matier of law 3M did not
violale section 2 of the Sherman Act by reason of its
bundied rebates even though its practices harmed its
competitors. The majority decision which upholds the
contrary verdict risks curtailing price competition and
a method of pricing beneficial to customers because
the bundled rebates effectively lowered their costs. 1
regard this result as a significant mistake which can-
not be justified by a fear that somehow 3M will raise
prices unressonably later. In this regard I reiterale
that in addition to LePage's there are foreign suppli-
ers of transparent tape so that with or without
LePage's there will be constraints on 3M's pricing

LePage’s also ciaims that, through a variety of other
allegedly anticompetitive actions, 3M prevented
LePage's from competing. LePage's asserts that IM
foreclosed competition by directly purchasing sole-
supplier status. There was some dispute as to whether
the contracts were conditioned on 3M being the sole
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supplier, and 3M claims that there are only two cus-
tomers for which there is any evidence of a sole sup-
plier agreement. I recognize, however, that although
most of 3M's contracts with customers were not con-
ditioned on exclusivity, practically speaking some
customers dropped LePage's as a supplier to maxim-
ize the rebates that 3M was offering. Moreover,
*180United Shoe Machinery Corp. v, United States,
238 U.S. 451, 458, 42 §.CL 363, 365. 66 1 .Ed. 708
(1922), explained that a contract that does not contain
specific agreements nol to use the products of a com-
petitor still will come within the Clayton Act as to
exclusivity if its practical effect is to prevent such
use.

Even assuming, however, that 3M did have exclusive
contracts with some of the customers, LePage's has
notl demonstrated that 3M acted illegally, as one-year
exclusive contracts have been held 10 be reasonable
and not unduly restrictive. See Fed, Trade Comm'n v,
Moiion Pictype ddver. Serv. Co. 344 1.8 397
395-96, 73 S.C1. 361, 363-64. 97 L.Ed. 426 (1953)
(holding that evidenice sustained the Commission's
finding that the distributor's exclusive screening
agreements with theater operators unreasonably re-
strained competition, but stating that the Commission
had found that the term of one-year exclusive con-
tracts had become a standard practice and would not
be an undue restraint on competition). See also Adve,
SLE3d at 1204, In Tampa Electric Co. v. Nashville
Coal Co., 363 U.S. 320, 3127 81 S.Ct. 623, 627-28. 3
1.Ed.2d 380 (1961), the Court stated that even if in
practical application a contract is found 1o be an ex-
clusive-dealing arrangement, it does not violate sec-
tion 3 of the Claylon Act unless the court believes it
probable that performance of the contract will fore-
close competition in a substantial share of the line of
commerce aflected. Using that standard, aithough
LePage's's market share in privale label tape has
fallen from 88% 10 67%, it has not been established
that, as a result of the allegedly exclusive conlracts,
competition was foreclosed in a substantial share of
the line of commerce affected. Indeed, in view of
LePage's’s iwo-thirds share of the private label busi-
ness, its attack on exclusivity agreements is attenu-
ated,

There appear 1o be very few cases supporting liability

based on segtion 2 of the Sherman Act for exclusive
dealing, as some cases suggest that if, as is the case
here under the jury's findings, there is no liability un-
der section 3 of the Clayton Act, it is more difficult to
find liability under the Sherman Act since its scope is
more restricted, [FN4] In any event, the record shows
only two allepedly exclusive contracts (with the Ven-
ture and Pamida stores), and "[bjecause an exclusive
deal affecting a small fraction of a market clearly
cannot have the requisite harmful effect upon com-
pefition, the requirement of a significant degree of
foreclosure serves a useful screening function.” Afi-
crosofl, 253 F.3d al 68 The Microsefi court ex-
plained that although exclusive contracts are com-
menplace, particularly in the field of distribution, in
certain circumstances the use of exclusive contracts
may give rise o a section 2 violation even though the
contracts foreclose less than the roughly 40 to 50%
share usually required to establish a section | viola-
tion. See id at 69-70. In this case, it cannot be con-
cluded that the two contracts with Venture and Pam-
ida were responsible for the total drop in LePage's's
market share. Furthermore, even if all 3M's contracts
were considered exclusive, LePage's's total drop in
market share was only 21%, and some of this loss
was shown in the record 1o be due to guality or ser-
vice consistency concerns, as well as foreign compet-
ition, rather than to 3M's tactics Therefore, there was
not enough foreclosure of the market to have an anti-
competitive effect

EN4. Tt is more common for charges of ex-
clusive dealing to be brought under section |
ol the Sherman Act or the Claylon Act,
which the jury found that 3M did not viol-
ate See, eg, Barr Lahs. Inc. v. dbbout
Labs, 978 F 2498, 110 (3d Cir.1992).

LePage's also claims that by calculating the rebates
only ence a year, 3M made it *181 more difficult for
a purchaser to pass on the savings to its customers,
thereby making it harder for companies to switch
suppliers and keeping retail prices and margins high.
As I discussed above, one-year contracts may be con-
sidered standard, and even if they make it more un-
likely that rebates are passed on in the form of lower
retail prices, the discounts could be applied towards
lowering retail prices the following year or towards
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other costs by companies that are factored into the re-
tail prices (such as adverlising). In the circumstances,
I am satisfied that this conduct does not qualify as
predatory or anticompetitive so as Lo establish liabil-
ity under seclion 2 of the Sherman Act,

LePage's also alleges that 3M entered the retail
private label tape portion of the market to destroy the
market and thereby increase its sales of branded tape,
but the case iaw does not support liability under sec-
tion 2 for this type of action. In Breoke Group, 509
018, a 2135, 113 5.C1, at 2584, Lipgeit/Brooke Group
alleged that Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corpora-
tion {"B & W™ sold generic cigareties in order {o de-
crease losses of sales in its branded cigareties B & W
sold generic cigareties at the same Hst price as Lig-
gett but also offered large volume rebates to certain
wholesalers so they would buy their generic cigar-
ettes from B & W. See id._at 216. 113 S.Ct. at 2584
B & W wanted to take a larger part of the peneric
market from Liggett and drive Liggett lo raise prices
on generic cigareties, which B & W would match,
thereby encouraging consumers to switch back to
branded cigareties. See id. at 216- 17. 113 5.CL at
2584 The Court held that because B & W had no
reasonable prospect of recouping its predatory fosses
and could not inflict the injury to competition that an-
titrust laws prohibit, it did not violate the Robinson-Pat-
man Act or the Sherman Act. See jd.at 243, 113
S.CL.at 2598 In this case, however, 3M did not use
below average variable cost pricing (LePape's does
not charge predatory pricing) and therefore 3M did
not have predatory costs to recoup.

I recognize that LePape’s attempts to distinguish
Brooke Group on the ground that "3M used other
techniques [/ ¢, techniques other than predatory pri-
cing] to extinguish the private-label category subject-
ing iself to different legal standards,” Br. of Appellee
at 535, but I nevertheless cannot accept LePage's's ar-
gument on this poini. While LePage's does not con-
tend that 3M engaged in predatory pricing, it does
contend that the goal of 3M's other conduct was "o
extinguish the private-label category, subjecting itself
to different legal standards" than those applicable in
Brooke Group See id Moreover, though 3M denies
that it was attempting to eliminate the private label
category of transparent tape, the record supports a

finding that it had that intent. I am satisfied, however,
that its efforis to eliminate the private label aspect of
the transparent tape market are not unlawful as, "ex-
amined withou! reference to its effects on competit-
ors,” it is evident that in view of 3M's dominance in
brand tape, that it was rational for it to want the sale
of tape to be concentrated in that category of the mar-
ket. See Stearns. Airport Equip. Co. v. FMC Corp.
170 F.3d StR, 523 (51h Cir.1999). Thus, we should
not uphold the verdict on that basis.

Accordingly, I conclude that 3M's actions in the re-
cord, including the bundied rebates and other ele-
ments of the "monopoly broth," were not anticompet-
itive and predatory as {o violate section 2 of the Sher-
man Act. {ENS] Thus, I would reverse the *182 judg-
ment of the district court and remand the case for
entry of judgment in favor of 3M. Judge Scirica and
Tudge Alito join in this opinion

EN3, Whilte I do not discuss the point | agree
with the district court's disposition of the at-
tempted maintenance of monopoly claim.

324 F.3d 141, 2003-1 Trade Cases P 73,989, 61 Fed
R.Evid Serv. 60
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Briefs and Other Related Documents

United States Court of Appeals,
Sixth Circuit.
William C. LEWIS, Plainiiff-Appellant,
v
ACB BUSINESS SERVICES, INC , Defendant-Ap-
peliee (96-3093/3498),

American Express Travel Related Services Company,
Ine.; James P. Connors,
Defendants-Appellees (96-3498),

Nos. 96-3093, 96-3498.

Arpued Jan 28, 1997,
Decided Jan. 30, 1998,

Debtor brought action against debt collector, alleging
violations of Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA) and Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act
(QCSPA). Following jury trial, the United States
District Court for the Southerns District of Ohio, Mi-
chael R, Merz, United States Magistrate Judge, 911
E.Supn. 290, granted debt collector's molion for judg-
ment as a matter of law.  Afler creditor sued debtor
in state courl to recover unpaid balance, debtor filed
second action alleging that creditor, debt collector,
and attoney filed state action in retaliation, in viola-
tion of FDCPA, OCSPA, and Equal Credit Opportun-
ity Act (ECOA). Creditor and debt collector moved
to dismiss, and attorney moved to strike complaint
against him. The District Court, 8. Arthur Spiegel,
I, granted molions, treating altorney's motion as one
for summary judgment. Debtor appealed judgments
in both cases. The Court of Appeals, Boggs, Circuit
Judge, held that: (1} letter that debt collector sent to
debtor after he had exercised statuiory right to de-
mand cessation of communications was permissible
comimunication; {2) debl collector's use of pseud-
onym on letter sent to debtor did not violate FDCPA;
(3) debt coliector established bona fide error defense
1o debtor's FDCPA claim based on telephone contact
which occurred after debtor exercised right to de-
mand that collection communications cease; (4} debt-
or failed to state retaliation claim under ECOA based
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on creditor’s act in suing to collect undisputed debt;
(5) creditor's conduct in suing deblor in state court to
collect outstanding debt did not violate FDCPA; and
{6) creditor was not "supplier” within meaning of
OCSPA.

Affirmed.

Ryan, Circuit Judge, dissented and {iled a separate
opinion.

West Headnotes

1] Federat Courts €776

170Bk 776 Maost Cited Cases

Motiens for judgment as a matter of law are reviewed
de novo.

[2] Federal Courts €->764
1 70Bl764 Most Cited Cases

12] Federal Courts €=>765
170Bk765 Most Cited Cases

{2} Federal Courts €798
L70Bk 798 Most Cited Cases

12] Federal Courts €801

170BkR&8] Most Ciled Cages

On review of grant of motion for judgment as a mat-
ter of law, Court of Appeals does not weigh evidence,
evaluate credibility of witnesses, or substitute its own
judgment for thal of jury; rather, court must view
evidence in light most favorable to nonmoving parly
and give that parly benefit of all reasonable infer-
ences

[3] Federal Courts €764

170Bk764 Most Cited Cases

{3] Federal Courts €765

1708k 763 Most Cited Cases

On review of grant of motion for judgment as a mat-
ter of law, Court of Appeals must affirm district court
if it is convinced that there is complete absence of
pieading or proof on issue or issues material to cause
of action or when there are no coniroverted issues of
fact upon which reasonable men could differ.
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14] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €=°214
20TL214 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 92Hk 10 Consumer Protection)
Ietler that debt collector sent to deblor who had exer-

cised statulory right to demand cessation of commu-
nications, giving debior opportunity to pay debt
through various payment plans, was permissible com-
munication under provision of Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act (FDCPA) permitling debt collector to
notify debtor of collector's right to invoke specified
remedies, inasmuch as leiler was properly construed
as {ype of settlernent offer and debt collector nor-
mally invoked such remedy . Consumer Credit Protec-
tion Act, § BOS{c}2), as amended, 15 U.S.CA. &
1692¢{c)2}.

[5] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €214
29Tk214 Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 92Fik3 Consumer Protection)

[5] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €215
28Tk2135 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 921k3 Consumer Protection}
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) is inten-
ded to eliminate unfair debt-coliection practices, such
as late-night telephone calls, false representations,
and embarrassing communications. Consumer Credit
Protection Act, § 802 et seq, as amended, 135
US.CA. § 1692 et seq.

[6] Statutes €=2219(6.1)

361k219(6.1) Most Cited Cases

Federal Trade Commission (FTC) advisory opinions
regarding  Fair Debt  Collection Practices Act
{(FDCPA) are entitled to deference only to the extent
that their logic is persuasive. Consumer Credit Pro-
tection Act, § 802 et seq., as amended, ]3 IJ.S.CA. §
1692 et seq.

171 Antitrust and Trade Regulation €55214
297k214 Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 9211k 10 Consumer Protection)

Letter which notified debtor who had demanded debt
collector to cease communications of debl collector’s
right to invoke specified remedies was nol trans-
formed into unlawful demand for payment due to
statemnent, at bottom of letter, that it was attempt to

collect debt; statement was required by version ol
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Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) then in
effect, Consumer Credit Protection Act, § 805(c)(2),
as amended, 15 UL.S.C.A. § 1692c(c)2); § 8O7(11),
as amended, 15 US.C{1994 Ed.) § 1692¢e(11)

18] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €-5214
29Tk2 14 Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 92Hk10 Consumer Prolection)}

Debt collector's use of pseudonym on letler sent to
debtor did not violale provision of Fair Debl Collec-
tion Practices Act (FDCPA) proscribing use of false
representation or deceptive means lo collect debt or
obtain information concerning consumer, even
though pseudonym was not assigned to particular in-
dividual and was used to alert employees to status of
account; debtor suffered no harm or prejudice as res-
ult of pseudonym's use, and only one notified of ac-
count status was debt collector, which was already
aware of it. Consumer Credit Proteclion Act, §
807(10), as amended, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1692e(10)

18] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €214
297Tk214 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 92Hk 10 Consumer Protection)
In determining whether debt collector's practice is de-
ceptive within meaning of Fair Debt Collection Prac-
tices Act (FDCPA), courls apply objective test based
on understanding of least sophisticated consumer
Consumer Credit Proteclion Act, § 802 et seq., as
amended, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1692 et seq.

{10] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €216
29Tk216 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 92Hk10 Consumer Protection}
Debt collecior established bona {ide error defense to
debtor's Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA)
claim based on telephone contact from debt collector
which occurred after debtor exercised right to de-
mand that cellection communications cease; coniact
resulted from coding error by creditor in returning
file 1o debt collector which made it appear that ac-
count was new, debt collector's manual and computer
systems were reasonably adapted o avoid such er-
rors, and error was corrected in time to prevent mail-
ing of related computer-generated letter. Consumer
Credit Protection Act, §§ 805, 813{c), as amended,
15 ULS.CA. §81692¢, 1692k(c).
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111} Antitrust and Trade Regulation €216
20T%216 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 92Hk10 Consumer Protection)
To establish entitlement to bona fide error defense to
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) viola-
tion, debt collector must only show that violation was
unintentional, not that communication itself was un-
intentional. Consumer Credit Protection Act, §
813(c), as amended, 15 1U.8.C.A. § 1692k(c).

[12] Federal Civil Procedure €==1272.1
P70AK1272.1 Most Cited Cases

Scope of discovery is within broad discretion of trial
court

{13] Federal Courts €820
170Bk82¢ Most Cited Cases

[13] Federal Courts €891

1 70Bk891 Maost Cited Cases

Order denying further discovery will be grounds for
reversal only if it was abuse of discretion resulting in
substantial prejudice.

114} Federal Civil Procedure €521272.1
170Ak1272.1 Most Cited Cases

[14] Federal Civil Procedure €21401

1 70AK140] Most Cited Cases

Scope of examination permitted under rule governing
discovery is broader than that permitted at trial; test is
whether line of interrogation is reasonably calculated
to lead to discovery of admissible evidence.
Fed.Rules Civ.Proc Rule 26(b), 28 U.S C.A.

[15] Federal Civil Procedure €=21272.1
170Ak1272.1 Most Cited Cases

It is proper to deny discovery of matter that is relev-
ant only to claims or defenses that have been
stricken, or to events that occwred before applicable
limitations period, unless information sought is other-
wise relevant 1o issues in case. EgdRules
Civ.Proc.Rule 26(b). 28 US.C.A.

[16] Federal Civil Procedure €=51587

170Ak 1587 Most Cited Cases

Denial of credit card debtor's motion to compel debt
collector to produce remainder of contract between it-
seif and creditor was not abuse of discretion with re-
gard to debtor's claim that contract could have been
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used to show that debt collector could not collect
debis from supplemental cardholders, when claim
that debi collector violaied Fair Debt Collection Prac-
tices Act (FDCPA) by trying to contact supplemental
cardholder was dismissed as being outside

pleadings, and district court found claim had not been
tried by consent and was barred by statute of limita-
tions. Consumer Credit Protection Act, § 802 et seq.,
as amended, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1692 et seq.

[17] Federal Civil Procedure €=1587
170AKk1587 Most Cited Cases
Debtor was not entitled to discovery of contract
between creditor and debt coliector in action against
debt collector for alleged violations of Fair Debt Col-
lection Practices Act (FDCPA) and Ohio Consumer
Sales Practices Act (QOCSPA), given that deblor did
not dispute existence of debt and debt collector did
not dispute that it sent lelter al issue, and therefore
questions of whether letter was sent pursuant lo con-
tract or whether debt coliector acted outside terms of
coniract were not relevant o issue of whether its ac-
tions constituted violations. Consumer Credit Protec-
tion Act, § 802 et seq., as amended, 15 US.CA. &
1692 et seq; Ohio R.C, § 134501 et seq.
{18] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €365
29Tk365 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 92Hk40 Consumer Protection)
District courl's opinion provided sufficient findings
of fact and conclusions of law to support its decision
that debt collector did not violate Ohio Consumer
Sales Practices Act {OCSPA) when court fully de-
tailed alleged violations of both OCSPA and Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), debtor did
not put on additional evidence reievant to OCSPA
claims, and court fully detailed reasons for rejecting
FDCPA claims Consumer Credit Protection Act, §
802 et seq., as amended, 15 US.C A, § 1692 et seq,
Ohio R.C. §8 1345.02(A), 1345.03(A)

[19] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €50353
29Tk353 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 92Hk37 Consumer Protection)
Statute of limitations for Fair Debt Collection Prac-
tices Act (FDCPA) claims is one year. Consumer
Credit Protection Act, § 802 et seq, as amended, 15
L.8.CA. § 1692 et seq
[28] Antitrust and Trade Reguiation €369
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29Tk369 Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 92Hk39 Consumer Protection)

Debtor failed to show that debt coilector was exposed
to treble actual damages or $200 statutory damages
pursuant to provision of Ohio Consumer Sales Prac-
tices Act (OCSPA) granting such damages for viola-
tions comparable to specific acts and practices previ-
ously determined to have violated OCSPA; deblor
improperly read cases upon which he relied too
broadly and without reference to specific acts com-
mitted in those cases Ohio R.C. § 1345.09(B),

{21} Federal Courts €776
170Bk776 Most Cited Cases

[21] Federal Courts €794

170Bk794 Most Cited Cases

Dismissal of complaint for failure to state claim is
subject to de novo review and all factual allegations
are taken as true. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc Rule $2(b}6)
28US.CA

[22] Federal Civil Procedure €21773
F170Ak1773 Most Cited Cases
Complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state

claim uniess it appears beyond doubt that plaintiff

can prove no set of facts in support of his claim
which would entitle him to relief Fed.Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 12(b)}6). 28 US.C.A.

123] Federal Civil Procedure €623

170Ak623 Most Cited Cases

Fundamental purpose of pleadings under federal pro-
cedural rules is to give adequate notice to parties of
each side's claims and to allow cases o be decided on
merits afler adequate development of facts. Fed Rules
Civ.Prog.Rule 12(0)6). 28 1J.S.C.A.

124} Federal Civil Procedure €=1835

170Ak1835 Most Cited Cases

Only weil-pleaded facts must be taken as true in de-
ciding motion to dismiss for {failure to state claim; tri-
al court need not accept as true legal conclusions or
unwarranted {actual inferences. Fed.Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 12(bu6}. 28 U.S.C A

125] Federal Courts €=>794
1708%794 Most Cited Cases
Admonishment 1o construe liberally plaintiff's claim
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when evaluating dismissal for failure to state claim
does not relieve plaintiff of his obligation to satisfy
{ederal notice pleading requirements and allege more
than bare assertions of legal conclusions. Fed Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 12(b¥6). 28 U.S.C A

126} Federal Civil Procedure €673

170Ak673 Most Cited Cases

Complaint must contain either direct or inferential al-
legations respecting all material elements to sustain
recovery under some viable legal theory

127] Censumer Credit €231

928k Most Cited Cases

Viplation of Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA)
cannot be shown by simply alleging that creditor is
attempling to collect on debt. Consumer Credit Pro-
tection Act, § 701(a)}(3), as amended, 15 US.CaA. §
1691{n)(3).

[28] Consumer Credit €231

92Bk31 Most Cited Cases

Consistent with burden allocation ramework used in
retaliation-based employment claims, to make out
prima facie case of retaliation under Equal Credit Op-
portunity Act (ECOA), debtor had to allege facts sul-
ficient to show that (1) he engaged in statuforily pro-
tected activity, (2) suffered adverse credit action, and
(3) causal connection existed between two. Consumer
Credit Protection Act, § 701(a){3), as amended, 15
US.C.A §1691(a)3)

{29] Consumer Credit €31

92Bk31 Most Cited Cases

Debtor failed to state retaliation claim under Equal
Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) based on credilor's
act in suing to collect undisputed debt afler debtor as-
serted Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA)
action against debt collector acling on creditor's be-
half; debtor did not suffer reguisite adverse action,
given that ECOA did not cover actions taken in con-
nection with account in default or delinquency, nor
did he establish required causal connection between
his action and creditor's action. Consumer Credit Pro-
tection Act, §8 701(a)y(3), (d)6), 802 et seq, as
amended, 15 1LS.C.A. 88 1691(aX¥3)., (d)(6), 1692 et
seq.; 12 C.FR. § 202.2(e)(2¥ii).
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130] Consumer Credit €231

928k31 Most Cited Cases

Attorney who represented creditor and debt collector
acting on creditor's behalf was not "credilor” within
meaning ol Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA)
for purposes of debtor's retaliation claim, given ab-
sence of facts showing that attorney was creditor's as-
signee or that he regularly extended, renewed, or con-
tinued credit or regularly arranged for extension, re-
newal, or continuation of credit Consumer Credit
Prolection Act, §§ 701(a)(3), 702(e), as amended, 15
U.S.CA. §§ 1691{a)3), 1691ale); 12 CER. §§
202.2(0, 202.4, 202 .5(a}.

131] Consumer Credit €231
92Bk31 Most Cited Cases

Debt collector was not "creditor” within meaning of

Equal Credit Opportunity Act, for purposes of debt-
or's retaliation claim, given absence of evidence that
debt collector regularly extended, renewed, or contin-
ued credit or participated in any way in decision to
extend credit; rather, the record showed that debt col-
lector was simply attempting to collect on debt that
resulted from credilor's decision o extend credit.
Consumer Credit Protection Ac¢t, §§ 701(a)}(3),
702(e), as amended, 15 US.CA. §§ 1691{a}3},
1691afey, 12 C.FR. §6 202 2(11 202.4, 202 5{a}

{32] Censumer Credit €31

93Bk31 Most Cited Cases

Even if debt collector were "creditor" under Equal
Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), debtor's retaliation
claim against debt collector based on debt collection
action brought by credit card company would fail,
inasmuch as debtor did not state claim that debt col-
lector independently violated ECOA and failed to
state ECOA claim against credit card company,
thereby defeating any claim against debt collector as
company's agent, assignee, transferee, or subrogee.
Consumer Credit Protection Act, § 701{a)}(3}, as
amended, 153 .S C.A.§ 1691(a)3)

{33] Federal Civil Procedure €~>2553

170Ak2553 Most Cited Cases

Denial of debior's motion for additional time to con-
duct discovery for purposes of opposing surmmary
judgment motion filed by creditor's attorney in debt-
or's Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) ac-
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tion was not abuse of discretion, when attomey's affi-
davit demonstrated that he was not "debt collector”
under FDCPA, debtor had had ampie time Lo conduct
discovery with regard to atlorney's practice, deblor
was given additional time lo respond to summary

judgment motion, and motion for additional discov-

ery and supporting affidavit provided nothing more
than bare allegations to support claim that defendants
and their wilnesses were in exclusive control of evid-
ence at issue. Fed Rules Civ.ProcRule 56(f). 28
USCA

134] Federal Civil Procedure €-22553

170AK2553 Most Cited Cases

Party opposing summary judgment has no absolute
right to additional time for discovery. Fed.Rules
Civ.Proc.Rule 56(01. 28 U.S.C.A.

135] Federal Courts €=>820

1708Bk820 Most Cited Cases

Court of Appeals reviews for abuse of discretion
denial of motion for additional time for discovery
filed by party opposing summary judgment
Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 36(f). 28 U.S.C A

[36] Federal Civil Procedure €=22553

170ALI353 Mast Cited Cases

Rule permitting party opposing summary judgment to
seek additional time for discovery is not shield that
can be raised to block motion for summary judgment
without even siightest showing by movant that his
opposition is meritorious; movant must show how
postponement of ruling on summary judgment mo-
tion will enable him to rebut that motion. Eed.Rules
Civ.Proc Rule 56{f), 28 U.S.C. A

[37] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €212
29Tk212 Most Cited Cases
{Formerly 92Hk 10 Consumer Protection)

{37] Federal Civil Procedure €=02494.5
170A1:2494.5 Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 170Ak2481)

Attorney's summary judgment affidavit established
that he was not "debt collector" under Fair Debt Col-
jection Practices Act (FDCPAY); affidavit showed that
overwhelming portion of atorney's practice consisted
of serving as defense altorney and that attorney had
never brought action exclusively on behaif of creditor

© 2006 Thomson/West No Claim to Orig. U S. Govt. Works.



135 F 3d 389
135 F 3d 389, 39 Fed R Serv.3d 1376
{Cite as: 135 F.3d 389)

to collect consumer debt or engaged in practice con-
sisting of debt collection. Consumer Credit Protection
Act, § 802 et seq., as amended, 15 US.CA. § 1692 et
seq

138] Attorney and Client €211(2.1)
45k1102.1) Most Cited Cases
Debtor failed to establish claim that debt collector en-
gaged in unauthorized practice of law, based on al-
legations that debt collector hired attorney on credit-
or's behalf in connection with state court debt collec-
tion action, thereby improperly interposing itself
between creditor and attorney, given absence of evid-
ence that debt collector hired attormey and of allega-
tions that debt collector, not creditor, was responsible
for paying attorney's fees.
[39] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €212
29Tk212 Mast Cited Cases

{Formerly 92Hk10 Consumer Protection}
Creditor which was primarily in business of extend-
ing credit and which never attempted to collect debt
under assumed name was not "debt coliector” for pur-
poses of Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA), notwithstanding that it used inlerstate
commerce and mails to collect debls. Consumer
Credit Protection Act, § 803(6), as amended, 13
US.CA. §1692a(6)

[40] Antitrust and Trade Regulation €213
297Tk213 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 92Hk 10 Consumer Protection)
Even assuming tha! creditor was debt collector for
purposes ol Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA), ils conduc! in suing debtor in state court to
collect outstanding debt did not violate FDCPA, not-
withstanding debtor's claim that state courl action
was brought in retaliation for debtor's filing of FD-
CPA action against debt colleclor acting on creditor's
behall Consumer Credit Protection Act, § 802 et
seq., as amended, 13 UL.S.C A, § 1694 et seq.
[41} Antitrust and Trade Regulation €~2152
29Tk132 Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 921k5 Consumer Protection)
Credit card company was not "supplier” within mean-
ing of Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act (OCSPA),
in that OCSPA specifically excluded financial institu-
tions and company fell within definition of "financial
institution”, in that it lent money when it extended

Page 6

credit; therefore, company could not be held liable
under OCSPA based on its filing of debt collection
action in county other than thal in which debtor had
filed Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) ac-
tion against debt collector acling on company's be-
half Censumer Credit Protection Act, § 802 et seq.,
as amended, 13 U.S.C.A. § 1692 et seq.; Ohio R.C.
§8 1345.01(A, ), 5725.01{A)

{42) Antitrust and Trade Regulation €52213
29Tk213 Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 92Hk36.1 Consumer Protection)

Dismissal of debtor's claims under Ohio Censumer
Sales Practices Acl (OCSPA) against debt collector
and attorney who represented creditor in state court
debt collection action was warranted when claims al-
leged that state-court action was filed in retaliation
for deblor's Fair Debl Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA) aclion against debt collector, debtor failed
to show deb! collector's independent involvement in
filing of state-courl action or agency relationship
between attomey and debt cellector with regard to
that action, and also failed to show that aliorney regu-
larly filed collection suits as matter of choice in dis-
tant jurisdiction. Consumer Credit Protection Act, §
802 et seq., as amended, 15 11.S.C A, § 1692 et seq;
Ohio R.C. § 1345.0] et seq.

{43] Federal Courts €=2106.5
170Bk106.5 Most Cited Cases

{Formerly 170Bk106})
District court did not abuse its discretion in denying
deblor's motion for change of venue in which he
sought to have aclion against debi collector trans-
ferred to venue of his subsequent action against debt
collector, creditor, and creditor's attorney, which was
consolidated with first action; two cases had 1o be
dealt with separately, in tha! debtor consenled to
plenary magistrate judge jurisdiction in first, but not
second, action, and the record supporied finding that
consolidation and motion for transfer of venue was
atternpt to avoid having cases decided by magistrate
judge assigned to first case. 28 U.S.C.A. § 1404{a);
Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rute 42a) 28 US C.A.

144] Federal Courts €819
170Bk819 Most Cited Cases
District court's denial of change of venue is reviewed

© 2006 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. US Govt Works.



135 F 3d 389
135 F 3d 389, 39 Fed R Serv.3d 1376
(Cite as: 135 F.3d 389)

for abuse of discretion.

{45} Federal Civil Procedure €558.1

170AkS. 1 Most Cited Cases

Cases consolidated pursuant to rule retain their separ-
ale identity. Fed.Ruies Civ.Proc.Ruie 42(a), 28
US.CA.

[46] Federal Civil Procedure €=28.1

170Ak8.1 Most Cited Cases

Although consolidation is permitted as matter of con-
venience and economy in administration, it does not

merge suits into single cause, or change rights of

parties, or make those who are parties in one suit
parties in another. Fed Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 42(a). 28
US.CA

[47] Federal Civil Procedure €<28.1

170AkS. 1 Most Cited Cases

It is district court's responsibility to ensure that
parties are nol prejudiced by consolidation of cases.
Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 42(a), 28 U.S.CA

}481 Federal Courts €105

170Bk105 Most Cited Cases

While plaintiff's choice of forum should be given
weight when deciding whether to grant motion to
change venue, this factor is not dispositive.

*394 Jason D. Fregeau (arpued and briefed), Yellow
Springs, O11, for Plaintiff-Appellant

fames Patrick Connors (arpued and briefed), Colum-
bus, OH, for Defendants-Appeilees

Before: CONTIE, RYAN, and BOGGS, Circuit
Judges.

*395 BOGGS. I, delivered the opinion of the court,
in which CONTIE, J., joined RYAN, I {(pp
413-16), delivered a separate dissenling opinion.

OPINION
BOGGS, Circuit Judge.

EEA A0 b

The two actions involved in this appeal arose out of

William C. Lewis's credit relationship with American
Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc.
("Amex"} Lewis owes a substantial sum of money
to Amex for charges he made on his Gold Card After
he stopped making payment, Amex hired ACB Busi-
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ness Services, Inc. ("ACB") 1o collect on the debt,
These events led to the {iling of three lawsuits, two
by Lewis and one by Amex. At issue in this appeal
are the two suits filed by Lewis. Because these suits
are closely related, we deal with both in this opin-
ion. The first suit was filed by Lewis in the Southern
District of Ohio, Western Division at Dayton ("the
Daytor case").  In this suil, Lewis alleged that ACB's
collection efforts violated the Fair Debt Coliection
Practices Act ("FDCPA") and the Ohio Consumer
Sajes Practices Act ("OCSPA"™) A jury triai was
held, and at the conclusion of all the evidence, the
court granted ACB's motion for judgment as a matter
of law.

Afier the Daylon case had been filed, Amex sued
Lewis in state court to recover the unpaid balance on
the Gold Card Lewis then filed suit in the Southern
District of Ohio, Western Division at Cincinnati {"the
Cincinnati cage”). In this second action, Lewis al-
leged that ACB, Amex, and James P. Connors had
filed the state courl action in retaliation for Lewis
having filed the Dayton case. He claimed that this
violated the FDCPA, the OCSPA, and the Equal
Credit Opportunity Act ("ECOA"}. Amex and ACB
moved to dismiss Lewis's complaint and Connors
moved to strike the complaint against him.  The dis-
trict court granted defendants' motions.  Lewis now
appeals the judgments against him in both cases. We
aflirm,

1

Lewis does not dispute that he ran up thousands of
dollars in debt on his Amex Gold Card during 1992
[FNI] Amex hired ACB to collect this debl. Prior
to the commencement of ACB's collection efforts,
Lewis had nepotiated with Amex over the debt and
became upset when the account was referred to ACB
for collection

FNI1. At the time the June 3, 1993, collec-
tion Jetter was sent, Lewis owed Amex
$14,429.54. At that same time, Lewis was
also heavily in debt to other debt collectors
and creditors in the amount of approxim-
ately $50,000,

ACB's collection efforts began in February 1993
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On March 1, 1993, Lewis sen! a letler to ACB, re-
questing that ACB cease communications in accord-
ance with 153 11.8.C. § 1692¢. [FN2] At issue on this
appeal are two contacls ACB made after Lewis sent
this letter: (1) a letter ACB sent to Lewis on June 3,
1993, and (2) a telephone call placed by ACB (o
Lewis on July 8, 1994 [ENJ]

EN2. The FDCPA allows a consumer 1o no-
tify a debt collector in writing that he
"wishes the debt collector 1o cease further
communication with the consumer.” 13
US.C. 8 1692c{cy  This makes collection
efforts more difficult for the debt collector.
However, the Act does not require a debt
collector to cease all collection efforts.  See
15 VUSC. & 1692¢{c¥D-(3); see also
398-400, infra

EN3. Lewis advanced several other claims
of FDCPA violations. These claims,
however, are not at issue on appeal. Non-
etheless, because Lewis uses facts relevant
1o these claims to advance some of his argu-
ments on appeal, we briefly set forth those
claims. Lewis alieged thal ACB violated
the FDCPA when it sent a collection lelter
on February 23, 1993, which asked Lewis to
call ACB but did not mentien in the letter
the writing on the reverse side that spelled
out the consumer’s rights, including the right
to obtain verification of the debt under 135
U.S.C. § 1692¢.  This claim was dismissed
by the district court because it was barred by
the one-year statute of limitations and be-
cause Lewis had proved no damages prox-
imately caused by the alieged violation
Lewis also claimed that ACB violated the
FDCPA when it tried to contact his neigh-
bors and Holly Phillips, & supplemental card
holder, regarding the debt.  This claim was
dismissed by the district court as being out-
side the pleadings

A The June 3, 1993 letter

On June 3, 1993, ACB sent a letter to Lewis. The
letter states in relevant part:

Pape 8

*396 YOUR ACCOUNT HAS BEEN TRANS-
FERRED TO MY OFFICE FOR FINAL RE-
VIEW.

IN A PERCENTAGE OF CASES, I FIND THAT
PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS MAY NOT
HAVE BEEN OFFERED BY OUR AFFILIATED
OFFICE. IN GRDER TO PROVIDE YOU WITH
AN OPPORTUNITY TO PAY THIS DEBT,
PLEASE SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING
PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS AND ENCLOSE
PAYMENT, OCR PROVIDE ME WITH A NUM-
BER WHERE I CAN CONTACT YOU TO DIs-
CUSS TERMS.

IT IS IMPORTANT THAT ARRANGEMENTS
BE MADE AS SOON AS POSSIBLE

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING
THE PAYMENT PLANS, GIVE ME A CALL OR
PROVIDE ME WITH A NUMBER WHERE I
CAN CONTACT YOU. FOR YOUR CONVENI
ENCE, I CAN ARRANGE FOR YOU TO PAY
YOUR ACCOUNT USING VISA AND/OR MAS-
TERCARD.

CONTACT: M. HALL

PAYMENT SUPERVISOR

(800) 767-5971

THIS IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT.
ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE
USED FOR THAT PURPOSE

YOUR ACCOUNT BALANCE MAY BE PERL
ODICALLY INCREASED DUE TO THE ADDI-
TION OF ACCRUED INTEREST OR OTHER
CHARGES AS PROVIDED IN YOUR AGREE-
MENT WITH YOUR CREDITOR

Although the letier indicates that Lewis should con-
tact "M. Hall," no such person existed at ACB. Nor
was the alias "M. Hail” assigned to any one person
there. The evidence showed that "M. Hall" was a
name used by ACB to alerl its employees regarding
the status of the account. The evidence also showed,
however, that a specific representative had been as-
signed to Lewis's account. ACB attempted no further
conlact relating to this letter, and after the jetter had
been sent, ACB retumed Lewis's account to Amex. It
was not until Lewis initiated suit in the Dayton case
that the account was retumed to ACB. [FN4]
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FN4, The account was returned to ACB in
accordance with a policy between ACB and
Amex pursuanl to which accounts are re-
turned to ACB when a disgruntied deblor
files a lawsuil against it 5o that ACB has the
necessary infonmation to defend the suit.

B. The July 8, 1994 telephone call

When Amex returned the account to ACB, Amex
miscoded the account as a new referral, rather than a
reopening.  Thus, it appeared in ACB's compuler
syslem as & new account. Based on this miscoding,
an initial collection letter was generated by ACB. Al-
though the letter was never sea!, an inilial contact
call, Jasting approximately one minute, was made lo
Lewis on July 8, 1994, before the mistake was caught
by ACB.

Janet Schohan, one of ACB's FDCPA compliance of-
ficers, discovered ACB's mistake afler arriving at
work in Phoenix. She was able to stop the letter
from being sent, but the telephone call had already
been placed because of the three hour time difference
between the Phoenix and New Jersey offices. [EN3]
When Schohan learned of the error, she irnmediately
terminated all collection activity and ACB took no
further action on the account.

ENS. The file had beea sent to the New Jer-
sey office because of the miscoding,

During discovery in the Dayton case, Lewis moved lo
compel ACB to produce "the balance of its contract
with Amex," because he claimed that it controlled
ACB's colleclion activities with respect to his ac-
count. [FN6] The court denied the request, finding
that any contract between ACB and Amex had no rel-
evance {o the issue of whether ACB's collection ef-
forts violated the FDCPA or the OCSPA [EN7]

FNG. Lewis moved to compel discovery of
only the balance of the contract because he
already had a portion of the contract in his
possession.

FN7. Lewis never requested discovery of
this document in the Cincinnati case.
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*397 Meanwhile, on Oclober 14, 1994, before trial in
the Dayton case, Amex filed suit apainst Lewis in
Franklin County Common Pleas Court ("the state
court action"} to recover the unpaid balance on the
Gold Card. Amex is represented in that case by Con-
nors, who is also ACB's trial attorney in the Daylen
case, as well as the trial attomey and a defendant in
the Cincinnati case.  As a result of Amex suing
Lewis in state court, Lewis filed the Cincinnati case
on March 27, 1995, shortly before the trial was ori-
pinally scheduled to take place in the Dayton case.
The two cases were consolidated at Lewis's request.
He then tried to have venue of both cases transferred
from Dayton to Cincinnati.  The trial court consolid-
ated the cases, but declined Lewis's request for
change of venue.  The Dayton case therefore re-
mained before Magistrate Judge Merz for all pur-
poses, the parties having agreed to plenary magisirate
judge jurisdiction in that case pursuant to 28 US.C. §
636(c), and the Cincinnati case remained on Magis-
trate Judge Merz's docket {or pretrial purposes only
(since Lewis had specifically declined plenary magis-
trale judge jurisdiction in that case). The district
court cited Lewis's attempt at forum shopping and the
district's local rule for hearing consolidated cases in
the venue in which the first case is [iled as reasons
for refusing the change in venue.

I ewis also made a motion to bring new claims in the
Daytlon case just before the trial was supposed (o
start.  He contended that the new claims were neces-
sary because they arose afler Amex had returned his
aceount to ACB on July 8, 1994 The district count
granted Lewis's motion {o amend the complaint and
vacated the Dayton case trial date sel for May 8,
1995 ACB sought reconsideration of this order, but
its motion was denied

A jury trial in the Dayton case was held on January 9
and 10, 1996, before Magistrate Judge Merz. At the
conclusion of Lewis's proof, the court granted in part
and denied in part ACB's Fed R.Civ.P. 50 motion for
judgment as a matter of law At the conclusion of all
the evidence, the courl denied Lewis's motion for
judgment as a matter of law and granted ACB's cross-
motion, thus eliminating all remaining allegations
against ACB
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In the Cincinnati case, Mr. Lewis alleged that Amex,
ACB, and Connors had used the state court action to
retaliate against him because he had filed suit against
ACB. He claimed that when Amex brought the state
court action it, as well as ACB and Connors, violated
the FDCPA, the OCSPA, and the Equal Credit Op-
portunity Act ("ECOA™. Amex and ACB moved to
dismiss Lewis's complaint and Connors moved to
strike the complaint against him. Because the parties
presented matters outside the pleadings, Connors's
motion was treated as one for summary judgment.
After hearing argument, Magistrate Judge Merz filed
a reporl and recommendation regarding the various
motions. He recommended that Connors’s motion
for summary judgment be granted on the ground that
Connors was nol a debt collector as a matter of law
The magistrate judge also recommended that Lewis's
remaining claims be dismissed for [atlure to state a
claim. In addition, he denied Lewis's motions to
strike and for a change in venue  District Judge
Spiegel adopted the magistrate judge's report and re-
commendations

On appeal, Lewis raises numerous claims of error.
In the Dayton case, he argues that the districl court
erred in {1) granting ACB's motion {or judgment as a
matier of law on Lewis's FDCPA claims; {2} denying
Lewis discovery of an apgreement between Amex and
ACB; and (3) granting ACB’s motion for judgment
as a maiter of law on Lewis’s OCSPA claims. In the
Cincinnali case he claims that the district court erred
in (1) dismissing his ECOA ciaim; (2) granting Con-
nors's motion for summary judgment based solely on
his affidavit; {3) finding that ACB did not illegally
interpose itself between Connors and Amex; (4) find-
ing that Amex is not a debt collector as defined by
the FDCPA; (5) dismissing with prejudice Lewis's
OCSPA claims; and (6) denying his motion to recon-
sider its decision declining to transfer venue back to
Cincinnati. We address the issues in the order presen-
ted.

11
Lewis raises three claims of error in the district
court's order granling ACB's motion *398 for judg-
ment a3 a matier of law on Lewis's FDCPA claims in
the Dayion case: (1) that the June 3rd coilection letter
was a further communrication in violation of 13
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1L.S.C. & 1692¢c(c); {2) that the June 3rd collection
letter's use of the pseudonym "M. Hall" was a viela-
tion of 15 UL.S.C. & 1692¢(10); and (3) that ACB
failed to prove the bona fide error defense with re-
spect to the July 8th telephone call.

{13[21(3] Motions for judgment as a matler of law are
reviewed de novo.  We do not weigh the evidence,
evaluate the credibility of witnesses, or substitute our
own judgment for that of the jury  Rather, this court
must view the evidence in the light most favorable to
the non-moving parly and give that party the benefit
of all reasonable inferences  See (Q'Brien v, ity of
Grand Rapids, 23 F.3d 990, 995 (6th Cir.1994) We
must affirm the district court if we are convinced that
"there is a complete absence of pleading or proof on
an issue or issues material to the cause of action or
where there are no controverted issues of fact upon
which reasonable men could differ” Jbid (internal
quotation omitted).

A The June 3rd collection letter as a remedy

[4] Lewis argues first that the district court erred in
holding the June 3rd letter {o be a permissible com-
munication under 15 11S.C. § 1692c{c}2}), even
though sent after his demand to desist, because it is a
nolice of specified potential remedies ordinarily in-
voked by ACB. He argues that the Federal Trade
Commission's statement of general policy on the FD-
CPA, which indicates that a "debt collecior's response
lo a ‘cease communication' notice from the consumer
may not include a demand for payment, but is limited
to the three statutory exceptions,” 33 Fed.Reg. 50097,
50104 (Dec. 13, 1988), is dispositive because lan-
guage in the letter indicates that it is a demand for
payment couched as a remedy. While Lewis's argu-
ment is not wholly without meril, we canno! agree
with his interpretation of § 1692¢c(c) because such an
interpretation would be contrary to the purpose of the
Act.

15 U.S8.C. §.1692¢(c) provides that "[i}f a consumer
notifies a debt collector in writing that the consumer
... wishes a debt collector to cease further communic-
ation with the consumer, the debt collector shall not
communicate further with the consumer with respect
10 suci debt ¥ The statute, however, permits the col-
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lector to make further communication with the con-

sumer under three limited circumstances  One of

those circumstances allows the debt coilecter "to no-
tify the consumer that the debt collector or creditor
may invoke specified remedies which are ordinarily
invoked by such debt collector or creditor™ 3
U.S.C.8.1692clc)2)  We believe that the June 3rd
letter fits within § 1692c(e)(2}.

[5] Congress enacted the FDCPA to "eliminate abus-
ive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to in-
sure that those debt collectors who refrain from using
abusive debt collection practices are not competit-
ively disadvantaged, and to promote consislent State
action to protect consumers against debt collection
abuses.” 13 U.S.C. § 1692{e} Congress intended the
Act to eliminate unfair debt-coilection practices, such
as late-night telephone calls, false representations,
and embarrassing communications. The Senate Re-
port justified the need for legislation by stating:
Collection abuse takes many forms, including ob-
scene or profane language, threats of violence, tele-
phone calls at unreasonable houss, misrepresenta-
tion of a consumer's legal rights, disclosing a con-
sumer's personal affairs to friends, neighbors, or an
employer, obtaining information about a consumer
through false pretense, impersonating public offi-
cizls and atlorneys, and simulating legal process
Sen. Rep. No. 382, 95th Cong , Ist Sess. 2 (1977}, re-
printed in 1977 U S C.C AN, 1695, 1656,

While Congress appears 1o have intended the act to
eliminate abusive coilection practices, the language
of § 1692¢c(c) is broader: it not only states that a dei
collecior may not make a demand for payment fol-
lowing a cease-communication letter, bul also prohib-
its communication of any kind other than those fall-
ing within the three exceptions. *399 Thus, at first
glance, ACB's June 3rd letter does not appear to fall

within the literal terms of § 1692¢(c}{2) as a notice of

remedy. A close look at the letier, however, shows
that the letter can be construed as a type of settlement
offer and that ACB normally invokes such a rem-

edy. We believe that such a construction is warran-
ted.

We believe that Lewis's interpretation of §
1692¢(cH2), which would prohibit collectors from
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sending noncoercive setilement offers as a remedy, is
“plainly at variance with the policy of the legislation
as o whole" United States v. American Trucking
Ass'ng, 310 1.8, 534, 543, 60 S.C1. 1059, 1064, 84
L.Ed. 1345 (1940). To hold that a debt collector
cannol offer payment options as parl of an elfort to
resolve an outstanding debt, possibly without litiga-
tion, would force honest debt collectors seeking a
peaceful resolution of the debt (o file suit in order to
advance efforts to resolve the debl-- something that is
clearly at odds with the language and purpose of the
FDCTA, Nothing ACB did in its Tune 3rd letter can
pe consiraed as an abusive collection practice. It
simply offered to settle Lewis's debt without litiga-
tion. Alowing debt collectors to send such a letter is
nol ondy consistent with the Act but also may result
in resolution of the debt without resorting to litiga-
tion, saving all parties involved the needless cost and
delay of litigation as is exemplified by this very
case. And it is certainly less coercive and more pro-
tective of the interests of the debtor. Moreover,
while ACB's letter could have more clearly expressed
its character as a notice of a normally invoked rem-
edy had it included other typically invoked remedies,
such as filing a lawsuit, nothing in the statute requires
that the letter give notice of all of the remedies nor-
mally invoked by debt collectors, and the statute does
not require that a debt collector invoke any specific
type of remedy.  Rather, it allows the debt coliector
to notify the consumer of remedies it normally in-
vokes. The record in this case clearly demonstrates
that ACB did just that. [FNg]

ENR&. Our conciusion is bolstered by the fact
that, since a debt collector legitimately can
tell a debtor that it ordinarily sues or recom-
mends suil as a remedy, it is certainly within
the purpose of the Act to allow a debt col-
lector to make a wuthful statement that vari-
ous payment plans are avatlable. Cf United
States v, Amerfean Trucking, Assne. 310
.S, 534, 543-44. 60 S.Ct. 1059, 1063-64,
&4 L.Ed. 1343 (1940) (courls’ power in in-
terpreting slatutes is not limited to a "superfi-
cial examination" of particular statutory text,
but rather includes power to effectuate un-
dertying purpose of statute as inferred from
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the text of the statute as & whole}.

[6] Additionatly, we are unpersuaded by Lewis's ar-
gument that the Federal Trade Commission's state-
ment on § 1692ctc) is dispositive. Initially we note
the limited precedential value of FTC pronounce-
ments regarding the FDCPA in light of the restricted
scope of its power under the Act. FTC advisory opin-
ions regarding the FDCPA are entitled to deference
only to the extent that their logic is persuasive. See
Pressleyv v. Capital Credii & Collection Serv., 760
F.2d 922,925 & n. 2 (9th Cir.1983); Fox v. Citicarp
Credit Servs., Inc., 15 .F.3d 1507, 1513 n. 4 {(9ih
Cir. 1994y, Dutron v, Wolpoff & Abramsen, 5 F.3d
649, 654 (3d Cir, 1993}y More important, however,
we find nothing in the FTC's policy statement that is
inconsistent with our position.  The June 3rd letter
simply gave Lewis "an opportunily to pay [the] debt”
though various payment plans. We therefore do not
view it as an impermissible demand for payment.

[7] We nole that the mere fact that the letier states at
the bottom that it "is an attempt to collect a debt"
does not transform the letter into an unfawful demand
for payment. On the contrary, such a statement is re-
quired by the FDCPA  See 13 US.C. § 1692¢(11)
{1987) ("the failure to disclose clearly in all commu-
nications made to coliect a debt or 1o obtain informa-
tion about a consumer, that the debt collector is at-
tempting to collect a debt and that any information
obtained will be used for that purpose” is a violation
of the FDCPA) (emphasis added). [EN9] Given the
fervor with which Lewis seeks to *400 protect his
rights under the FDCPA, he certainly would have
called foul had this communication not included this
necessary language For example, we recently de-
cided a case in which a plaintiff, also represented by
Lewis's attorney, appealed from an award of attorney
fees. In that case, the plainti{f suggested that a letter
sent by a collection agency that failed to include lan-
guage that the "debt collector is attempting to collect
a debt .. [and that] any information obfained will be
used for that purpose” gave rise to a § 1692e(]11) vi-
olation. See Lee v. Thomas & Thomas, 109 F.3d 302
(61h Cir. 19973,  The debt collector settled and as a
result we did not decide the issue of whether the fail-
ure {o include such langusge violates that act.  But
given Lewis’s choice of counsel, it is likely that had
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ACB [ailed (o include such a statement in its letter,
Lewis would have brought an additional FDCPA
claim based on ACB's failure to include the statutory
language  To punish ACB for compliance with this
provision just because the remedy letter states that it
is an "altempt] ] to collect on a debt" would be an ab-
surd result that we decline to reach

FN9, Section 1692¢(11) was amended in
1996, | now provides that in subsequent
communications with the consumer the debt
collector need only state that the communic-
ation is from a debt collector. The amend-
ment, however, is not relevant to our analys-
is since ACB was attempting to comply with
the reguirements of the Act as it appeared
when it sent the letter to Lewis,

B Use of the pseudonym "M Hall"

[8] Next, Lewis argues that ACB's use of the pseud-
onym "M. Hall" violates § 1692e(i0) because is ref-
erence {0 a non-existent individual is deceptive. He
argues that the letter “is replete with 'I' and 'Me', in-
dicating that a 'Payment Supervisor' by the name of
"M Hall' exists and Is giving the account personal at-
tention], when i]n fact, the designation "M Hall' is a
code that Defendant uses to alert its collectors and
telephone operators.”  Appellant’s Brief at 25, This
is deceptive, he claims, because ACB "not only
makes consumers believe that an individual by the
name of ™ Hall' has an office where he or she is
making a FINAL REVIEW, but also uses the unwit-
ting consumer to divulge information concerning the
consumer's communication." 7bid In essence, he ar-
gues that, simply by asking for "M. Hall," the con-
sumer unknowingly discloses important information,
such as the status of the account, to the debi collector
at the other end of the phone. This, he argues, is a de-
ceplive practice under the FDCPA. We disagree.

[9] The FDCPA prohibits the use of "any false, de-
ceptive, or misleading representation or means in
connection with the coliection of any debi™ I3
1.S.C. § 1692¢ Section 1692e is broken into sixteen
subseclions, which provide a non-exhaustive list of
prohibited practices. Subsection 1692e(10), at issue
in this case, specifically prohibits "[t]he use of any
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false representation or deceplive means lo collect or
attempt 1o collect any debt or to obtain information
concerning a consumer.”  In determining whether a
debt collector's practice is deceptive within the mean-
ing of the Act, courts apply an objective test based on
the understanding of the "least sophisticated con-
sumer " Bentlev v. Great Lakes Collection Bureau, 6
F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir.1993).  Even with the least soph-
isticated consumer in mind, we do not believe that
ACB's use of "M. Hall" was deceptive.

Rather, we believe this situation is analogous 10 the
use of an alias by the debt collector in Johnson v,
NCB  Collection  Services. 799  F.Supp. 1298
(D.Conn.1992), even though the alias used in John-
son. "Althea Thomas," was assigned to a specific in-
dividual. This is because in Johnson the court found
that a consumer asking for "Althea Thomas" was not
automatically referred to that individual. Rather, the
debt collector would refer the consumer to the next
available representative and the consumer was not
even told that the person he or she was speaking to
was not the "true” pseudonymous "Althea Thomas."
The court held that sucly a use of an alias was not a
deceptive practice:
While an aflegedly deceptive practice is {o be eval-
uated with reference to the effect on the least soph-
isticated debtor, it is clear to anyone (including the
least sophisticated debtor) that a specific represent-
ative named in a collection mailing cannot and will
not always be available 24 hours per day, 7 days

per week.  Therefore, no deception occurs even if

the answering representative fails to offer that he or
she is not "Althea Thomas" The use of an as-
signed alias or office name, even when considered
from the standpoint of the least sophisticated debt-
or, does nol misrepresent the *401 amount of a
debt, the consequences of its non-payment, nort the
rights of the contacted debtor  Indeed, at oral ar-
gument plaintiffs counsel was unable to adduce
any prejudice or harm suffered as a result of the
use of the alias in this case. Aliases and office
names in {act have long been utilized by collection
agencies for the protection of their employees

The burden to an ethical debt coliector that would
result from prohibiting the use of assigned aliases
by designated employees clearly outweighs any ab-

Page 13

stract benefit to the debtor that such a prohibition

might yield.
Id at 1304 (citation omitted). Here, as in Johnson,
Lewis can show no prejudice or harm suffered as a
result of the use of the alias "M Hall." The only per-
son notified of his account status through his refer-
ence to "M. Hall" was ACB--which ¢ fortiori was
already was aware of it.  The consumer only dis-
closes to ACB that the debtor has written a cease-
communication letter and has been sent a final com-
munication, indicating that the consumer may wish to
pay off the deb! using a payment plan.  Not only is
this not deceptively drawing out information from the
consumer, but also it ensures that the agent o whom
the consumer is referred will not attempt to resume
collection efforts.

Moreover, we are unpersuaded by Lewis's altemp! to
analogize this case 1o the situation in Bentley, 6 F.3d
at 60. This case is clearly distinguishable from Bens-
ey, in which the Second Circuit found a letler to be a
deceptive practice under the Act. The letter in Bentley
indicated that Bentley's account had been refesred to
the desk of a patlicular decisionmaker, even though
the account had never received persenal atiention
from anyone at the collection agency. The letter to
Bentley made several affimnative misrepresentations,
including that her account was receiving personal at-
tention and that someone had unsuccessfully attemp-
ted to conlact her. Lewis's account, by contrast, had
been assigned to a specific individual It is of no
moment that that individual was not specifically as-
signed the alias "M. Iall" Additionally, it is clear
from the record that Lewis's account actually re-
ceived personal attention, and that the letter was in no
other respect deceptive.

C. The bona fide ervor defense

[18] We are also unpersuaded by Lewis's argument
that the district court erred in enlering judgment as a
matier of law against him on his FDCPA claim be-
cause ACB had contacted him on July 8, 1994, in vi-
olation of 153 UW.S.C. § 1692¢  Contrary to Lewis's
position, we believe that ACB has established beyond
dispute that its actions meet the requirements of the
bonz fde error defense.  In order fo prove a bena
fide error defense, a colleclor must show that the "vi-
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olation was not intentional and resulted from a bona
fide error notwithstanding the maintenance of pro-
cedures reasonably adapted lo avoid any such er-
ror™ 15 U.8.C. § 1692ki{c) ACB has done just that.

If anything, this case presents even stronger evidence
to support the bona fide error defense than the evid-
ence we found sufficient in Smirth v. Transworld Svs-
fems, Sne, 953 F.2d 1025, 1031 (6th Cir, 1992} In
Smith, this court found that a collection letter mailed
shortly afler receiving the consumer's cease-
communication letter constituted a bona fide error. In
support of its defense, the defendant in Smith intro-
duced an employee's procedural manual and two em-
ployee affidavits, which showed that the error was at
most a clerical error. ACB in this case is nof even
responsible for committing a clerical error; it was
Amex, and not ACB, that made the critical coding er-
ror before the file was returned to ACB.

{11] We also believe that ACB's manual and com-
puter systems were “reasonably adapted” to avoid the
error that occurred in this case and in fact were able
to catch the error in 2 very short period of time. Ms.
Schohan, one of ACB's FDCPA compliance officers,
caught this mistake in time to prevent the computer-
generated letter from being sent even if she was un-
able to stop the phone call.  Contrary to Lewis's
claim that the ACB agent's July 8th telephone call
demonstrates ACB's inlent to resume collection ef-
forts, in fact it shows that the only reason ACB's
agent contacted Lewis was because he believed that
Lewis's account was new. This is simply not enough
10 show that ACB intended *402 to resume coliection
efforts in violation of the FDCPA. Inherent in Lewis's
argument is a flawed understanding of the intent re-
quirement of § 1692k(c) The debt collecior must
only show that the vielation was unintentional, not
that the communieation itsell was unintentional. To
hold otherwise would effectively negate the bona fide
error defense

111
Lewis aiso argues that the district courl used an in-
correct fegal standard in denying his motion to com-
pel ACB to produce the remainder of the contract
petween it and Amex. He contends that the contract
itself would have been admissible evidence because
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al trial employees of ACB referred to the apreement
to support its case.  He also contends that ke made an
offer of proof when requesting the document be pro-
duced that showed that the contract supported the ar-
gument that ACB, under its contract with Amex, was
not avthorized to collect from supplemental cardhold-
ers, Further, he argues that the contract couid have
led to admissible evidence because the coniract con-
trols ACB's collection activities and "could lead (o
collection activities required to be made by Defend-
ant but not noted in its collection notes.” Appellant's
Briefat 33. Apain we find no error.

12][13] The scope of discovery is, of course, within
the broad discretion of the trial court. Ghandi v._Po-
lice Dep't of Detrojt, 747 TF.2d 338, 354 (6t
Cir.1984), appeal after remand, 823_F.2d_ 939 _(oh
Cir 1987), cert denied, 484 U.S. 1042, 108 S.Ct
774, 98 1.Ed.2d 861 (1988} "An order denying fur-
ther discovery will be grounds for reversal only if it
was an abuse of discretion resulting in substantizl
prejudice " 7bid

14]f15] The scope of discovery under the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure is traditionally quite broad.
See Mellon v, Cooper-Jorrent, Inc, 424 F.2d 499, 501
(61h Cir. 1970, "The scope of examination permitied
under Rule 26({b) is broader than that permitted at tri-
al.  The test is whether the line of interrogation is
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of ad-
missibie evidence.” Jbid (citation omilied); see also
Oppenheimer Fund, Inc. v. Sanders. 437 11.5. 340
351,98 S.Ci 2380, 2389 90, 57 L.Ed.2d 233
{1978} However, "discovery of matter not 'reason-
ably calculated to lead (o the discovery of admissible
evidence' is not within the scope of Rule 26(b}1).
Thus, it is proper to deny discovery of maler that is
relevant only to claims or defenses thal have been
stricken, or to events that occurred before an applic-
able limitations period, unless the information sought
is otherwise relevant {o issues in the case” [d. at
351-52, 98 S.CL at 2390 (quotation omitted).

(163 Lewis's first argumeni--that the requested doou-
ments could have been used as evidence to show that
ACB could not attempt to collect from supplemental
cardholders—is baseless. That claim was dismissed
by the district court because it was outside the plead-
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ings; moreover, the court found that "any attempt to
amend after the close of plaintiff's evidence to plead
such a «claim was unfairly prejudicial (o
Defendant " Lewis v, ACB Bus. Servs., Inc, 911
F.Supp. 290, 293 (S D.Ohio 1996). Further, the dis-
trict court found that such a claim had not been tried
by consent of the parties and was barred by the stat-
ule of limitations. /bid We find no abuse of discre-
tion by the district court in denying discovery of the
remainder of the agreement based on this asserted
purpose, as this issue was no longer relevant in the
Dayton case.

[17] We also do not believe that the district court ab-
used its discretion in finding that the document was
not relevant to any of the issues remaining in the
case.  For one thing, Lewis never disputed that he
owed the debt  And there was never any dispute that

ACB had sent the June 3rd letter. Thus, questions of

whether ACB sent Lewis the letler pursuant to a con-
fract with Amex or whether ACB acted outside the
terms of any contract it may have had with Amex had
no relevance to whether ACB's activities at issue in
the Dayton case were a violation of the FDCPA or
the OCSPA.  Likewise, the statements made by em-
ployees of ACB at trial menlioning an agresment
between ACB and Amex were simply made in
passing and did not make the contract relevant to the
issues *403 in the Dayton case. [FNI0] These state-
ments simply explained why Lewis's file was again
sent 10 ACB after the suit was filed. Thus, the district
court's denial of Lewis's motion to compel production
of the contract between ACB and Amex was not an
abuse of discretion.

ENID. Lewis points to a statement made by
Mark Nakon in which he said that the re-
quest for the file 1o be returned to ACB afier
Lewis had filed a lawsuit was the result of
the coliection contract between Amex and
ACB. The second statement appears to be a
staternent made by Schohan that the contract
controls ACB's collection aclivities. These
statements do not bear on whether the June
3rd letter or the July 8th phone call violated
the FDCPA or OCSPA

v
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Lewis's final assignment of error in the Dayton case
is that the district court erred in finding that ACB's
conduct did not violaste Ohio  Rev.Code §§
1345.02(A) and ]343.03(A) [EN11] He argues that
the district court erred in granting ACB's motion for
judgment as 2 matter of law on his OCSPA claims in
that {1) the district court failed to sel forth specific
findings of fact and conclusions of law; (2} the dis-
trict court erred in denying him the opportunity to
present evidence of damages concemning his OCSPA
violations; and {3) the district court construed the ap-
plication of prior decisions {o his OCSPA violations
too parrowly.  Once again, we find no merit in
Lewis's arguments.

EN11. Section 1345.02(A) provides that
"[n]o supplier shall commit an unfair or de-
ceplive act or practice in connection with a
consumer transaction.  Such an unfair or de-
ceptive act or practice by a supplier violales
this section whether it occurs before, during,
or afler the fransaction." Section
1345.04A) provides that "[n]o supplier
shall commit an unconscienable act or prac-
tice in connection with a consumer transac-
tion. Such an unconscionable act or prac-
tice by a supplier violates this section
whether it occurs before, during, or after the
transaction.”  Although the OCSPA does
not expressly address debt collection prac-
tices, Ohio courts have applied the OCSPA
to such practices. See Liggins v. May Co.,
44 Ohio Mise, 81, 337 N.E.2d 816 (Ohio
C.P. Cuyahosa County 19735}

A. Failure of the district cowrt to set forth specific
findings of fuct and conclusions of laow

[18] While Lewis correctly notes that the court's
opinion regarding his OCSPA claims does not go
through each alleged violation point by point, we be-
lieve that the court's opinion provides sufficient find-
ings of fact and conclusions of law to support its de-
cision.  The district court fully detailed the actions
alleged to have violated the FDCPA and the OC-
SPA. Thus, it did not need to set out separate facts
for itls OCSPA discussion because, as admitted by
Lewis, he did not put on any additional evidence rel-
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evant {0 his OCSPA claims. Furthermore, the court
fully detailed its reasons for rejecting Lewis’s FD-
CPA claims. While it is true that the OCSPA could
have been violated independently, he did not provide
any additional evidence to sustain those claims. He
simply relied on the asserted violations of the FD-
CPA to support his OCSPA claims.  Given that the
district court correctly determined that no FDCPA vi-
olation had occurred, we believe that the district
courl's opinion sufficiently addresses Lewis's OCSPA
claims.

B. Failure to provide an opportunity for Lewis to
present evidence of damages concerning the OCSPA
vielations

[19] Next, Lewis argues that the district court erred in
failing to provide him the opportunity lo present
evidence concerning bis aclual damages regarding his
claim that the February 23rd collection letter, which
failed to inform the reader of the writing on the re-
verse side, the attempts 1o contact a supplemental
cardholder, and the phone calls to neighbors regard-
ing his debt, violated the OCSPA. He argues that the
damage evidence was "likely excluded" because of
cenfusion regarding the different statute of limita-
tions for the OCSPA and the FDCPA [FNI2} He
also contends that the district court "compounded the
error by finding that {his] altempts to prove actual
damages . . failed *404 under both statutes . In other
words, the Trial Court disallowed Lewis from
presenting the full panoply eof his damages, then
stated that the evidence of damages by Lewis was in-
sufficiert as @ matter of weight and credibility to sup-
port an award " Appellant's Brief at 40 {(emphasis in
original). This argument is unpersuasive.

EN12. The OCSPA statute of limitations is
two years. Ohio Rev.Code § 1345.10(C).
The FDCPA statute of limitations is one
year. See Mace v, Van Ru Credit Corp.. 109
F.3d 338 344 {Tth Cir. 19597)

First, the district court did not exclude the claims re-
lating o the February 23rd lelter, the alleped phone
calis by ACB to Lewis's neighbors, and the supple-
mental card holder simply because the statute of lim-
itations under the FDCPA had run. Rather, the court
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found that Lewis had proved no damages proximately
caused by the February 23rd letter. Moreover, the
court found that the claims regarding contacts with
supplemental cardholders and Lewis's neighbors were
outside the pleadings.

In addition, the district court fully explained why
Lewis had failed 1o prove actual damages under both
statutes:
Mr. Lewis's attemp!s to prove actual damages also
failed under both statutes. e did not attempt to
prove any "economic” damages.  Rather, he asser-
ted he suffered mental distress resulting in head-
aches, indigestion, and fitful sleep throughout the
period of ACB's attempted coliection and continu-
ing up to the time of trial.  He offered no medical
evidence and admitted that he had not seen a physi-
cian for any of the claimed ills, but had self-
medicated with aspirin and Tums. The debt in-
volved here is over $14,000. During 1994 Mr.
Lewis admittedly had somewhere in the vicinity of
£50,000 unpaid credit card debt outstanding. He
had extensive negoliations with Amex over this
particular debt and became involved in at least
three lawsuits relating just 1o this debt. Even as-
suming that the efforts of ACB to collect the debt
added 1o his disiress, he offered no competent testi-
mony iinking his distress to those parts of ACB's
efforts whicl: he challenged as unlawful, as com-
pared fo, for example, his admitled upset that the
case had been referred {o a collection agency at all
despite his ongoing conversations with Amex. Mr.
Lewis could not remember either at deposition or
trial, any delails of any correspondence he received
from ACB, yet his trial position was that the FD-
CPA violations were in the details. Mr. Lewis had
so little recollection of the July 8, 1994, telephone
call, which lasted less than a minute, that he had re-
membered it as coming from a woman at 800
am.  on a Sunday, whereas the proof showed that
it oceurred around 13:30 am on a Friday and the
caller was male. This is not an adequate factual
basis for an award of mental distress damages
Lewis, 911 F.Supp, at 295-96.

C. The district court's construction of prior decisions

[20] Additionally, Lewis claims that the district court
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erred in concluding that ACB “was not exposed to
treble aclual damages or 3200 in statutory damages,
pursuant to § 1345.09(B) of the OCSPA " Appel-
lant's Brief at 41, Again, we f{ind no merit in this ar-
gument

Ohio Rev.Code § 1345.09(B) provides for treble ac-
tual damages or $200 in statutory damages:
[Wihere the violation was an act or practice de-
clared to be deceptive or unconscionable by .. an
act or practice determined by a court of this state to
violate section 1345.02 or 1345.03 of the Revised
Code and committed afler the decision containing
the determination has been made available for pub-
lic inspection under division (A}3) of section
1345.05 of the Revised Code...
Under section. 1345.05(AX3) of the OCSPA, the
Chio Atiorney General is directed to make available
for public inspection all judgments and opinions by
courts of Ohio "determining that specific acts or prac-
tices violate section 134502 or ]1345.03 of the Re-
vised Code ™

Lewis relies on two opinions made available by the
Ohie Atlorney General pursuant to § 1345.05(A)(3)
to support his claim that he was entitled to treble
damages, Liggins 1. May Company. 53 Ohio Misc.
21373 NE.2d 404 (Ohio C.P. Cuyshoga County
1977), and Brown v. Lvons, 43 Ohio Misc. 14, 332
N.E,2d 380 (Ohio C.P. Hamilton County 19743 He
argues that Liggins supports his claim for treble dam-
ages because in Liggins *405 the court found that the
debt collector's “false statements of fact. false state-

menls or implications about what fwould] happen if

the consumer failled] to satisfy the ciaim, and mis-
representations about the law," violated the OCSPA,
Appellant's Brief at 43 (quoting Ligeins, 373 N.E.2d
al 405) {(emphasis in brief). He claims that this lan-
guage in Liggins put ACB on notice that its actions
relative {0 his account would violate the OCSPA

He also argues that Brown supports his claim for
treble damages because in that case, "the court found
that a supplier must comply with its legal obligations,
must not knowingly make a misleading statement,
and cannet centinually stall or evade its legal obliga-
tions." Appellant's Brief at 43, We disagree.

In Liggins. the court held that the collection agency
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committed deceptive and unconscionable acts and
practices in sending collection notices that were de-
sipned to simuiate official documents and misrepres-
ented the pendency or immanency of official or judi-
cial action.  The letters were also found lo contain
false statements or implicalions about what would
happen if the consumer f{ailed to satisfy the claim In
addition, the communications made misrepresenta-
tions about the law.  Thus, the actions in Liggins
were far more oulrageous than anything ACB al-
legedly did.

Lewis's reading of Brown is equally flawed. In
Brown, the court rendered a number of conclusions of
law at the behest of the Ohio Attorney General who
had brought the case. Contrary to Lewis's position,
there is nothing in this case similar to the facts in
Brown. ACB never attempted to avoid its legal ob-
ligation {o Lewis, never engaged in a patitern of inef-
ficiency, incompetency, stalling or evasion, and never
made any misleading statements of opinion.  See
Brown, 332 WE.2d at 383-84. To read Liggins and
Brown as broadly as Lewis suggests and without ref-
erence 10 the specific acts in those cases would allow
the recovery of treble damages or the $200 in stat-
ulory damages under the OCSPA whenever there is
any arguable misstatement of fact, a result the Qhio
courts and legislature surely did not intend.

v
We next tumn our attention to Lewis's claims of error
in the Cincinnati case. Lewis raises several issues on
this appeal as well.  He argues that the district court
erred in (1) dismissing his ECOA claim; (2) granting
Connors's motion for summary judgment based
solely on his affidavit; (3) finding that ACB did not
illegally interpose itself between Connors and
Amex; (4) finding that Amex is not a debt collector
for purposes of the FDCPA; (5) dismissing with pre-

judice Lewis's OCSPA claims; and (6) denying his

motion for reconsideration of Biis motion to move
venue back 1o Cincinnati  We address the issues in
the order presented.

Lewis argues first that the district court made two er-
rors when granting defendants' motien to dismiss his
ECOA ciaims: (1) liolding that the filing of the state
lawsuit by Amex was not discrimination under 13
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FLS.C 8 1691, and (2) holding that ACB and Con-
nors are not "creditors" under the ECOA . We find no
reversible error in these rulings

[2122H23]124][25][26] Initially we note that a dis-
missal of & complaint for failure to state & claim is
subject to de novo review and all factual allegations
are taken as true. Maver v. AMylod, 988 F.2d 635
637-38 (6th Cir. 1993} " '[A] complaint should not
be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless il ap-
pears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set
of facts in support of his ¢laim which would entitle
him to refiel’ The fundamental purpose of pleadings
under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is to give
adequate notice to the parties of each side's claims
and to allow cases to be decided on the merits afier
an adequate development of the [acts” [d._at 638
{citation omitted). Only well-pleaded facts,
however, must be taken as true.  The trial court need
nol accept as true legal conclusions or unwarranted
factual inferences  See Morgan v, Churel's Fried
Chivken, 829 .24 10, 12 {6th Cir.1987) Moreover,
*1lhe admonishment to liberally construe plaintiff's
claim when evaluating a Rule 12(b}¥(6) dismissal does
not relieve a plaintiff of his obligation to satisfy fed-
eral notice pleading requirements and allege more
than bare assertions of legal conclusions.” *406S0-
vevalor v. Penn Cent. Corp., 771 F.Supp. 890. 893
{8.D.0hio 1991). "[A] complaint ... must contain
either direct or inferential allegations respecting all
the material clements to sustain a recovery under
some viable legal theory " Ibid. (quoting Car Carri-
ers, Ine. v, Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101, 1106 (7th
Cir. 1984, cert denied, 470 1.8, 1054, 105 S.Ct
1758. 84 L.Ed.2d 821 (1983)).

A. Lewis's ECOA claim against Amex

Lewis argues that the district court erred in finding
that Amex had not discriminated against him when it
filed the state suit to recover on the debt, in violation
of I3 U.S.C. 8§ .1691{a}(3) He claims that ACB had
requested the file back from Amex for the "express
purpose of filing the state court action against Mr.
Lewis,” thereby discriminating against him.  Appel-
lant's Brief at 15, "In fact," he claims, "the lawsuit
against [him] was the first time Defendant ACB had
ever hired an attorney to file suil on bebalf of Amex
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in Ohio™ Id. at 16 We are unpersuaded by Lewis's
argument.

[27] The ECOA prohibits discrimination in the exten-
sion of credit: "It shall be unlawful for any creditor to
discriminate against any applicant, with respect to
any aspect of a credit transaction ... because the ap-
plicant has in good faith exercised any ripht under
this chaptler.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691{a}3) The legislat-
ive history of the Act indicates that § 1691(a)}(3) was
"intended to bar retaliatory credit denials or termina-
tions against applicants who exercise their rights un-
der any part of the Consumer Credit Protection Act ..
The 'good faith' qualification [also] recognizes|,
however,] that some applicants may engage in frivol-
ous or nuisance disputes which do reflect on their
willingness to honor their obligations *  Equal Credit
Opportunity Act Amendments of 1976, Pub.L. No,
94-230 1976 US.C.CAN. 403 407 The Act was
only intended to prolibit credit determinations based
on "characteristics unrelated lo creditworthiness " [t
was never intended to eliminate a "creditor's right to
make a rational decision about an applicant's credit
worthiness " Id at 404-05 Thus, an ECOA viola-
tion cannot be shown by simply alleging that the
creditor is attempting to collect on the debt  Rather,
“[iln determining the existence of discrimination ..
courts ... [should] look at the effects of a creditor's
practices as well as the creditor's motives or conduct
in individual transactions . . [and] judicial construc-
tions of anti-discrimination legislation in the employ-
ment field .. are intended to serve as puides in the
application of th{e] Act, especially with respect to the
allocations of burdens of proof " Id at 406

287[291 Because the history supgests reviewing
ECOA claims of discrimination using the same
framework and burden allocation system found in
Title VII cases, we adapt the burden allocation frame-
work used in retaliation-based employment claims to
Lewis's ECOA claim.  Thus, in order for Lewis to
make oul 2 prima [acie case of retaliation, he must al-
lege facts sufficient to show that (1) he engaged in a
statutorily protected activity; (2) suffered an adverse
credit action; and (3} a causal coaneclion exists
between the two. See Johnson v. United Srates Dep't
of Health and Human Servs., 30 F.3d 45, 47 (6th
Cir.1994)  Lewis is simply unable to make such a
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showing,

The ECOA defines "adverse action” as:
a denial or revocation of credit, a change in the
terms of an existing credit arrangement, or a refusal
to grant credit in substantially the amount or on
substantially the terms requested  Such term does
not include a refusal to extend additional credit un-
der an existing credit arangement where the ap-
plicant is delinquent or otherwise in defauli, or
where such additional credit would exceed a previ-
ously established credit limit.

153 10.8.C. 8. 16%00d¥8) It also does not include

"falny action or forbearance relating to an account

taken in connection with inactivity, defaulr, or delin-

quency as 1o that account " 12 C.F.R, § 202 2(cH2)(ii)

(emphasis added).

Although Lewis filed an FDCPA claim against ACB
in the Dayton case, he is unable 10 show that he
suffered an adverse aclion because the ECOA does
nol cover "any action ... relating to an account taken
in connection with ... defaultf ¥ or delinquency ™ 12
CER.E.202.20c)2YH) Lewis's complaint shows
nething more than a creditor taking a *407 necessary
action to recover thousands of dollars in undisputed
debt that the consumer refuses to honor.  Amex is
cerlainly entitled to sue Lewis under such a circum-
stance, and Lewis's altempt to argue otherwise
amounts to nothing more than bare legal conclusions
and unwarranted factual inferences. [EN13]

ENI3. Lewis's complaint provides in relev-
ant part:

17 On QOctober 14, 1994, Defendant Amex
purportedly filed in the Court of Common
Pleas, Franklin County, Ohio, case number
94 CVH 10-7274 against Mr. Lewis. The
state court case alleges that Mr, Lewis owes
a debt to Defendant Amex.

18. Defendant Amex did not directly file the
state court lawsuil, Rather, Defendant ACB
filed the siate court lawsuit on behalf of De-
fendant Amex. Defendant ACB filed the
state court lawsuit pursuant to an assignment
controlled by a collection agreement
between Pefendant ACB and Defendant
Amex
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19. Defendant Connors filed the state court
lawsuit purportedly as the altorney for De-
fendant Amex

20. Defendant Connors also was the atiorney
for Delendant ACB in the federal court law-
suit brought by Mr. Lewis.

24. Defendant ACB {iled the state court law-
suit in retaliation for Mr. Lewis having filed
this federal court lawsuit against Defendant
ACB, violating ECOA seclion. 1691(a)(3),
FDCPA section 1692e(5), and OCSPA sec-
tions 1345 02-1345 03

26 Defendant Amex knew that the state
court lawsuit against Mr. Lewis was made in
retaliation for Mr. Lewis' federal court law-
suit and thereby violated ECOA geclion
169163}

Lewis's complaint also fails to show a causal connec-
tion between the Daylon suit and Amex's suit against
him in state court. His altempts at showing a retali-
atory motive on the part of Amex once again amount
to nothing more than unwarranted factual inferences
and lepal conclusions that are insufficient to state a
claim of retaliation. To allow a claim to be stated
any time a consumer makes an unwaranted factoal
inference or bare legal conciusion of retaliation in re-
sponse {o a creditor's legal action seeking resolution
of an undisputed debt would be to create an incentive
on the part of consumer to file an ECOA claim
against creditors any time the debtor is unable or un-
willing to pay on the debt. The ECOA was certainly
never intended o act as a shield for consumers refus-
ing to pay their debis

B. The district court finding that ACE and Connors
are not "creditors

[30] Next Lewis argues that the district court erred by
finding that ACB and Connors are not "creditors"
within the meaning of the Acl. He claims that by
simply alleging that they are "creditors” he has met
his burden. Further, e claims that "ACB and Con-
ners are creditors because the debi aliegedly owed by
Mr. Lewis to Defendant Amex was ‘continued' by
[ACB and Connors}... Thus, Defendants ACB and

© 2006 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works,



135 F.3d 389
135 F 3d 389, 39 Fed R.Serv 3d 1376
(Cite as: 135 F.3d 389)

Connors are creditors in that they are (1) agents of

Defendant Ames who 'continued' the credit transac-

tion, or (2) assignees, transferees, or subrogees of

Amex' credit transaction with Mr. Lewis" Appel-

lant's Brief at 17-18. Further, he argues that a
[elreditor "also includes a person who, in the ordin-
ary course of business, regularly refers applicants
or prospective applicants lo creditors, or selects or
offers to select creditors to whom request for credit
may be made" The debt allegedly owed by Mr.
Lewis to Defendant Amex was referred by defend-
ants ACB and Connors to Delendant Amex for
consideration of further credit. In fact, Defendants
ACB and Connors solicited payment arrangements
with Mr. Lewis regarding the debt allegedly owed
by Mr. Lewis, which constitutes a credit lransac-
tion under the ECOA,

id at 18

Under the Act, the term "creditor” is defined as "any
person who regularly extends, renews, or continues
credil; any person who repularly arranges for the ex-
tension, renewal, or continuation of credit; or any as-
signee of an original creditor who participates in the
decision tfo extend, renew, or continue credit™ 15
U.S.C. § 1691ale). The term also includes "a credit-
or's assignee, transferee, or subrogee who participates
in the decision of whether or not to extend
credit" 12 CF.R. § 202.2(/) And for purposes of
§8 202 4 [FN14] *408 and 202.5(a) [ENIS] "the term
also includes a person who, in the ordinary course of
business, regularly refers applicants or prospective
applicants to creditors, or selects or offers to select
creditors ¢ whom requests for credit may be made "
Ibid

ENI4. That provision provides that "[a)
creditor shall not discriminate against an ap-
plicant on a prohibited basis regarding any
aspec! of a credit transaction.”

ENIS. That provision provides that “[a]
creditor shall not make any oral or written
stalement, in adverlising or otherwise, {0 ap-
plicants or prospective applicants that would
discourage on a prohibiled basis a reason-
able person from making or pursuing an ap-
plication”
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Connors clearly is nol a "creditor" within the mean-
ing of the Act. On its face, Lewis's complaint con-
tains nothing more than a bare legal conclusion in an
alternpt to show that Connors regularly extended, re-
newed, or conlinued credit or regularly arranged for
the extension, renewal, or continuation of credit.
ENI16] The complaint also does nol provide facts to
show how Connors is an assignee of Amex. At best,
Lewis appears to suggest that because Connors
offered to settle the case, he has in some sense exten-
ded an offer of credit to Lewis. [FN17} This is cer-
tainly not enough to make someone a creditor under
the act. Otherwise, an attorney would be a creditor
under the ECOA anytime the attomney offered to
settle a case,

EN16. Lewis's complaint simply provides
that "Defendant Connors is a 'debt collector’
as defined by FDCPA gection 1692a(6), a
'supplier' as defined by OCSPA section
1345.01{C), and a 'credilor' as defined by

ECOA section 1691afc) " Joint Appendix
at 19, 9 10.

EN17. Lewis claims that an exhibit 1o his
memorandum in opposition to defendants'
motion to dismiss his complaint shows that
defendants offered to give him "considera-
tion for a new credit card" The letter to
which Lewis appears to be referring is a let-
ter senl by his own attorney offering to settle
the case. One of the terms of the settlement
was for Amex to reconsider Lewis "as a card
holder immediately afier the $7,500 is paid.”
This settlement offer was never accepted by
defendants.

[31][32] ACB is alse not a "creditor" within the
meaning of the act. Again, Lewis has failed to
provide anything more than a bare legal conclusion to
show that ACB regularly extends, renews, or contin-
ues credit or that ACB participates in any way in the
decision to extend credit.  Rather, the record shows
that ACB was simply attempting to collect on a debt
thal resulted from Amex's decision to extend credit

Additionally, even were ACB a "creditor” under the
act, Lewis’s claim would fail  He has failed o state
any claim that ACB independently violated the
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ECOA and, as discussed above, Lewis has failed to
state an ECOA claim against Amex, so any ECOA
claim against ACB as a&n agent or "assignee, transfer-
ee, or subrogee” of Amex must also fail

Vi

Next, Lewis argues that the district court erred in dis-
missing his FDCPA claims against ACB, Amex, and
Connors. He argues that the district court, "{w]ithout
allowing any discovery o go forward, .. makes three
disjointed factual and Jegal findings concerning the
FDCPA: (1) defendant Connors is not a debt collect-
or, (2) Delendant ACB did net interpose itself
hetween defendants Connors and Amex, constituting
the unauthorized practice of law, and (3) Defendant
Amex is not g debt collector.™  Appellant's Brief at
19-20. Again, we find no reversible error.

A. Connors as a debt collector within the meaning of
the FDCPA

[33] First, Lewis argues that the district court erred in
granting Connors’s motion for summary judgment,
holding that Connors was not a debt collector.
Lewis argues that the district count simply relied on
Connors's affidavit and that he should have been al-
lowed 1o continue discovery pursuant lo his Rule
564f) motion because such discovery would have
shown that Connors is a debt collector as defined by
the FDCPA. [FN18] This argument is without merit.

EN18. A debl collector is defined as:

any persen who uses any instrumentality of
interstate conunerce or the mails in any
business the principal purpose of which is
the collection of any debts, or who regularly
collects or atlempts to collect, directly or in-
directly, debts owed or due or asserted to be
owed or due another. . .

15 US.C. ¢ 1692at6) The Supreme Court
has held that the FDCPA applies to lawyers
who "regulariy” try lo obtain payment of
consumer debts through legal
proceedings.  Heimz v, Jenkins, 514 1.5,
291, 296-98 115 S.Ct 1489, 1402 13}
L.Ed.2d 395 (1995)

*409 A motion for surmmary judgment is appropriate
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“if the pleadings, depositions, answers to inlerrogat-
ories, and admissions on file, together with the affi-
davits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and that the moving party is en-
titled to judgment as a maller of law" Enmmons v.
Mclaughling 874 F.2d 351, 333 (6th Cir,1989)
Once the movant has met his initial burden of demon-
strating the absence of a penuine issue of material
fact, the nonmoving party then “must set forth specif-
ic facls showing that there is a genuine issue for tri-
al" Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(e) If the nonmoving party is
unable 1o make such a showing, summary judgment
is appropriate. Emunons, 874 F.2d at 353

341[35][36] A party opposing a motion for summary
judgment may file a motion for additional time for

discovery under Rule 360f). That party, however, has
no absolute right {o additional time for discovery, and
this court reviews the denial of & rule 56(f) motion
for an abuse of discretion. /d at 356 Rule 36{[)
provides:
Should it appear from the affidavits of a party op-
posing the motion [for summary judgment] that the
party cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit
facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the
court may refuse the application for judgment or
may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be
oblained or depositions to be taken or discovery to
be had or may make such other order as is just,
Rule 56(0), however, "is not a shield that can be
raised to block a metion for summary judpment
without even the shightest showing by the opposing
party that his opposition is meritorious" The non-
moving party must show how postponement of a rul-
ing on the motion will enable him to rebut the motion
for summary judgment. Emmons, 874 ¥.24 at 356,

1.ewis's claims against Connors were that (1) he viol-
ated the FDCPA by filing the state case as Amex's at-
torney because he knew that the stale case was in re-
taliation for Lewis having filed the Dayton case and
{2} Connors violated the FDCPA by filing the state
action in the improper venue. See 153 U.8.C. § 1692}
{directing where a debt collector may bring an action
against a consumer),

[37} Connors's affidavit proves that, although he has
been involved in cases where money damages and al-
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leged debts are disputed, he has never brought any
action exclusively on behalf of a creditor client with
the purpose of collecting a consumer debt, that he has
never had a practice which consisted of debt collec-
tion on behalf of creditors, and that the overwhelming
portion of his practice has been as a defense attor-
ney  This affidavit, without evidence from Lewis
creating an issue ol material fact regarding Connors's
practice, establishes that he is not a "debt collector”
under the FDCPA because he is net a lawyer wheo
"regularly” tries to oblain payment of consumer debts
through iepgal proceedings. See Heiniz, 514 U.S. ot
291-94 1315 S.Ct. at 1489

We believe that the district court did not abuse its
discretion in refusing to give Lewis additiona} time
for discovery as to Connors's practice. Lewis had
ampie opportunity to conduct discovery in the
Payton case, including discovery afler Amex had
filed the state court action.  For example, he has

taken depositions of two different representatives of

ACB since the start of the slate court proceeding, and
in the Dayton case, he has cross-examined witnesses
reparding the debt collection activities of ACB, in-
cluding what happened after Mr. Lewis's account was
returned to it.  Further, the district couri provided
Lewis with an additional 10 days to respond 10 Con-
nors's motion for summary judgment. This gave
Lewis ample time to, &t a minimum, discover some
evidence regarding Connors's practice to support his
molion for additional time pursuant to Rule 36(0).

Additionally, while Lewis's motion for additional dis-
covery asseris that "[d]efendants and their witnesses
are in exclusive control” of the evidence, Lewis's
Rule 56{f) motion and supporting affidavit provide
nothing more thar bare allegations to support this
claim. See Emmons, 874 F 2d at 356 (the "district
court did not abuse its discretion in denying addition-
al discovery because the affidavit in suppori of 2 Rule
SO} motion asserted nothing more than bare allega-
tions").  *410 The attached affidavit simply states
that Connors "is a 'debt collector' as defined by FD-
CPA gection 1692a(6)." Such an allegation without a
shred of supporting proof is insufficient to support a
Rule 56({) motion, especially since a simple investig-
ation could have easily uncovered some evidence
conceming Connors's practice.  And, although Lewis

Page 22

claims that the lack of specificity is due to the fact
that the evidence is exclusively controiled by defend-
ants, Lewis could have oblained at least some inform-
ation regarding Connors's practice without relying on
defendants for that information.  See /bid  (Plaintiff's
allegations did not hinge on information under the
defendant's control).  As it is, the affidavit simply
does not provide the "slightest showing ... that his op-
position is meritorious.” Emmons, 874 F.2d a1 356,

And it certainly does not provide enough evidence
for this court to conclude that the district court ab-
used its discretion in denying his Rule 36(1) motion.

B. ACB's actions as wnauthorized practice of law
P

(38} Next, Lewis argues thal the district court erred
when it found that ACB's actions did not constitute
the unauthorized practice of law.  He claims that
ACB engaged in the unnuthorized practice of law
when it hired Mt Conners on behalf of Amex, thus
interposing itself between Amex and Connors:
The {Magistrate Judge's] Substituted Reporl {and
Recommendations] finds that Defendant Connors
is not alleged to be an employee of Delendants
ACB or Amex. Yet the Substituted Report does not
divulge the lepal significance of this finding.
When an agent is acting pursuant to authority, a
principal is responsible for the actions of the agent
whether the agent is an employee or a contractor.
Likewise, the agent is directly liable for its actions
pursued on behalf of the principal  Defendant
Connors is the agent of Defendant Amex and De-
fendant ACB in regard o the state court lawsuit
against Mr. Lewis. Since Defendant ACB hired
Defendant Connors for Defendant Amex, Defend-
ant ACB is the agent of Defendant Amex. The ac-
tions of Defendant Connors can be atiributed to
Defendants ACB and Amex, and the actions of De-
fendant ACB can be attributed 1o defendant Amex
Appellant's Brief at 26 (citation omitted). Lewis
then proceeds to cite several Ohio court cases which
he claims support his claim that ACB engaged in the
unauthorized practice of law.  See Med Conirols
Inc. v, fopkins. 6l Ohio App.3d 497, 373 N.E.2d
134 (1989 {collection agency found to have commit-
ted the unauthorized practice of law where it had dis-
cretion to institute legal action on its own initiative
and had the sole authority to "employ counsel of [its]
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own and separate choosing" and was "responsible for
the payment of any and all legal fecs incident to said
retention"); United Radio_ Ine. v, Conton. 61 Ohio
App. 247, 22 N.E.2d 532 {1938) {where a collection
agency agreed to handle the collection of accounts on
a contingent fee basis, action of agency in furnishing
an attorney, at its own expense, and filing lawsuits in
hope of reimbursement through & larger commission
in event of collection constituted the unfawful prac-
tice of law); /n_re Incorporated Consultanty, 6 OQhio
Mise. 143, 216 N.E2d 912 {Ohio C.P. Cuyshogn
Countv_[965) (an agreement between respondents
and owners of promissory notes and accounts receiv-
able which provided that the respondents employed,
furnished, and recommended attorneys at law lo

render lepal services was an unauthorized practice of

law). Although we have some difficulty following
Lewis's conveluted argument, we are convinced that
it has no merit,

Although these cases, under different {actual circum-
stances, could support a legal claim that a debt col-
lector has been involved in the unauthorized practice
of law by interposing itself between the creditor and
the attorney, Lewis has failed to allege any factual
basis for such a claim. Thus, this court need not ac-
cept this allegation as true  See Church's Fried
Chicken. 829 F.2d at 12 There is simply no factual
basis to support his assertion that ACB, and not
Amex, was the party to hire Connors  In fact, the re-
cord shows the opposite: Connors signed on behalf
of Amex as its allorney in pleadings to the court

Furthermore, Lewis's complaint in no way alleges
that ACB, and nol Amex, is responsible for paying
Connors's fees. The *411 cases cited by Lewis in
support of his claim of unauthorized practice of law
by ACB require at a minimum that the firm be re-
sponsitde for payment of the atlorney's fees. [EN19]

FN19. Because this case was dismissed for
failure to state a claim, we do not address
the affidavits of either Connors or Kane, an
Amex employee. These affidavits,
however, make clear that Amex and not
ACB was responsible for and authorized the
filing of the state court suit. Furthermore,
they indicate that Connors is in no way asso-
cisted with ACB outside of this case

Papge 23

C. Amex as a debt collector within the meaning of the
FDCPA

[39] Lewis also argues that the district court "without

reasoning” found that Amex could not be 2 debt col-

lector. He argues that Amex is liable under the FD-

CPA "for the collection actions of its agents of which

it is aware and approves":
There is no dispute that Defendant ACB requested
Mr. Lewis' account back from Defendant Amex for
the express purpose of filing the state court lawsuit
on behall of Defendant Amex. A fair inference
must be made that, when Delendant ACB commu-
nicated with Defendant Amex, Defendant ACB
stated the reason for the request, placing Defendant
Amex on notice of Defendant ACB's intended ac-
tions. Since Delendant Amex returmed the account
to Defendant ACRB, the rcasonable inference niust
be made that Defendant Amex approved of De-
fendant ACB's retaliatory lawsuit.

Appellant's Brief at 27-28 (citations omitted).

Contrary lo Lewis's assertion, Amex is not a debt col-
lector for purposes of the FDCPA.  Although it uses
interstate commerce and the mails 1o collect debts, its
"mrincipal purpose” is not "the collection of
debts.” 13 11.8.C. 8 1692a(6).  Rather, Amex is
primarily in the business of extending credit, which is
not enough o turn an entity into a debt colieclor un-
der the Act. See Meads v. Citicorp Credit Servs., Inc.,
686 F.Supp. 330. 333 (S.D.Ga. 1988} ("actual credit-
ors--the extenders of credil or bona fide assignees-
-generally are not subject to the Act . [unless] the
creditor attempts to collect the debt under an assumed
name, or if the creditor was assigned the debt afier
default for the specific purpose of collection"); and
Kempt v, Famons Barr Co. 676 F.Supp. 937, 938
(E.D.Mo.1988) ("The definition of 'debt collector’
does not include a creditor collecting his own debts
50 long as the employee acting on behal{ of the cred-
itor does not indicate that the employee works for a
third persen. The creditor will not be deemed a 'debt
collector’ so long as the employee acts 'In the name of
the creditor’ by informing the debtor that she is col-
lecting the debt as an employee of the creditor.”)

Because Amex never attempted to collect the debt
under an assumed name in order to collect the debt, it
does not fall within the definition of a “debt coliect-
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or'" under the Act.

{A0] Moreover, even were Amex a debt colleclor, ils
actions did no! violate the FDCPA. Lewis's com-
plaint does nothing more than assert bare legal con-
clusions and unsupported factual inferences to show
that Amex's aclions were done in retaliation for
Lewis having filed the Dayton case. And he has al-
leged nothing that would show that Amex's actions
were somehow "false, deceplive, or misleading” as
required by the FDCPA  All Amex has done is
either (1) sue Lewis to collect on a legitimate debt or
{2) hire ACB to collect on a legitimate debt  Con-
gress has outlawed neither,

VIl
[41] Next, Lewis argues that the distriet court erred in
summarily dismissing his OCSPA claims. He argues
that he had no opportunity to address the substance of
his OCSPA claims and was not required to do so un-
der the pleading requirenents of the federal rules and
that any violalion of the FDCPA is a violation of the
OCSPA. Moreover, he claims error because the OC-
SPA has "its own independent reach™
In this case, Defendants’ retaliatory lawsuit could
be found to be an unfair or unconscionable act or
practice under state law.  Indeed, the practice of
fiting of lawsuits in a county other than a con-
sumer's already has been found to violate OC-
SPA. Since Defendant Connors is a supplies-
-even if he is not {a] debt colleclor pursuant to the
FDCPA--and since Defendants *412 Amex and
ACB are suppliers and vicariously liable for the ac-
tions of their agents, the QCSPA applies to De-
{endants’ unfair, deceptive, and unconscionable
collection activities.

Appellant's Brief ot 30 (citations omitted). We find
no merit in this claim of error either.  Because this
claim rests on Amex's having filed suit in state court
in Columbus, the key to finding liability under QC-
SPA is whether Amex is a “supplier” within the
meaning of the OCSPA, and Amex is simply not a
supplier within the meaning of the Act. While the
term "supplier" {FIN20] in the OCSPA is broader than
the term “debt collector” in the FDCPA, the OCSPA
specifically excludes "financial institutions" and "deal-
ers in intangibles.” Qhio Rev.Code § 1345.01(A}.
Al a minimum, Amex fits within the definition of a
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"financial institution" as # lends money when it ex-
tends credit.  See Qhio Rev.Code § 5725.01(A).

EN20. A supplier is defined as “a seller,
lessor, assignor, fTanchiser, or other person
engaged in the business of effecting or soli-
citing consumer transactions, whether or not
he desls directly with the consumer.” Qhio
Rev.Code § 1345.01(C).

{42] The dismissal of OCSPA claims against ACB
and Connors were proper as well.  Lewis has failed
to stale a claim with sufficient specificity to show
ACB's independent involvement in the filing of the
state court lawsuit or the agency relationship between
ACB and Connors with respect to that suit.  As pre-
viously stated, the {rial court need not accept as true
unwarranted factual inferences.  And while Connors
filed the lawsuit as Amex's atlorney, nothing alleged
supgests that Connors regularly files collection suits
as a matter of choice in a jurisdiction other than
where the consumer resides or signed the contract in
question.  See Celebrezce v, United Research, e,
19 Ohio App.3d 49, 482 N.E 2d 1260 (1984} (it was
unfair or deceptive consumer sales practice in viola-
tion of state law for a "supplier" to regularly file col-
lection suits as a matter of choice in a jurisdiction
other than where consumer resided or sighed the con-
tract in question). Key 10 a finding of QCSPA liabil-
ity in Celebrezze was the fact that the "suppliers” in
that case regularly sued consumers in a distant forum
in order lo take advantage of their consumers.

VI

[431 Finally, Lewis argues that the district court erred
when it denied his motion to reconsider the court's
previous order rejecting a change of venue. He argues
that by trying the Dayton case separately, consolida-
tion of the cases became one of name only and "nuili-
fied any considerfation] of the common issues of law
and fact " He argues that his choice of forum should
have been given great weight, and thus, he should
have been allowed to change the venue back to Cin-
cinnati.  Lewis's argument is again without merit.

[44] A district court's denial of change of venue is re-
viewed for sbuse of discretion. See Philip Carey
Mfe. v. Tavior, 286 F.2d 182, 784 (6th Civ), cert
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denied, 366 11.5. 948, 81 S.C1. 1903, 6 L.Ed.2d 1242
(1961).

28 U.S.C. § 1404(a) provides that "[flor the conveni-
ence of the parties and witnesses, in the inferest of
justice, a district court may transfer any civil action
to any other district or division where it might have
been brought” And a case may be consolidated
"[wihen actions involving a common question of law
or fact are pending before the court.” Fed.R.Civ.P.
42{s}. When consolidating a case, a districl court
"may order a joint hearing or trial of any or all the
matters in issue in the actions; it may order all the
actions consolidated; and it may make such orders
concerning proceedings therein as may tend to avoid
unnecessary costs or delay " fbid

[431461[47] Cases consolidsted under Rule 42(a),
however, retain their separate identity Pation v. Ader-
gjet. Ordnance Co., 765 F.2d 604, 606 {61k
Cir.1983).  And although "consolidation is permitted
as a matter of convenience and economy in adminis-
tration, [it] does nol merge the suits into a single
cause, or change the rights of the parties, or make
those who are parties in one suit parties in
another." Johuson v, Manhattan Ry, Co., 289 1.8
479. 33 8.CL 121, 77 L.Ed. 1331 (1933). Therefore,
it is the district court's *413 responsibility to ensure
that parties are not prejudiced by consolidation.  See
8 Charles A, Wright and Arthur R, Miller, Federal
Practice and Procedure § 2385 (2d ed. 1994)

{48] While Lewis correctly points out that a plaintif{f's
choice of forum should be given weight when decid-
ing whether {o grani a motion to change venue, this
factor is not dispositive.  See DeMoss v, First Artisis
Production Ce., 571 F.Supp. 409, 413 (N.D.Chio
JOE3).  And it is of no import that the cases were
trealed as consolidated for docketing purposes only
The two cases had to be deall with separately because
Lewis declined plenary magistrate judpe jurisdiction
in the Cincinnati case. To have allowed any greater
consolidation would have prejudiced the parties,
since in the later case both parties had not consented
to plenary magistrate judge jurisdiction

The record, moreover, supports the court's finding

that Lewis's consolidation and motion for transfer of
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venue was an attempt 1o avoid having the cases de-
cided by Magistrate Judge Merz, who Lewis per-
ceived to be unteceptive to his claims

IX
For the foregoing reasons, the district court’s orders
dismissing Lewis's claims against defendanis in both

the Dayton case and Cincinnati  case are
AFFIRMED.

RYAN, Circuit Judge, dissenting.

I believe the plain language of the Fair Debt Collec-
tion Practices Act (FDCPA), 1511.S.C. § 1692 -1692,
requires us 1o reverse the judgment of the district
court. 1 also think the district court misapplied the
standards for deciding motions under Fed.R.Civ.P.
F2(b)(6} and 36 Therefore, | must respectfuily dis-
sent.

I.
The Dayton Case

In finding no violation of the FDCPA, the majority
opinion relies heavily on legislative history and other
decisional devices that are properly employed when a
legislative enactment is vague, obscure, ambiguous,
or inherently confradiclory. If I thought for a mo-
ment that we were free {o decide this case on the
basis of "legislative history," "Senate Reports,”" "the
purpose behind the [FDCPA]L" what "Congress ap-
pears o have intended,” "Federal Trade Commission
advisery opinions,” "the policy of the legislation as a
whole," and whether ACB's collection practices are
"less coercive” than litigation, as the majority appar-
ently does, I might be tempted 1o sign on to the ma-
jority opinion.  But 1 do not, and, therefore, I cannot.

There are very few propositions defining the proper
scope of judicial review that are more firmly seitled
than the rule that when the language of a congres-
sional enactment is clear and unambiguous, courts
may nol "interpret” or "construe" the meaning of the
language of the law by resort to "legislative history,”
apparent "legislative policy," or "legislative intent,"
but must simply apply what Congress has said, as-
signing to the words used in the statute their primary
and generally accepted meaning.  The FDCPA is
such a statute.  There is nothing ambiguous, unclear,
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vague, or inherently contradictory aboul any of the
language of the FDCPA.  As a matter of fact, the
provisions of the statute are so painfully, some might
think annoyingly, even nitpickingly, clear, and im-
pose such unambiguous burdens upon even ethical
debt collectors, that it is somewhat understandable
that the majority opinion would resort to interpreta-
tion and construction to sofien some of the harsh el
fects of the statute

This case chronicles seemingly benipn and ethical
collection efforts by an apparently reputable com-
pany directed al an unappealing and even infuriating
deadbeat debtor. Certainly, Congress did not intend
to proscribe the legitimate collection of an undisputed
debt, but it is our business to determine what Con-
gress said, not what it probably inlended  If this stat-
ute is harsh, inflexible, hypertechnical, unforgiving,
and unfairly burdensome to debt collectors, and if it
sweeps into the ambit of its prohibited practices the
acts of the virtuous and the vicious alike, the problem
is one for legislative correction, not judicial "interpret-
ation "

*414 The majorily opinion acknowledges that the
broad and sweeping language of the FDCPA effect-
ively forbids any communications by a collector to a
debtor in the aftermath of the debtor's cease and de-
sist letter, subject to three narrow exceptions. The
three exceptions are that the debt colleclor may:
(1} ... advise the consumer that the debt collector's
further efforts are being terminated;
(2} .. notify the consumer that the deit collector or
credilor may invoke specified remedies which are
ordinarily invoked by such debt collector or credit-
or; or
(3) where applicable, .. notify the consumer that
the debt collector or creditor intends to invoke a
specified remedy
1511.8.C. § 1692¢{cH1)1-(3)

The majority opinion acknowledges that the June 3
collection letter ACB sent to Lewis does not literally
fall within any one of the three exceptions and, as a
matter of fact, explicitly states "THIS IS AN AT-
TEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT." But, according to
the majority opinion, this plain and unambiguous lan-
guage “can not be interpreted as a demand for pay-
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ment" because the stalement in the letter that "THIS
IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT" was in-
ciuded in the letter merely 1o comply with }3.1).8.C.
§ 1692e(11), which has since been amended, and
which read in relevant part that "the [ailure to dis-
close clearly in all communications .. that the debt
collector is attemplting to collect a debt and that any
information obtained will be used for that purpose"” is
a violation of the FDCPA. But subsection 11 reads:
Except as otherwise provided for communications
te acquire location information under section
1692b of this title, the failure to disclose clearly in
all communications made to collect a debi or to ob-
tain information about a consumer, that the debt
collector is attempling to collect a debt and that any
information obtained will be used for that purpose.
15 U.8.C. 8. 1692e( 1) (emphasis added) Therefore,
there was no need for ACB to comply with section 11
by declaring that #s lefter "is an attempt to collect a
debt," unless the letter was indeed another "commu-
nication| ] made to collect a debt,” rather than one of
the three types of notifications excepted from the bar
of the statute in section 1692c(e}(1)-(3)

In addition to its puzzling explanation on that point,
the majority opinion also mistakenly concludes that
ACB's letter "can be construed as a type of settlement
offer" and can be read as a notification o "the con-
sumer], under section 1692¢{c)2),] that the debt col-
lector or creditor may invoke specified remedies
which are ordinarily invoked by such debt collector
or creditor.”  That "construction is warranted,” the
majority opinion concludes, despite that the text of
the letler never uses the term "remedy," explicitly de-
clares that the letter IS AN ATTEMPT TO COL-
LECT A DEBT." and offers "AN OPPORTUNITY
TO PAY THIS DEBT" through "ONE OF THE FOL-
LOWING PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS "

The plain language of section 1692¢(c)2) permits a

debt coilector to notify a consumer of unilatera} ac-
tion the debt collector may take against the consumer,
such as filing suit, issuing a prejudgment garnish-
nient, or invoking such other "remedies” as are "ordin-
arily invoked " IS5 U.S.C. § 1692¢(ci(2). A letter de-
claring that "THIS IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT
A DEBT" and offering paymenl plans for doing so, is
plainly and obviously not a letter notifying the debtor
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that the "creditor may fnvoke specified remedies.” Id
(emphasis added). If it were, then a debt collector,
despile receiving a cease and desist notice from the
debtor, would never be barred from contacting a con-
sumer to notify him or her that payment of the debt
would "remedy"” the problem.  Witness Mark Nakon
testiffed that the letter to Lewis is similar to letters
used by ACB in situations where notice to cease fur-
ther communications has not been received. Indeed
the letter is nothing more than an attempt to bargain
with Lewis regarding his debt, and is exactly what it
says it is: " ... an attempt to collect a debt "  The ob-
servations in the majority opinion that "the letter can
be construed as a type of settlement offer” and should
nol be "construed as an abusive collection prac-
tice”; that it "may result in resolution *415 of the
debt without resorting to litigation"; and "is certainly
less coercive and more protective of the interests of
the debtor" than costly and time-consuming litipa-
tion, are of course entirely beside the point. The let-
ter is nol a mere notification of the invoeation of rem-
edies ordinasily invoked; it is a debt collection letter,

just as it says it is, and its issuance was a violation of

the plain language of section 1692

Likewise, I must dissent from the majority's refusal to
recognize a violation of section 1692¢ in ACB's use
of the alias "M. Hall" in the June 3 letter. Although
the use of the alias seems harmless, the plain lan-
guage of the FDCPA prohibits "[1]he use of any false
representation or deceptive means lo colleet or at-
tempt o collect any debt or to obtain information
concerning a consumer.” 13 U.SC. § 1692«(1().
The defendants have admitied that there is no such
person as "M, Hall " Thus, the letter, which purports
to have been sent by a person named "M. Hall" and
which utilizes the pronouns "L" "me,* and "my" a
total of eight times, is a "false and deceptive repres-
enlation" that it was sent by a person named "M.
Hall " The language of the letter and the use of the
name "M. Hall" were designed to induce the deblor to
believe that a specific individual named "M, Hali"
was handling the debtor's case, and would assist him
in making arrangements for payment of the debt,
when ACB knew, that was not true.

Concededly it is difficult to see the harm caused by
this particular deception, but the FDCPA unambigu-
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ously proscribes deception in any form, not enly in
circumstances in which a debt collector or this court
might think that the end justifies the means.  In all
events, lo suggest, as ACB does, that using a "desk
name" is proper because it has always been done that
way, or that ne harm has shown to have resuited in
this instance, does nol excuse compliance with the
plain language of the statute; nor does it justify this
court in applying basketball's "equitable” maxim of
"no harm no foul ”

Ii.
The Cincinnati Case

The district court held that Lewis's allegation in the
Cincinnati suit, that in filing the state-court coliection
case in Columbus, Amex violated Lewis's rights un-
der the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), 15
US.C § 1691-1691f, does not state an actionable
claim under Fed R.Civ.P. 12(b}(6} Lewis alleged that
the collection suit was filed in retaliation Tor his ex-
ercising his rights under the FDCPA.  The majority
opinion holds that the district courl correctly dis-
missed Lewis's ECOA claim because "he is unable to
show that he suffered an adverse action because the
ECOA does not cover [alny action .. relating 1o an
account taken in connection with .. default { ] or de-
linquency’ " (Citing 12 C.F.R. § 202 2(e)(2)iiy) |
disapree.

It is unnecessary to review here the well-settled juris-
prudence of this circuit describing the heavy burden
cast upon a party who seeks dismissal of a claimant's
lawsuit on the basis of Rule 12(b)Y6). I suffices to
say that ACB's obligation here was to show that
Lewis could prove no set of facts in support of his re-
taliation claims. Sgglioceolo v. Eqple Ins. Co. 112
E.3d 226, 228 (6th Cir.1997) (quoting Conlev v, Gib-
son, 355 US. 4], 4546, 78 SCt 99 101-02, 2
L.Ed.2d 80 {1957%). The burden is onerous, and in
my judgment ACB has not carried it

The ECOA makes it unlawful for any creditor to dis-
criminate against a debtor who has exercised any
right under the Consumer Credit Protection Acl. See
15 US.C. § 1691-1691f; 12 CFR. Pt 202 The
mzjority opinion correctly observes that a claim of
this sort is analyzed under the burden allocation
framework established for Title VII retaliation in em-
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ployment claims Consequently, o survive a
12(b}(6) dismissal motion Lewis was required to
plead that he (1) engaged in a statutorily protected
activity; (2} suffered an adverse credit action; and
{hat (3) there is & causal connection between 1 and 2
See Johnson v. United States Dep't of Health and Hi-
men Servy, 30 F.3d 45, 47 (6uh Cir, 1994} My col-
leagues think Lewis is "unable to make such a show-
ing" primarily because they think he will be unable to
prove that he suffered an adverse action since “the
ECOA does not cover [alny action .. relating to an
*416 account taken in connection with .. . default | ]
or delinquency.’ " My brothers believe that Lewis
has pleaded nothing more than a creditor taking a
lawful "action to recover thousands of dollars in un-
disputed debt that the consumer refuses 16 honor

I respectfully disagree that the ECOA does not pro-
scribe collection suits against defaulting debtors if
such suits are filed for retaliatory purposes.

In the first place, it is clear that the ECOA's definition
of an "adverse action” does not determine what con-
stitutes  discrimination for purposes of section
1691(a), but rather determines what actions require
notice compliance under section 1691(d) Seciion
1691(a)(3) plainly makes unlawful a collection suit
filed in retaliation for an FDCPA enforcement ac-
tion. Whether Lewis could succeed in persuading a
fact finder that the Columbus suit was filed for retali-
atery purposes is another matter. 1t is possible, for
example, that Lewis could prove that Amex is usually
more patient with deblors and that Lewis was only
subjected to the Columbus collection suit because he
filed the Dayton suit. Lewis's claim would be very
similar, for example, to an employment discrimina-
tion suit alleging retaliation for the filing of an EEOC
charge where the complaining employee has a poor
work history

The district court reasored that Lewis had nor
pleaded the existence of similarly situated debtors
who had not been sued by Amex. But it is not neces-
sary in order o plead a retaliation claim that Lewis
plead even more facts than are necessary to establish
a primu facie case of uniawful retaliation

The question is not, as the majority apparently thinks
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it is, whether ACB has the right to sue to collect on a
debt; clearly it has  The question is whether Lewis
can prove that the suit 1o collect on the debt was filed
in retaliation for exercising his protected right. It
may well be that Lewis could not prove the causal
connection necessary to prevail om a retaliation
charge, yet under Rule 12(b)(6), the inquiry concerns
whether Lewis could establish his case under any set
of facts.  To me, it is clear that it is pessible that he
could do so.

There are other conclusions in the majority opinion
with which I disagree, but those I have discussed ars
the most serious, and no useful purpose will be
served by elucidating the rest.

I would reverse the judgment of the district court and
allow the case to be decided by the trier of fact on the
evidence.
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